

Title	Quark-Hadron matter in two color Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model
Author(s)	Imai, Shotaro
Citation	
Issue Date	
Text Version	ETD
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/11094/48816
DOI	
Rights	NOTICE: this is the author 's version of a work that was accepted for publication in Nuclear Physics A. Changes resulting from the publishing process, such as peer review, editing, corrections, structural formatting, and other quality control mechanisms may not be reflected in this document. Changes may have been made to this work since it was submitted for publication. A definitive version was subsequently published in PUBLICATION, [VOL913,(2 September 2013)] DOI:10.1016/i.nuclphysa.2013.06.001

Osaka University Knowledge Archive : OUKA

http://ir.library.osaka-u.ac.jp/dspace/

Quark-Hadron matter in two color Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model

Shotaro Imai

Research Center for Nuclear Physics (RCNP), Osaka University

February, 2013

Abstract

Quark-hadron matter at finite temperature and density is studied using a two color and two flavor (Polyakov loop extended) Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model with scalar diquark channel. A hadronic effective Lagrangian is derived by bosonization of the quark fields and renormalized using the Eguchi method. Although the bosonization technique has been used only for mesons, we can apply the technique not only for mesons (quark-antiquark) but also baryons (diquark) in two color scheme. Since baryons construct a matter, the bosonization of diquark-baryons is important to understand the behavior of the chiral symmetry in medium. We find the derived Lagrangian can be identified as an extended linear sigma model with meson and diquark-baryon fields. Hence our Lagrangian can describe both the quark and hadron dynamics.

The derived hadron effective Lagrangian is applied to thermodynamics by dropping the interaction terms (Gaussian approximation). We introduce the Polyakov loop and its effective potential to investigate the quark confinement kinematics in finite temperature. Since the diquark-baryons are bosons in two color scheme, Bose-Einstein condensation arises at finite density at a certain chemical potential. The order parameters which are the chiral condensate, the diquark condensate and the expectation value of the Polyakov loop are studied as functions of temperature and density in the mean field approximation. Masses of mesons and diquark-baryons are investigated at finite temperature and density. At finite temperature, the behaviors of the masses are discussed with and without the Polyakov loop effect. For a finite density system, the diquark mass goes to zero and becomes the Nambu-Goldstone boson which comes from the baryon number symmetry breaking. We investigate the equation of state of quark-hadron matter by taking into account the contributions of mesons and diquark-baryons in addition to the quark quasiparticles. We describe the baryon number density and compare our results with lattice QCD simulations. We find the Gaussian approximation for the hadron Lagrangian is not enough to reproduce the lattice results and the hadron Lagrangian should be treated fully by including the interaction terms using a non-perturbative method.

Finally, we review the Gaussian functional method as a non-perturbative treatment. We have not applied this method to our extended linear sigma model yet, but we report the features of the Gaussian function approach.

Acknowledgment

First of all, it is my great pleasure to express my sincere gratitude to Professor Hiroshi Toki for providing me with this interesting subject for my thesis work and for valuable discussions and continuous encouragements. I am indebted to Professor Atsushi Hosaka for his generous support and for many discussions on the field theory and chiral symmetry. I would like to thank Professor Wolfram Weise (ECT*) for collaboration and generous support during my stay in Munich.

I appreciate Profess-er Kazuyuki Ogata and Doctor Hiroyuki Kamano for their help. I acknowledge friendly discussions with many colleagues in RCNP, especially Doctor Yoko Ogawa, Doctor Kazuhito Mizuyama, Doctor Takuma Horaguchi, Doctor Nodoka Yamanaka, Yasuhiro Yamaguchi, Takuya Shibata, Doctor Kanabu Nawa (RIKEN) and Doctor Sho Ozaki (Yonsei University). I would also like to express my thanks to the secretaries and all the members in RCNP for their helps. I also thank the colleagues in Technische Universität München, especially Doctor Nino Bratovic, Doctor Thomas Hell and Alexander Laschka for help of stay in Munich.

I acknowledge the financial support of Osaka University under the JSPS International Training Program (ITP) for staying Munich three months. I thank the Graduate school of Osaka university and RCNP for financial support. I also thank ECT* for accommodation and the organizers for many discussions and for many joint dinners during the workshop "Chiral Symmetry and Confinement in Cold, Dense Quark Matter" at ECT* in 2010. Furthermore, I thank the Ettore Majorana Foundation and Centre for Scientific Culture for hosting me during international school of nuclear physics 33rd course "From Quarks and Gluons to Hadrons and Nuclei" at Erice in 2011.

Finally, I wish to thank my family for their understanding of my study and visible and invisible support extended to me throughout my graduate course study.

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1
2	Two	Color Quark Model	5
	2.1	Symmetries in two color QCD	5
	2.2	Two Color NJL model	7
	2.3	Auxiliary Fields	9
	2.4	The Mean Field Approximation	12
3	Had	ron Lagrangian from the Bosonization	14
	3.1	Hadron Sector of the Lagrangian	14
	3.2	The Gap Equations (k=1)	15
	3.3	Mass and Kinetic Energy Terms (k=2)	18
		3.3.1 Pion	19
		3.3.2 Sigma Meson	23
		3.3.3 Diquark-Baryon	26
		3.3.4 Mixing Terms	31
	3.4	The Coupling Terms (k=3)	33
	3.5	The Interaction Terms (k=4)	34
	3.6	Identification with a Generalized Linear Sigma Model	36
	3.7	Renormalization	37
4	Ther	rmodynamics of Quark-Hadron Matter	39
	4.1	Thermodynamics of Mesons and Diquark-Baryons in the Gaussian Approxima-	
		tion	39
	4.2	Parameters	41
	4.3	Polyakov Loop and Its Effective Poitential	42
	4.4	Phase Diagram and Order Parameters	43
	4.5	BEC-BCS Crossover	46
	4.6	The Behavior of Hadron Masses at Finite Temperature	48
	4.7	The Behavior of Hadron Masses at Finite Chemical Potential	49
		4.7.1 Pion	49
		4.7.2 Diagonalization of Sigma and Diquark-Baryon Mass Matrix	50
		4.7.3 Numerical Plot	52
	4.8	Equation of State of Quark-Hadron Matter	53
	4.9	The Bogoliubov Excitation	56
	4.10	Baryon Density	58

5	Non	-perturbative Treatment of Hadron Interaction	60
	5.1	Introduction to a Non-perturbative Method	60
	5.2	Functional Formulation in the Canonical Quantization	61
	5.3	Gaussian Trial Wave Function in Quantum Mechanics	62
	5.4	The Gaussian Functional Method for the $O(4)$ Symmetric Linear Sigma Model	64
		5.4.1 The Gaussian Functional	64
		5.4.2 The Gap Equations	68
		5.4.3 The Bethe-Salpeter Equation	70
	5.5	The Gaussian Effective Action with the Optimized Expansion	75
		5.5.1 The Optimized Expansion	75
		5.5.2 Nambu-Goldstone Boson	78
	5.6	Discussions	81
6	Sum	mary	82
	6.1	Summary	82
	6.2	Outlook	83
		6.2.1 Non-perturbative Treatment in Hadron Lagrangian	83
		6.2.2 Confinement Effect from the QCD Lagrangian	84
		6.2.3 Construction of Real Baryons	84
A	Nota	ntions and Conventions	85
	A.1	System of Measurement	85
	A.2	Relativistic Notation	85
	A.3	The Pauli matrix	86
B	Dira	c Algebra	87
	B .1	The Gamma Matrix	87
	B.2	Dirac Bilinear Form	88
	B.3	Charge Conjugation	88
	B.4	Euclidean Dirac Matrices	88
	B.5	The Scalar Diquark	89
С	Fier	z Transformations	91
	C.1	Dirac Algebra	91
		C.1.1 Fierz Identity	91
	~ ~	C.1.2 Diquark Channel	92
	C.2	SU(N) Algebra	93
		C.2.1 Fierz Identity	93
		C.2.2 Diquark Channel	94 97
	C.3	NJL model interaction	95
D	The	rmal Field Theory	98
	D.1	The Partition Function	98
	D.2	The Matsubara Propagator	99
	D.3	The Complex Scalar Field	03
	D.4	The Dirac Field	04
	D.5	Frequency Sum	06

E	The Gaussian Integral	111
F	Mott Transition	114
G	The Loop Expansion of the Effective Action and the Effective Potential	115

Chapter 1

Introduction

Nucleus is one of most important ingredients in our universe. A collection of nucleons form a many body system (nucleus or nuclear matter) by strong nuclear interaction and realize various non-trivial physical phenomena. Nucleon is known as one of strongly interacting particles called hadrons. Hadrons such as nucleons are classified into baryons which construct matter and mesons such as pions which intermediate interaction among nucleons. The hadron interaction is about 100 times stronger than the electromagnetic interaction and has to be treated nonperturbatively.

It is considered that the origin of long range attractive nuclear force comes from pion exchange between nucleons. The middle range attractive force also can be described with light mesons. The light mass mesons such as pions are considered as generated from spontaneously breaking of chiral symmetry as Nambu-Goldstone (NG) particle. The concept of spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking (SCSB) is introduced by Y. Nambu and G. Jona-Lasinio [1,2]. When we consider massless particles (nucleons) in a chiral invariant model, their masses are generated by the SCSB and the massless particles appear as a bound state of nucleaons. Since the real pion has a small mass, it is considered the fundamental particles have a small mass (current mass). The SCSB realizes the light mass pions which intermediate the interaction between nucleaons, then combine the nucleons and eventually make nucleus and nuclear matter (hadron matter). The chiral symmetry and its spontaneously breaking mechanism are important ingredients of hadron many body physics. It is believed that the chiral symmetry is spontaneously broken by the effect of many body correlation and the symmetry is restored at high temperature and/or density. Hence it is very interesting to study the behavior of the chiral symmetry in medium and the property of hadron matter.

Although the hadron many body theory itself requires a complicated non-perturbative treatment with chiral symmetry, hadrons themselves furthermore have internal structure in terms of quarks and gluons. The quarks and gluons have a quantum number of color charge and its dynamics is described by quantum chromodynamics (QCD). The quarks are fermions and construct a matter and the gluons are the gauge bosons and provide interaction among quarks. QCD is a non-Abelian gauge theory belonging SU(3) color group.

The chiral symmetry is nowadays understood as a fundamental symmetry of QCD. The QCD Lagrangian is invariant under global chiral symmetry $SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R \times U(1)_L \times U(1)_R$ when all the N_f quarks are massless. The $U(1)_A$ axial symmetry is exact only at the classical level, and quantum corrections break the $U(1)_A$ axial symmetry. At low energy scale, the chiral symmetry $SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R$ is spontaneously broken to the vector symmetry

 $SU(N_f)_V$ which is characterized by a non-vanishing chiral condensate $\langle \bar{q}q \rangle$. Finally, the vector symmetry $U(1)_V$ corresponds to the baryon number which is an exact symmetry.

QCD is further characterized by two important features. The first one is asymptotic freedom that the interaction strength becomes weaker at high energies, or equivalently small distances and hence the perturbation theory can be applied at some energy scale much larger than the so-called QCD scale $\Lambda_{QCD} \sim 200$ [MeV]. The second one is color confinement, i.e. the phenomenon that a colored object, such as a single quark and gluon, does not exist as a single isolated body and they make colorless composites, the hadrons. *Therefore the hadron physics should be described from quarks and gluons based on QCD*. However, since QCD is a strong coupling theory at low energies, almost no hadron phenomena are derived analytically from QCD directly yet and are described by lattice QCD simulation numerically.

It is believed that QCD quark-gluon matter at finite baryon density ρ_B and temperature T has a rich phase structure characterized by the chiral symmetry and confinement. The order parameter of chiral symmetry breaking corresponds to the chiral condensate. At low temperature and density, the quarks and the gluons are confined inside the hadrons and chiral symmetry is spontaneously broken. When the temperature and/or density is increased, the chiral symmetry is restored at certain temperature and/or density. The confinement is also an important property. To discuss the hadron physics from quarks and gluons, we need the confinement mechanism, which, however, is not described from QCD analytically yet. At high temperature and/or density it is believed that the quarks and gluons are de-confined and become active degrees of freedom. At finite temperature, Polyakov loop Φ can be treated as an order parameter of the confinement [3–5]. Thus, hadron matter described from QCD or in terms of quarks and gluons at various temperature and density should have these behaviors, chiral symmetry breaking and color confinement.

In the theoretical approach there are usually two different strategies to investigate the strongly interacting matter. The first one is the numerical simulation by using lattice gauge theory, which is called lattice QCD. Lattice QCD simulations can handle strongly interacting matter at finite temperature and at very small baryon chemical potential. As a consequence of the sign problem in lattice QCD at finite density, it is extremely difficult, however, to deal with the QCD quark-gluon matter at finite density covering broad ranges of real baryon chemical potential. The other is a model calculation based on fundamental symmetries of QCD called effective model or effective theory. Effective model approaches have successfully explained many experimental results of low energy hadron phenomena historically. In this thesis we adopt the second approach, because our main interest is the hadron phase in QCD matter and at finite density which cannot be dealt with in the present lattice QCD simulation. Our study has several steps:

- 1. Start from an effective theory in terms of quarks and gluons having the SCSB and the kinematical confinement mechanisms.
- 2. Construct mesons and baryons and their dynamics from the effective theory.
- 3. Apply the quark and hadron dynamics to finite density and temperature and investigate the matter properties.

The comparison with the lattice QCD at finite temperature and our analysis is important because the *ab initio* calculation can be considered as "experimental data" to check our approach. Then we want to explore the quark-hadron matter property at finite density. The Nambu-Jona-Lasinio (NJL) model [1, 2, 6–8] is often used as an effective model of QCD, schematic approach to strongly interacting matter [9–20], based on chiral symmetry and its spontaneous breaking. The NJL model is further generalized by introducing the Polyakov loop to account for important thermodynamical aspects of color confinement [21–23], which is called Polyakov loop extended Nambu-Jona-Lasinio (PNJL) model. This PNJL model is by now widely used for the discussion of quark-hadron matter at finite temperature and density [23–41]. The PNJL model results can be compared directly with lattice QCD at finite temperature and zero baryon density. There is, however, a basic conceptual problem when applying the PNJL model at finite baryon density: color-singlet baryon formation is not accounted for. While color-nonsinglet degrees of freedom are suppressed in the "baryonic" phase by the Polyakov loop, three quarks coupled to a color-singlet are still delocalized and spread over all space instead of being confined in localized baryonic clusters.

A remarkable method for the derivation of hadrons from the quark model (NJL model) is discussed by Eguchi and several authors [42–44] who derive an effective meson model (linear sigma model) from NJL model using the bosonization method. The quark bilinear form such as $\bar{q}q$ in the Lagrangian in the partition function is replaced by an auxiliary variable σ to integrate out the quark fields, *leading to an effective Lagrangian for* σ *as a composite of quark fields*. The corresponding bosonic Lagrangian can be constructed by quark loop expansion. The derived meson Lagrangian properties are described by the original quark dynamics [45-47]. A most important aspect of Eguchi method is that the derived effective meson (hadron) Lagrangian is renormalizable, although the NJL model is unrenormalizable and momentum cut-off Λ has to be introduced to regularize quantum corrections. The quark loop expansion terms for the auxiliary fields can be classified into divergent integration terms U_{div} and convergent integration terms U_{conv} in the limit of the cut-off $\Lambda \to \infty$. Eguchi found that the divergent terms U_{div} appear up to fourth order of meson fields and correspond to the radiative corrections of the linear sigma model. The renormalization prescriptions for the linear sigma model can be applied to the divergent terms U_{div} , which are absorbed into renormalization parameters for linear sigma model although the divergent terms are calculated using quark propagators. Hence, the divergent U_{div} are renormalized and the obtained Lagrangian can be identified as the linear sigma model, which is renormalizable. This method gives us a big advantage because our purpose is to describe hadron theory from quark level, which should be renormalizable. We thus have a desire to include not only mesons but also baryons in the prescription. Baryons are described, however, the three body composite in contrast with mesons. The bosonization technique cannot be applied directly for baryons yet.

These difficulties lead us to the simpler two color $SU(2)_c QCD$ scheme to study finite density quark-hadron matter. In this theory quarks carry baryon number $\frac{1}{2}$ and baryons emerge as diquarks, i.e. spin singlet or triplet bosons. The resulting physics is qualitatively different from "real" QCD with $N_c = 3$. Nonetheless, exploring the $N_c = 2$ theory and designing (P)NJL type models in which both mesons (quark-antiquark modes) and baryons (diquarks) emerge as active hadronic degrees of freedom, can teach important issues about the thermodynamics of strongly interacting quark-hadron matter at non-zero baryon chemical potential. While the two color QCD is not real, the corresponding lattice QCD approach is able to avoid the sign problem and the simulations can be performed at any baryon chemical potential. Several lattice QCD studies for color SU(2) are available [48–53] and provide equations of state and hadron masses at both finite temperature and density. It is then an interesting question to what extent these lattice QCD results can be understood and interpreted in terms of models, such as the PNJL approach, in order to identify leading mechanisms and basic symmetry breaking patterns. Our work is aimed in that direction as the first step of our interest. Theoretical studies based on symmetries [54–63] and on a color SU(2) NJL model [64–69] have already given insights concerning the matter properties and hadron masses.

However, most studies are focused on the quark matter and phase diagram in the mean field approximation. The properties of hadrons, especially baryons in medium, are not discussed in full length. For example, meson-baryon interaction should be described from quark. We would like to connect the quarks to hadrons, not only mesons but also (diquark-)baryons, using the Eguchi method. By using the Eguchi method, we can obtain an effective meson-baryon Lagrangian, which consists of composite hadrons made of the quarks and is renormalizable. We are then able to take into account the effect of hadrons by solving a many body problem with the meson-baryon Lagrangian. At the same time, the two color NJL model may provide a method to handle the quark-gluon confinement and contribute to the discussion in the color SU(3) many body physics.

This thesis is organized as follows. In Chap. 2, we briefly review the NJL model in two color system and introduce the auxiliary fields as spinless hadron fields to integrate out the quark fields. We compute the NJL model Lagrangian in the mean field approximation and express the mass-gap equations in terms of divergent integrals including quark propagators, which have the information of chiral and diquark phase transition. In Chap. 3, the bosonization technique is manipulated in order to derive an effective hadron Lagrangian. The quark loop propagators are expanded and decomposed into the divergent and convergent parts. By retaining only the divergent integrals, we find the hadron Lagrangian, which can be identified as extended linear sigma model Lagrangian. The final hadron Lagrangian is obtained by performing renormalization following the method of Eguchi. Finally, we obtain the mixed Lagrangian, which can describe both quarks and hadrons dynamics. In Chap. 4, the quark-hadron Lagrangian is applied to thermodynamics of quark-hadron matter using the Matsubara formalism. In order to integrate the hadron fields, we introduce the Gaussian approximation dropping the interaction terms among hadrons. The Polyakov loop and its effective potential are introduced in the quark loop integrals. The Polyakov loop effect suppresses the colored particle degree of freedom and reproduces the entanglement of chiral condensate and deconfinement at finite temperature, which is well-known in the lattice calculation. We discuss the thermodynamical properties analytically. The massless NG boson appears due to the baryon number symmetry breaking at finite density and plays an important role in the matter property. Then the numerical results are compared with the lattice calculation. We reproduce most of the hadron properties at finite temperature and/or density. However, for the matter density as function of the chemical potential of quark-hadron matter, we find the Gaussian approximation for the hadron Lagrangian is not enough and the hadron Lagrangian should be treated fully including the interaction terms using a non-perturbative approach. In Chap. 5, we review the Gaussian functional method. We have not applied this method numerically to our extended linear sigma model yet, but we report the features of the Gaussian functional method. Finally, we summarize our present study on the bosonization of the NJL model in two color scheme, thermodynamical property of the hadron and the Gaussian functional method in Chap. 6, together with the discussion and the outlook of the present study.

Chapter 2

Two Color Quark Model

We construct two color NJL type Lagrangian with an interaction in the scalar diquark channel [64, 70]. Since we consider SU(2) gauge group, a diquark qq makes color singlet. The interaction term is generated from the conserved QCD color current, hence NJL model can be regarded as an effective model of QCD [6–8]. The Lagrangian has the chiral symmetry in the chiral limit. From the discussion of the symmetry breaking pattern, we will introduce two order parameters which are the chiral condensate $\langle \bar{q}q \rangle$ and the diquark condensate $\langle qq \rangle$ [54, 55, 71]. The auxiliary fields will be introduced and treated as the composite particles for hadrons. The vacuum energy will be evaluated in the mean field approximation at finite temperature and density.

2.1 Symmetries in two color QCD

We first review symmetries and its breaking pattern of two color QCD following Refs. [54, 55, 61, 63] to construct an effective model of QCD. A theory of the strong interaction is described by QCD Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{QCD} = \sum_{n=1}^{N_f} \bar{\psi}_n i \gamma_\mu D^\mu \psi_n - \frac{1}{2} \text{tr} \left[F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \right], \qquad (2.1)$$

with the massless N_f quarks. The field strength is $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} - ig_s[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$ with the gluon fields $A_{\mu} = A^a_{\mu}\frac{t_a}{2}$ where t_a (a = 1, 2, 3) is the Pauli matrices of color SU(2), satisfying tr $[t^a t^b] = 2\delta^{ab}$, and the covariant derivative is $D^{\mu} = \partial^{\mu} - ig_s A^{\mu}$ where g_s is the gauge coupling constant. This Lagrangian has the global symmetry $U(N_f)_L \times U(N_f)_R \rightarrow$ $SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R \times U(1)_L \times U(1)_R$. The U(1)_A axial symmetry is broken by axial anomaly.

Our aim is to construct an effective theory of QCD. In this context, we focus on the quark sector of the QCD Lagrangian. The local color gauge symmetry is replaced by global symmetry. In two color QCD, it is known that the global symmetry of the theory is $SU(2N_f)$ rather than the above $SU(N_f) \times SU(N_f) \times U(1)$. This can be seen explicitly by using chiral Weyl components of the Dirac spinor $\psi^T = (q_L, q_R)$ (the superscript T denotes the transpose of the matrix):

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin} = \bar{\psi} i \gamma_{\mu} D^{\mu} \psi = q_L^{\dagger} i \sigma_{\mu} D^{\mu} q_L + q_R^{\dagger} i \bar{\sigma}_{\mu} D^{\mu} q_R, \qquad (2.2)$$

where the gamma matrices γ_{μ} are decomposed the spin Pauli matrices σ_{μ} and $\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}$ in the chiral representation. We have omitted the flavor indices n and its summation. The pseudo-real property of the generators of SU(2) (Pauli matrices):

$$t_a^* = t_a^T = -t_2 t_a t_2, \quad (a = 1, 2, 3)$$
(2.3)

gives the property of the Dirac operator, $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_s A_{\mu}$ (A_{μ} is antihermitian SU(2) color matrices):

$$D_0^T = D_0 = t_2 D_0 t_2, \quad D_i^T = -t_2 D_i t_2.$$
 (2.4)

We introduce

$$\tilde{q} = \sigma_2 t_2 q_R^{\dagger}, \quad \tilde{q}^{\dagger} = q_R^T t_2 \sigma_2.$$
(2.5)

By using this notation, the second term of Eq. (2.2) becomes

$$iq_{R}^{\dagger}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}D^{\mu}q_{R} = iq_{R}^{\dagger}\sigma_{0}\partial^{0}q_{R} - iq_{R}^{\dagger}\sigma_{0}ig_{s}A^{0}q_{R} + iq_{R}^{\dagger}\sigma_{i}\partial^{i}q_{R} - iq_{R}^{\dagger}\sigma_{i}ig_{s}A^{i}q_{R}$$

$$= iq_{R}^{\dagger}t_{2}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{0}^{T}\sigma_{2}t_{2}\partial^{0}q_{R} + iq_{R}^{\dagger}t_{2}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{0}^{T}ig_{s}(A^{0})^{T}t_{2}\sigma_{2}q_{R}$$

$$+ iq_{R}^{\dagger}t_{2}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{i}^{T}\sigma_{2}t_{2}\partial^{i}q_{R} - iq_{R}^{\dagger}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{i}^{T}\sigma_{2}ig_{s}t_{2}(A^{i})^{T}t_{2}q_{R}$$

$$= i(q_{R}^{T}t_{2}\sigma_{2})\sigma_{0}\partial^{0}(\sigma_{2}t_{2}q_{R}^{\dagger}) - i(q_{R}^{T}t_{2}\sigma_{2})\sigma_{0}ig_{s}A^{0}(\sigma_{2}t_{2}q_{R}^{\dagger})$$

$$- i(q_{R}^{T}t_{2}\sigma_{2})\sigma_{i}\partial^{i}(\sigma_{2}t_{2}q_{R}^{\dagger}) + i(q_{R}^{T}t_{2}\sigma_{2})\sigma_{i}ig_{s}A^{i}(\sigma_{2}t_{2}q_{R}^{\dagger})$$

$$= i\tilde{q}^{\dagger}\sigma_{\mu}D^{\mu}\tilde{q}.$$
(2.6)

Here, the property (2.3) of Pauli matrices for both t_a of color and σ_k of spin and the anticommutativity of $\tilde{q}, \tilde{q}^{\dagger}$ have been used. The Lagrangian is rewritten as

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin} = q^{\dagger} i \sigma_{\mu} D^{\mu} q + \tilde{q}^{\dagger} i \sigma_{\mu} D^{\mu} \tilde{q} = \Psi^{\dagger} i \sigma_{\mu} D^{\mu} \Psi, \qquad (2.7)$$

which now has a manifest $SU(2N_f)$ "flavor" symmetry. The field Ψ denotes a Weyl spinor which has $2N_f$ "flavor" components as

$$\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} q \\ \tilde{q} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q^1 \\ \vdots \\ q^{N_f} \\ \tilde{q}^1 \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{q}^{N_f} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where the superscript denotes the flavor indices. The field \tilde{q} can be considered as the charge conjugated quarks. The $i\sigma_2$ corresponds to the charge conjugation of Weyl spinor $q_L^c = -i\sigma_2 q_R^{\dagger}$ (see Appendix B.3 with Weyl spinor representation) and the it_2 interchange the color and complementary color. Hence \tilde{q} have opposite baryon charge to normal quark. The SU $(2N_f)$ transformation

$$\Psi \to g\Psi, \quad (g \in \mathrm{SU}(2N_f)),$$
(2.9)

transforms quark and antiquark at the same time. The Lagrangian (2.7) is obviously invariant under this $SU(2N_f)$ transformation, which is called Pauli-Gürsey (PG) symmetry, instead of $SU(N_f) \times SU(N_f) \times U(1)$. We next write down various useful quark bilinears in terms of q, \tilde{q} and determine their transformation properties under $SU(2N_f)$. We first see the scalar:

$$\begin{split} \bar{\psi}\psi &= q_{R}^{\dagger}q_{L} + q_{L}^{\dagger}q_{R} \\ &= \tilde{q}^{T}\sigma_{2}t_{2}q + q^{\dagger}\sigma_{2}t_{2}(\tilde{q}^{\dagger})^{T} \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\tilde{q}^{T}\sigma_{2}t_{2}q - \frac{1}{2}(q^{T}\sigma_{2}t_{2}\tilde{q})^{T} + \frac{1}{2}q^{\dagger}\sigma_{2}t_{2}(\tilde{q}^{\dagger})^{T} - \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{q}^{\dagger}\sigma_{2}t_{2}q^{*})^{T} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\left(\Psi^{T}\sigma_{2}t_{2}\Sigma_{0}\Psi - \Psi^{\dagger}\sigma_{2}t_{2}\Sigma_{0}\Psi^{*}\right), \end{split}$$
(2.10)

where the symplectic matrix

$$\Sigma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1_{N_f} \\ -1_{N_f} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.11)

acts in the $2N_f$ -dimensional extended flavor space where 1_{N_f} is $N_f \times N_f$ unit matrix. An explicit (or dynamical) quark mass $m_q \bar{\psi} \psi$, therefore, explicitly (or spontaneously) breaks the original $SU(2N_f)$ down to the compact symplectic group $Sp(2N_f)$.

The chemical potential term $\mu \bar{\psi} \gamma_0 \psi$ is rewritten as

$$\psi \gamma_0 \psi = q_L^{\dagger} q_L + q_R^{\dagger} q_R$$

$$= q^{\dagger} q + \tilde{q}^T (\tilde{q}^{\dagger})^T$$

$$= q^{\dagger} q - \tilde{q}^{\dagger} \tilde{q}$$

$$= \Psi^{\dagger} B_0 \Psi, \qquad (2.12)$$

with

$$B_0 = -\gamma_0 \Sigma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1_{N_f} & 0\\ 0 & -1_{N_f} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.13)

It is easy to understand the meaning of $+1_{N_f}$ and -1_{N_f} in the matrix B_0 are just baryon charges of quarks and conjugate quarks. Since the matrix B_0 is block-diagonal, it is clear that the chemical potential term $\Psi^{\dagger}B_0\Psi$ has $SU(N_f) \times SU(N_f)$. The $U(1)_B$, which can be thought as generated by the B_0 , also preserves. Thus, the existence of the chemical potential μ explicitly breaks $SU(2N_f)$ down to $SU(N_f) \times SU(N_f) \times U(1)$.

2.2 Two Color NJL model

The purpose of this work is to describe the structure of hadrons microscopically from the quarks and gluons and to understand hadronic phenomena at finite density and temperature. In this thesis, we use the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio (NJL) model as our starting microscopic theory. The primary connection of the NJL model with QCD is provided by several assumptions.

- The light quarks (up and down quarks in this thesis, but generally strange quark is also included) are considered as basic degrees of freedom.
- The gluon degrees of freedom are frozen and absorbed into a local effective interaction between quarks in the low-energy and long-wavelength limit.

• The interaction is constructed in accordance with the symmetries of QCD.

Take a current quark fields belonging to SU(2) color and SU(2) flavor. The QCD conserved color current $J_a^{\mu} = \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}t_a\psi$ generates the interaction

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = -G_c \sum_{a=1}^3 J_a^{\mu} J_{\mu}^a, \qquad (2.14)$$

where t_a is the Pauli matrices of color SU(2), the quark fields are $\psi = (u, d)^T$ and G_c is a coupling constant. This current can be represented with the Weyl spinor $\Psi^T = (q, \tilde{q})$:

$$J_a^{\mu} = \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}t_a\psi = q_L^{\dagger}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}t_aq_L + q_R^{\dagger}\sigma^{\mu}t_aq_R, \qquad (2.15)$$

and

$$q_R^{\dagger} \sigma^0 t_a q_R = -q_R^{\dagger} \sigma_2 (\sigma^0)^T \sigma_2 t_2 t_a^T t_2 q_R = \tilde{q}^{\dagger} \sigma_0 t_a \tilde{q}, \qquad (2.16)$$

$$q_R^{\dagger} \sigma^i t_a q_R = - \tilde{q}^{\dagger} \sigma^i t_a \tilde{q}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where i = 1, 2, 3 and $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu} = (\sigma^0, -\sigma^i)$. Then the current can be written as

$$J_a^{\mu} = q^{\dagger} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} t_a q + \tilde{q}^{\dagger} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} t_a \tilde{q} = \Psi^{\dagger} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} t_a \Psi, \qquad (2.18)$$

which is invariant under SU(4) $(N_f = 2)$ transformation (PG symmetry). The kinetic term of the quark is written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin} = \bar{\psi}(i\partial \!\!\!/ - m_0 + \gamma_0 \mu)\psi, \qquad (2.19)$$

with the current quark mass $m_0 = m_u = m_d$ and the quark chemical potential μ . Our model Lagrangian is written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{NJL} = \bar{\psi}(i\partial \!\!\!/ - m_0 + \gamma_0 \mu)\psi - G_c \sum_{a=1}^3 J_a^{\mu} J_{\mu}^a.$$
(2.20)

In the chiral limit $(m_0 \rightarrow 0)$ and zero chemical potential $(\mu = 0)$ the Lagrangian is invariant under SU(4). The SU(4) symmetry is spontaneously broken by the standard chiral condensate $\langle \bar{\psi}\psi \rangle$ down to Sp(4). This symmetry breaking pattern generates five Nambu-Goldstone (NG) bosons (dim SU(N) = N² - 1 and dim Sp(2N) = N(2N + 1)), which corresponds to three pions, diquark and antidiquark. On the other hand, when the chemical potential is finite $\mu \neq 0$ in the chiral limit the symmetry is SU(2)_L × SU(2)_R × U(1)_B. We insert the current quark mass m_0 , the axial symmetry is explicitly broken then SU(2)_V × U(1)_B is remained and the five NG bosons become pseudo-NG boson (their mass will be denote m_{π}). Since the diquark is treated as baryon at the same time boson, the diquark-baryon condensation can occur at the certain chemical potential as the Bose-Einstein condensation (BEC). As we will see later the critical chemical potential μ_c is half pion mass. Once the chemical potential exceeds this point, the baryon number symmetry is spontaneously broken by the diquark condensate $\langle \psi\psi \rangle$ down to Sp(2) and one NG boson is realized.

In the two flavor case there are only two order parameters, the chiral condensate $\langle \bar{\psi}\psi \rangle$ and the scalar diquark condensate, symbolically denoted by $\langle \psi\psi \rangle$. We focus on the behavior of these

order parameters at finite temperature and density in this thesis and rewrite the interaction term by Fierz transformation (see Appendix C) in terms of the color singlet scalar and pseudoscalar quark-antiquark and scalar diquark channels:

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{G_0}{2} [(\bar{\psi}\psi)^2 + (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5\vec{\tau}\psi)^2] + \frac{H_0}{2} (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5t_2\tau_2C\bar{\psi}^T)(\psi^T Ci\gamma_5t_2\tau_2\psi), \qquad (2.21)$$

with the charge conjugation operator for fermions $C = i\gamma_0\gamma_2$ (see Appendix B). The coupling constant for the mesonic channel G_0 and for diquark channel H_0 are uniquely fixed by Fierz transformation as

$$G_0 = H_0 = \frac{3}{2}G_c.$$
 (2.22)

Hence mesonic channel and quark channel are transformed under SU(4) transformation at the same time, which corresponds to PG symmetry in hadronic level. We keep, however, the coupling constants independent so that we are able to study as well cases in which PG symmetry is not exactly realized. Our starting Lagrangian is now

$$\mathcal{L}_{NJL} = \psi(i\partial - m_0 + \gamma_0 \mu)\psi + \frac{G_0}{2} [(\bar{\psi}\psi)^2 + (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5\vec{\tau}\psi)^2] + \frac{H_0}{2} (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5t_2\tau_2C\bar{\psi}^T)(\psi^T Ci\gamma_5t_2\tau_2\psi)$$
(2.23)

2.3 Auxiliary Fields

The partition function of the NJL model is

$$Z = \mathcal{N} \int \mathcal{D}\psi \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi} \exp\left(i \int d^4 x \mathcal{L}_{NJL}\right), \qquad (2.24)$$

where \mathcal{N} is normalization constant. The bosonization technique is now used to write the Lagrangian in terms of auxiliary meson fields, $\sigma \sim \bar{\psi}\psi$, $\vec{\pi} \sim \bar{\psi}i\gamma_5\vec{\tau}\psi$ and diquark fields, $\Delta \sim \psi^T C i\gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \psi$, $\Delta^* \sim \bar{\psi}i\gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 C \bar{\psi}^T$ [42, 70, 72, 73]. We introduce

$$1 = \mathcal{N}' \int \mathcal{D}\sigma \mathcal{D}\vec{\pi} \mathcal{D}\Delta \mathcal{D}\Delta^* \exp\left(i \int d^4x \left[-\frac{1}{2}M_s^2(\sigma^2 + \vec{\pi}^2) - \frac{1}{2}M_d^2\Delta^*\Delta\right]\right), \qquad (2.25)$$

with the normalization constant \mathcal{N}' . We omit the normalization constants \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}' from here since they do not contribute physics. Obviously, the partition function (2.24) is invariant even multiplying the above constant (2.25):

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi\mathcal{D}\sigma\mathcal{D}\vec{\pi}\mathcal{D}\Delta\mathcal{D}\Delta^* \exp\left(i\int d^4x \left[\mathcal{L}_{NJL} - \frac{1}{2}M_s^2(\sigma^2 + \vec{\pi}^2) - \frac{1}{2}M_d^2\Delta^*\Delta\right]\right).$$
(2.26)

Performing Hubbard-Stranovich transformation [74] as

$$\sigma \to \sigma + \frac{g_0}{M_s^2} \bar{\psi} \psi, \qquad (2.27)$$

$$\vec{\pi} \to \vec{\pi} + \frac{g_0}{M_s^2} \bar{\psi} i \gamma_5 \vec{\tau} \psi,$$
(2.28)

$$\Delta \to \Delta + i \frac{g_d}{M_d^2} \psi^T C i \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \psi, \qquad (2.29)$$

$$\Delta^* \to \Delta^* - i \frac{g_d}{M_d^2} \bar{\psi} i \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 C \bar{\psi}^T, \qquad (2.30)$$

the partition function can be written as

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi\mathcal{D}\sigma\mathcal{D}\vec{\pi}\mathcal{D}\Delta\mathcal{D}\Delta^* \exp\left(i\int d^4x\mathcal{L}_{aux}\right) , \qquad (2.31)$$

with the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{aux} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\psi} & \psi^T C \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S^{-1}(\mu) & g_d \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \Delta(x) \\ -g_d \Delta^*(x) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 & S^{-1}(-\mu) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \psi \\ C \bar{\psi}^T \end{pmatrix} \\ -\frac{1}{2} M_s^2 (\sigma^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x)) - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 \Delta^*(x) \Delta(x),$$
(2.32)

with $S^{-1}(\pm \mu) = i\gamma_{\mu}\partial^{\mu} - m_0 \pm \gamma_0\mu - g_0 (\sigma(x) \pm i\gamma_5 \vec{\pi}(x) \cdot \vec{\tau})$. We have introduced a meson coupling constant g_0 and a diquark coupling constant g_d together with bare scalar and diquark masses, M_s and M_d , in preparation of the standard renormalization scheme. The meson and diquark coupling constants and masses are related as

$$\frac{g_0^2}{M_s^2} = G_0, \quad \frac{g_d^2}{M_d^2} = H_0. \tag{2.33}$$

Since the original NJL coupling constants G_0 and H_0 have the mass dimension -2, the decomposed coupling constants g_0 and g_d are dimensionless and the masses M_s and M_d have mass dimension one.

Introducing a chiral order parameter σ_0 (proportional to the quark condensate $\langle \bar{\psi}\psi \rangle$) as $\sigma(x) = \sigma_0 + s(x)$ and the diquark condensates, Δ_0 and Δ_0^* , as $\Delta(x) = \Delta_0 + d(x)$ and $\Delta^*(x) = \Delta_0^* + d^*(x)$, and integrating out the quark fields, the effective Lagrangian entering the partition function (2.31) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{eff} = -\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\ln \hat{S}^{-1} + \ln(1 + \hat{S}\hat{K}) \right) - \frac{1}{2} M_s^2 \sigma_0^2 - \frac{1}{2} M_s^2 (s^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x)) - M_s^2 \sigma_0 s(x) - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 \Delta_0^* \Delta_0 - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 (\Delta_0^* d(x) + d^*(x) \Delta_0) - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 d^*(x) d(x).$$
(2.34)

The trace is taken over spin, momentum, flavor and color spaces. The matrices \hat{S}^{-1} and \hat{K} are defined as,

$$\hat{S}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} S_0^{-1}(\mu) & \Delta^- \\ \Delta^+ & S_0^{-1}(-\mu) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.35)

$$\hat{K} = \begin{pmatrix} -g_0 \left(s(x) + i\gamma_5 \vec{\tau} \cdot \vec{\pi}(x) \right) & g_d \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 d(x) \\ -g_d d^*(x) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 & -g_0 \left(s(x) - i\gamma_5 \vec{\tau} \cdot \vec{\pi}(x) \right) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.36)

with $\Delta^- = g_d \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \Delta_0$, $\Delta^+ = -g_d \Delta_0^* \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2$ and $S_0^{-1}(\pm \mu) = i \gamma_\mu \partial^\mu - m \pm \gamma_0 \mu$. A dynamical quark mass is defined as $m = m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0$. The Nambu-Gorkov quark propagator matrix \hat{S} is determined by solving $\hat{S}\hat{S}^{-1} = 1$ and expressed as:

$$\hat{S} = \begin{pmatrix} G^+ & H^- \\ H^+ & G^- \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.37)$$

with the components

$$G^{\pm} = \left(S_0^{-1}(\pm\mu) - \Sigma^{\pm}\right)^{-1}$$

$$\Sigma^{\pm} = \Delta^{\mp} S_0(\mp\mu) \Delta^{\pm}$$

$$H^{\pm} = -S_0(\mp\mu) \Delta^{\pm} G^{\pm}.$$

(2.38)

A simple form for the components of the Nambu-Gorkov propagator is found introducing the energy projectors onto states of positive and negative energy for free massive spin 1/2 quasiparticles following Huang *et al.* [75, 76],

$$\Lambda_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 \pm \frac{\gamma_0(\vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} + m)}{E_p} \right), \quad \tilde{\Lambda}_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 \pm \frac{\gamma_0(\vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} - m)}{E_p} \right), \tag{2.39}$$

with $E_p = \sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m^2}$. These operators satisfy the projection properties $\Lambda_{\pm}\Lambda_{\pm} = \Lambda_{\pm}$, $\Lambda_{\pm}\Lambda_{\mp} = 0$, $\Lambda_{+} + \Lambda_{-} = 1$, and similar relations for $\tilde{\Lambda}$. Furthermore, the two projection operators are related as $\gamma_0 \Lambda_{\pm} \gamma_0 = \tilde{\Lambda}_{\mp}$ and $\gamma_5 \Lambda_{\pm} \gamma_5 = \tilde{\Lambda}_{\pm}$.

We calculate these components with the energy projection operators. First, the Dirac propagator in the momentum representation with $\tilde{p}_0 = p_0 \pm \mu$ is calculated as

$$S_{0}(\pm \mu) = \frac{1}{\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0} - \vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} - m}$$

$$= \frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0} - \vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} + m}{\tilde{p}_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0} - \vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} + m}{2E_{p}} \left(\frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{0} - E_{p}} - \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{0} + E_{p}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2E_{p}} \left(\frac{\gamma_{0}E_{p} - \vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} + m}{p_{0} - E_{p}^{\mp}} + \frac{\gamma_{0}E_{p} + \vec{\gamma} \cdot \vec{p} - m}{p_{0} + E_{p}^{\pm}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}}{p_{0} - E_{p}^{\mp}} + \frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}}{p_{0} + E_{p}^{\pm}},$$
(2.40)

where in the third line

$$\frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0}}{\tilde{p}_{0} - E_{p}} - \frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0}}{\tilde{p}_{0} + E_{p}} = \frac{2\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0}E_{p}}{\tilde{p}_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2}} \\
= \frac{2\gamma_{0}\tilde{p}_{0}E_{p}}{2\tilde{p}_{0}} \left(\frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{0} + E_{p}} + \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{0} - E_{p}}\right) \\
= \frac{\gamma_{0}E_{p}}{\tilde{p}_{0} + E_{p}} + \frac{\gamma_{0}E_{p}}{\tilde{p}_{0} - E_{p}},$$
(2.41)

where we have defined $E_p^{\pm} = E_p \pm \mu$. Then, its inverse is worked out as

$$S_{0}^{-1}(\pm\mu) = \left[\frac{\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})+\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\mp})}{(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})}\right]^{-1}$$

$$=(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})(\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}+\tilde{\Lambda}_{-})[\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})+\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})]^{-1}$$

$$=(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}\{\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})+\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})\}^{-1}(\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}^{-1}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+})$$

$$+(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}\{\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})+\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})\}^{-1}(\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}^{-1}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-})$$

$$=(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}(\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+})^{-1}\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}(\gamma_{0}^{-1}\gamma_{0})+(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}(\gamma_{0}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-})^{-1}\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}(\gamma_{0}^{-1}\gamma_{0})$$

$$=(p_{0}+E_{p}^{\pm})\tilde{\Lambda}_{+}\gamma_{0}+(p_{0}-E_{p}^{\mp})\tilde{\Lambda}_{-}\gamma_{0},$$
(2.42)

using the property $\tilde{\Lambda}_++\tilde{\Lambda}_-=1$ and $\tilde{\Lambda}_\pm\tilde{\Lambda}_\mp=0.$ Next, we have

$$\Sigma^{\pm} = \Delta^{\mp} S_0(\mp \mu) \Delta^{\pm}$$

$$= - |\Delta|^2 \gamma_5 \left(\frac{\gamma_0 \tilde{\Lambda}_-}{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}} + \frac{\gamma_0 \tilde{\Lambda}_+}{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}} \right) \gamma_5$$

$$= g_d^2 |\Delta_0|^2 \left(\frac{\gamma_0 \Lambda_-}{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}} + \frac{\gamma_0 \Lambda_+}{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}} \right), \qquad (2.43)$$

with $g_d^2 |\Delta_0|^2 = |\Delta|^2$. Then we obtain

$$G^{\pm}(p) = \left[(p_0 + E_p^{\pm})\tilde{\Lambda}_+ \gamma_0 + (p_0 - E_p^{\mp})\tilde{\Lambda}_- \gamma_0 - \Delta^2 \left(\frac{\gamma_0 \Lambda_-}{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}} + \frac{\gamma_0 \Lambda_+}{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}} \right) \right]^{-1}$$

$$= \left[\frac{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2}{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}} \gamma_0 \Lambda_- + \frac{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\mp})^2}{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}} \gamma_0 \Lambda_+ \right]^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\mp})^2} \Lambda_+ (\gamma_0 \Lambda_+)^{-1} \Lambda_+ (\gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_0) + \frac{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \Lambda_- (\gamma_0 \Lambda_-)^{-1} \Lambda_- (\gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_0)$$

$$= \frac{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\mp})^2} \Lambda_+ \gamma_0 + \frac{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \Lambda_- \gamma_0, \qquad (2.44)$$

similar with the method used in Eq. (2.41). The quasi-particle energy is $E_{\Delta}^{\pm} = \sqrt{(E_p^{\pm})^2 + |\Delta|^2}$ with the dynamical quark mass $m = m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0$ and the diquark gap Δ_0 . Finally, we obtain

$$H^{\pm}(p) = -S_0(\mp \mu)\Delta^{\pm}G^{\pm} = \frac{\Delta^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2}\tilde{\Lambda}_+ + \frac{\Delta^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2}\tilde{\Lambda}_-,$$
(2.45)

noting that Δ^{\pm} include γ_5 .

2.4 The Mean Field Approximation

Keeping only the expectation values $\langle \sigma(x) \rangle = \sigma_0$, $\langle \Delta(x) \rangle = \Delta_0$ and $\langle \Delta^*(x) \rangle = \Delta_0^*$, i.e. dropping the fluctuating meson and diquark fields s(x), $\vec{\pi}(x)$, d(x) and $d^*(x)$, one arrives at the

mean-field Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{MF} = -\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{tr} \ln \hat{S}^{-1} - \frac{1}{2} M_s^2 \sigma_0^2 - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 \Delta_0^* \Delta_0.$$
(2.46)

The trace for spin matrices is transformed to the determinant by using the relation tr $\ln \hat{S}^{-1} = \ln \det \hat{S}^{-1}$ and the others are kept as trace. The determinant is obtained by two ways [75, 76] as

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \det \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & B \\ C & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & C^{-1}D \\ B^{-1}A & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$
$$= (-CB)(1 - B^{-1}AC^{-1}D) = -CB + CAC^{-1}D \equiv D_1, \qquad (2.47)$$

and

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \det \begin{pmatrix} D & C \\ B & A \end{pmatrix} = \det \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & C \\ B & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & B^{-1}A \\ C^{-1}D & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$
$$= -BC + BDB^{-1}A \equiv D_2.$$
(2.48)

So, the determinant can be written as

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \sqrt{D_1 \cdot D_2}.$$
 (2.49)

Using this equation and Eq. (2.41),

$$\det \hat{S}^{-1} = \sqrt{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} .$$
(2.50)

Temperature is now introduced using the Matsubara formalism (see Appendix D),

$$i \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \to -T \sum_n \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} ,$$
 (2.51)

with the replacement $p_0 \rightarrow i\omega_n$ where $\omega_n = (2n+1)\pi T$ are the fermionic Matsubara frequencies. Taking the frequency sum, the thermodynamical potential becomes

$$\Omega_{MF} = -\frac{T}{V} \ln Z_{MF}
= -\operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} (E_{\Delta}^+ + E_{\Delta}^-) - 2\operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} T[\ln(1 + e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^+}) + \ln(1 + e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^-})]
+ \frac{1}{2} M_s^2 \sigma_0^2 + \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 |\Delta_0|^2.$$
(2.52)

Here we have written the inverse of the temperature T as $\beta = 1/T$.

The derivatives of the thermodynamical potential (2.52) with respect to σ_0 and $|\Delta_0|$ determine the chiral condensate and the diquark condensate at the minimum of Ω_{MF} :

$$\frac{\partial\Omega_{MF}}{\partial\sigma_{0}} = -\operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{g_{0}m}{E_{p}} \left[\frac{E_{p}^{+}}{E_{\Delta}^{+}} \left(1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{+}) \right) + \frac{E_{p}^{-}}{E_{\Delta}^{-}} \left(1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{-}) \right) \right] + M_{s}^{2}\sigma_{0}$$

$$=0, \qquad (2.53)$$

$$\frac{\partial\Omega_{MF}}{\partial|\Delta_{0}|} = -|\Delta_{0}|\operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left[\frac{1}{E_{\Delta}^{+}} \left(1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{+}) \right) + \frac{1}{E_{\Delta}^{-}} \left(1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{-}) \right) \right] + M_{d}^{2}|\Delta_{0}|$$

$$=0, \qquad (2.54)$$

with the Fermi distribution function $n_F(E) = (1 + e^{\beta E})^{-1}$. The chemical potential μ is included in the definition of E_{Δ}^{\pm} .

Chapter 3

Hadron Lagrangian from the Bosonization

In this chapter we discuss the derivation of the effective hadron Lagrangian by performing the bosonization technique of Eguchi [42]. The fluctuating meson and diquark fields introduced in the previous chapter will be considered term by term. Higher order terms of the hadron fields will be generated from the loop expansion of the logarithmic term. We will find the bosonization technique leads to an extended linear sigma model incorporating diquark degrees of freedom in the NJL Lagrangian.

3.1 Hadron Sector of the Lagrangian

The mean field part of the Lagrangian is discussed in the previous chapter. In this chapter let us focus on the fluctuating part which is

$$\mathcal{L}_{hadron} = -\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{tr} \ln(1 + \hat{S}(p)\hat{K}(x)) - M_s^2 \sigma_0 s(x) - \frac{1}{2}M_d^2(\Delta_0^* d(x) + d^*(x)\Delta_0) - \frac{1}{2}M_s^2(s^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x)) - \frac{1}{2}M_d^2 d^*(x)d(x),$$
(3.1)

with

$$\hat{S}(p) = \begin{pmatrix} G^+(p) & H^-(p) \\ H^+(p) & G^-(p) \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.2)

$$\hat{K}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} -g_0 \left(s(x) + i\gamma_5 \vec{\tau} \cdot \vec{\pi}(x) \right) & g_d \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 d(x) \\ -g_d d^*(x) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 & -g_0 \left(s(x) - i\gamma_5 \vec{\tau} \cdot \vec{\pi}(x) \right) \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.3)

and its components

$$G^{\pm}(p) = \frac{p_0 + E_p^{\mp}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\mp})^2} \Lambda_+ \gamma_0 + \frac{p_0 - E_p^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \Lambda_- \gamma_0,$$
(3.4)

$$H^{\pm}(p) = \frac{\Delta^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \tilde{\Lambda}_+ + \frac{\Delta^{\pm}}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \tilde{\Lambda}_-,$$
(3.5)

with $\Delta^- = g_d \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \Delta_0$, $\Delta^+ = -g_d \Delta_0^* \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2$. The trace is taken over spin, momentum, flavor and color spaces. We would like to extract the properties of mesons and diquark-baryons at

finite temperature and density. For this purpose, we expand the logarithmic term in Eq. (3.1) as

$$-\frac{i}{2}\operatorname{tr}\ln(1+\hat{S}\hat{K}) = -\frac{i}{2}\operatorname{tr}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k}(\hat{S}\hat{K})^k \equiv \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}U^{(k)}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where

$$U^{(k)} = -\frac{i(-1)^{k+1}}{2k} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{S}\hat{K})^k .$$
(3.7)

The matrix is defied as

$$\hat{S}\hat{K} = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.8}$$

with elements

$$A = -G^{+}(p)g_{0}(s(x) + i\gamma_{5}\vec{\tau}\cdot\vec{\pi}(x)) - H^{-}(p)g_{d}d^{*}(x)\gamma_{5}t_{2}\tau_{2},$$

$$B = G^{+}(p)g_{d}\gamma_{5}t_{2}\tau_{2}d(x) - H^{-}(p)g_{0}(s(x) - i\gamma_{5}\vec{\tau}\cdot\vec{\pi}(x)),$$

$$C = -H^{+}(p)g_{0}(s(x) + i\gamma_{5}\vec{\tau}\cdot\vec{\pi}(x)) - G^{-}(p)g_{d}d^{*}(x)\gamma_{5}t_{2}\tau_{2},$$

$$D = H^{+}(p)g_{d}\gamma_{5}t_{2}\tau_{2}d(x) - G^{-}(p)g_{0}(s(x) - i\gamma_{5}\vec{\tau}\cdot\vec{\pi}(x)).$$

(3.9)

With these expressions we are able to derive the Lagrangian involving the meson and diquarkbaryon fields.

Since the first four therms in $U^{(k)}$ provide divergent integrals in the limit of cut-off $\Lambda \to \infty$, we classify the terms as

$$U_{div} + U_{conv}, \tag{3.10}$$

where U_{div} indicates divergent integration terms and U_{conv} convergent terms in $U^{(k)}$ (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) and all other $\sum_{k=5}^{\infty} U^{(k)}$. According to Ref. [42], the divergent terms can be absorbed into renormalization parameters, which will be introduced later, and eventually we can obtain a renormalizable hadronic Lagrangian since the coupling constants g_0 and g_d are dimensionless and the order of the auxiliary fields are up to four. We follow this prescription because we require a renormalizable hadron Lagrangian as the composite of quarks. Further, the fourth order fields Lagrangian can be used to consider the spontaneously breaking of symmetry. We will introduce the finite NJL cut-off when computing numerical results.

A diagrammatic expression of the series $U^{(k)}$ up to fourth order is shown in Fig. 3.1. The first order term is called the dangerous term which vanish for the stability. The second order term corresponds the kinetic and mass terms. The third and fourth order terms are the interaction. The evaluation of each term will be discussed in detail from next section.

3.2 The Gap Equations (k=1)

We first work out the case of k = 1, that is $U^{(1)} = -\frac{i}{2} \text{tr} \hat{S} \hat{K}$, to derive the mass gap equations, which correspond to the minimization condition (2.53) and (2.54) of the thermodynamical po-



Figure 3.1: Diagrammatic expression of the series Eq. (3.7). The solid lines represent the quark propagators, and the external double lines mean auxiliary fields K and internal lines are the loop integral S.

tential in the mean-field approximation described in the previous section,

$$U^{(1)} = -\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[g_0 (-G^+(p) - G^-(p)) s(x) + g_0 (-G^+(p) i \gamma_5 + G^-(p) i \gamma_5) \vec{\tau} \cdot \vec{\pi}(x) - g_d H^-(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 d^*(x) + g_d H^+(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 d(x) \right]$$

$$= \int d^4 x \left(\Gamma_s s(x) + \Gamma_d d(x) + \Gamma_{d^*} d^*(x) \right).$$
(3.11)

The trace of the Dirac matrix in the pion term gives zero and we have dropped this term here. The first order of the effective Lagrangian can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}^{(1)} = \left(\Gamma_s - M_s^2 \sigma_0\right) s(x) + \left(\Gamma_d - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 \Delta_0^*\right) d(x) + \left(\Gamma_{d^*} - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 \Delta_0\right) d^*(x).$$
(3.12)

The result for Γ_s is

$$\Gamma_{s} = \frac{i}{2} g_{0} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} (G^{+}(p) + G^{-}(p))$$

= $2img_{0} \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} + \frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} + \frac{\mu}{E_{p}} \left(\frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} - \frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} \right) \right].$
(3.13)

The trace tr is taken over spin, flavor and color spaces and tr_{fc} is over flavor and color only.

The momentum space integrals (3.13) are divergent and must be treated accordingly. For the second term under the integral we write:

$$\frac{\mu}{E_p} \left(\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2} - \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2} \right) = \frac{\mu}{E_p} \left(\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2 - 4\mu E_p} - \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2 + 4\mu E_p} \right) \\
\sim \frac{\mu}{E_p} \left[\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2} \left(1 + \frac{4\mu E_p}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2} \right) - \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2} \left(1 - \frac{4\mu E_p}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2} \right) \right] \\
2 \frac{\mu}{E_p} \left(\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2} - \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2} \right) = 4\mu^2 \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} \right) \\
\frac{\mu}{E_p} \left(\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2} - \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2} \right) = 2\mu^2 \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} \right), \quad (3.14)$$

where in the third line only those terms have been kept that are divergent when taking the momentum integral. Using this expression Γ_s can be written as

$$\Gamma_s = 2mg_0(I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0), \tag{3.15}$$

with the divergent integrals I_2 and I_0 defined as follows:

$$I_2 = i \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2} + \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2} \right),$$
(3.16)

$$I_0 = -i \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right).$$
(3.17)

The result for Γ_d is

$$\Gamma_{d} = -\frac{i}{2}g_{d} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} H^{+}(p)\gamma_{5}t_{2}\tau_{2}$$

$$= ig_{d}^{2}\Delta_{0}^{*} \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - E_{\Delta}^{+2}} + \frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - E_{\Delta}^{-2}}\right)$$

$$= g_{d}^{2}\Delta_{0}^{*}I_{2}$$
(3.18)

while

$$\Gamma_{d^*} = g_d^2 \,\Delta_0 I_2 \,. \tag{3.19}$$

The first order of the Lagrangian is required to be zero due to stability as

$$-M_s^2 \sigma_0 + 2g_0 m (I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0) = 0., \qquad (3.20)$$

and the diquark and anti-diquark terms become

$$-M_d^2 \Delta_0 + 2g_d^2 \Delta_0 I_2 = 0. ag{3.21}$$

We recall that the relation between m and σ_0 is $m = g_0 \sigma_0 + m_0$.

For later use, we write I_2 and I_0 as functions of temperature and chemical potential using the Matsubara formalism (see Appendix D.5):

$$I_{2} = -\operatorname{tr}_{fc}T\sum_{n}\int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{(i\omega_{n})^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n})^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}}\right)$$

$$= -\operatorname{tr}_{fc}T\sum_{n}\int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{2E_{\Delta}^{+}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - E_{\Delta}^{+}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + E_{\Delta}^{+}}\right) + \frac{1}{2E_{\Delta}^{-}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - E_{\Delta}^{-}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + E_{\Delta}^{-}}\right)\right)$$

$$= -\operatorname{tr}_{fc}\int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{2E_{\Delta}^{+}} (n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{+}) - n_{F}(-E_{\Delta}^{+})) + \frac{1}{2E_{\Delta}^{-}} (n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{-}) - n_{F}(-E_{\Delta}^{-}))\right)$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{fc}\int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{2E_{\Delta}^{+}} (1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{+})) + \frac{1}{2E_{\Delta}^{-}} (1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{-}))\right), \qquad (3.22)$$

where the Fermi distribution $n_F(E) = (e^{\beta E} + 1)^{-1}$ and the relation $n_F(-E) = 1 - n_F(E)$ have been used. To see Eqs. (3.20) and (3.21) are equivalent to the mean field equations, we further manipulate Eq. (3.13) as

$$\Gamma_s = 2ig_0 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{m}{E_p} \left[\frac{E_p^+}{p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2} + \frac{E_p^-}{p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2} \right].$$
(3.23)

In the Matsubara formulation of Γ_s , then one can find that this expression agrees with the mean field equations (2.53) and (2.54).

Next, we work out I_0 in the Matsubara formalism:

$$\begin{split} I_{0} = & \operatorname{tr}_{fc} T \sum_{n} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{((i\omega_{n})^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{((i\omega_{n})^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} \right) \\ = & \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} T \sum_{n} \left[\frac{1}{4(E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{(i\omega_{n} - E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} - \frac{2}{2E_{\Delta}^{+}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - E_{\Delta}^{+}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + E_{\Delta}^{+}} \right) + \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n} + E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} \right) \\ & + \frac{1}{4(E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{(i\omega_{n} - E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} - \frac{2}{2E_{\Delta}^{-}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - E_{\Delta}^{-}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + E_{\Delta}^{-}} \right) + \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n} + E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} \right) \right] \\ = & \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left[\frac{1}{4(E_{\Delta}^{+})^{3}} \left(-E_{\Delta}^{+}\beta e^{\beta E_{\Delta}^{+}}n_{F}^{2}(E_{\Delta}^{+}) - (n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{+}) - n_{F}(-E_{\Delta}^{+})) - E_{\Delta}^{+}\beta e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^{+}}n_{F}^{2}(-E_{\Delta}^{+}) \right) \\ & + \frac{1}{4(E_{\Delta}^{-})^{3}} \left(-E_{\Delta}^{-}\beta e^{\beta E_{\Delta}^{-}}n_{F}^{2}(E_{\Delta}^{-}) - (n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{-}) - n_{F}(-E_{\Delta}^{-})) - E_{\Delta}^{+}\beta e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^{-}}n_{F}^{2}(-E_{\Delta}^{-}) \right) \right] \\ = & \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left[\frac{1}{4(E_{\Delta}^{+})^{3}} \left(1 - 2n_{F}(E_{\Delta}^{+}) - 2E_{\Delta}^{+}\beta e^{\beta E_{\Delta}^{+}}n_{F}^{2}(E_{\Delta}^{-}) \right) \right] , \tag{3.24}$$

where $n_F^2(-E) = (e^{-\beta E} + 1)^{-2} = e^{2\beta E} n_F^2(E)$ has been used. The divergent integrals I_0 and I_2 are calculated introducing a momentum cut-off Λ .

3.3 Mass and Kinetic Energy Terms (k=2)

The kinetic energies and the mass terms of mesons and diquark-baryons emerge from Eq. (3.7) at the order of k = 2:

$$U^{(2)} = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{S}\hat{K})^2 = \int d^4y \sum_{ij} \Gamma_{ij}(x-y)\phi_i(x)\phi_j(y), \qquad (3.25)$$

where $\phi_i = \sigma, \vec{\pi}, d, d^*$. As we will see later, the sigma meson and the diquark-baryons make the mixing due to the scalar property while the pion does not. The second order of the effective Lagrangian can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = \int d^4 y \left(\left[\Gamma_s(x-y) - \frac{1}{2} M_s^2 \delta(x-y) \right] s(x) s(y) + \left[\Gamma_\pi(x-y) - \frac{1}{2} M_s^2 \delta(x-y) \right] \vec{\pi}(x) \vec{\pi}(y) \right. \\ \left. + \left[\Gamma_{dd^*}(x-y) - \frac{1}{2} M_d^2 \delta(x-y) \right] d(x) d^*(y) + \Gamma_{dd}(x-y) d(x) d(x) \right. \\ \left. + \Gamma_{d^*d^*}(x-y) d^*(x) d^*(y) + \Gamma_{sd}(x-y) s(x) d(y) + \Gamma_{sd^*}(x-y) s(x) d^*(y) \right).$$
(3.26)

The non-local propagator terms Γ_{ij} are expanded as

$$\Gamma(x-y) = \int \frac{d^4q}{(2\pi)^4} e^{iq(x-y)} \Gamma(q)$$

 $\sim \delta(x-y)\Gamma(0) - i\partial^{\mu}\delta(x-y)\partial_{\mu}\Gamma(q) \mid_{q=0} -\frac{1}{2}\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\delta(x-y)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Gamma(q) \mid_{q=0}.$ (3.27)

The integration variable momentum p^{μ} appear as $p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2$ in the integrand. The quasi-particle energies $E_{\Delta}^{\pm} = \sqrt{(E_p^{\pm})^2 + |\Delta|^2} (E_p^{\pm} = \sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m^2} \pm \mu)$ seem to break the Lorentz covariance and hence we have to calculate the derivative with respect to q^0 and \vec{q} in the $U^{(2)}$ separately.

We first note useful formulas in the limit of the cut-off $\Lambda \to \infty$ below:

$$(E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2} + (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2} = 2(E_{p}^{2} + \mu^{2} + |\Delta|^{2})$$

$$4p_{0}^{2} \rightarrow p_{0}^{2} - \vec{p}^{2} = p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} + m^{2} \sim p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}$$

$$= \begin{cases} p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^{2} \pm 2\mu E_{p} \\ p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^{2} \pm 2\mu E_{p} \end{cases}$$
(3.28)
$$(3.28)$$

$$= \begin{cases} 10 & (\Delta) & p \\ \frac{1}{2} [(p_0^2 - E_{\Delta}^+)^2 + (p_0^2 - E_{\Delta}^-)^2] \end{cases}$$
(3.29)

$$\vec{p}^2 \to -\frac{3}{4}(p_0^2 - \vec{p}^2)$$
 (3.30)

$$E_p^2 = \vec{p}^2 + m^2 \to -\frac{3}{4}(p_0^2 - E_p^2) = -\frac{3}{4}(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^{\pm})^2)$$
(3.31)

$$\frac{p^{i}p^{j}}{E_{p}^{2}} \stackrel{i=j}{=} 1 - \frac{m^{2}}{E_{p}^{2}}$$
(3.32)

$$\frac{p^{i}p^{j}}{E_{p}^{4}} - \frac{\delta^{ij}}{E_{p}^{2}} \stackrel{i=j}{=} -\frac{m^{2}}{E_{p}^{4}}$$
(3.33)

$$-4p^{i}p^{j} \stackrel{i=j}{=} p_{0}^{2} - \bar{p}^{2} \to p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}, \qquad (3.34)$$

where i, j = 1, 2, 3.

3.3.1 Pion

The result of the Fourier transformed propagator for the pion in Eq. (3.25) is:

$$\Gamma_{\pi}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} g_0^2 \left(H^-(p+q)\gamma_5 H^+(p)\gamma_5 + H^+(p+q)\gamma_5 H^-(p)\gamma_5 - G^+(p+q)\gamma_5 G^+(p)\gamma_5 - G^-(p+q)\gamma_5 G^-(p)\gamma_5 \right),$$
(3.35)

where the arguments p and p + q denote the four momentum in the G^{\pm} and H^{\pm} with the internal quark momentum p and the external momentum q. To proceed the calculation, we define compact expressions

$$p' = p + q = p^{\mu} + q^{\mu} = p'_0 - \vec{p}' = (p_0 + q_0) - (\vec{p} + \vec{q}),$$
(3.36)

$$E'_{p} = \sqrt{(\vec{p} + \vec{q})^{2} + m^{2}},$$
(3.37)

$$E_{p'}^{\pm} = E'_p \pm \mu, \tag{3.38}$$

$$(E_{\Delta'}^{\pm})^2 = (E_{p'}^{\pm})^2 + |\Delta|^2.$$
(3.39)

In this notation

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\pi}(q) &= \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} g_0^2 (H^-(p')\gamma_5 H^+(p)\gamma_5 + H^+(p')\gamma_5 H^-(p)\gamma_5 \\ &- G^+(p')\gamma_5 G^+(p)\gamma_5 - G^-(p')\gamma_5 G^-(p)\gamma_5) \\ &= \frac{i}{4} g_0^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-)(p_0 - E_p^+) + (p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)(p_0 + E_p^+) - 2|\Delta|^2}{((p'_0)^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \right. \\ &+ \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+)(p_0 - E_p^-) + (p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)(p_0 + E_p^-) - 2|\Delta|^2}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(1 + \frac{\vec{p}' \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-)(p_0 + E_p^-) + (p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)(p_0 - E_p^-) - 2|\Delta|^2}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right. \\ &+ \left. \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+)(p_0 + E_p^+) + (p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)(p_0 - E_p^+) - 2|\Delta|^2}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(1 - \frac{\vec{p}' \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{i}{4} g_0^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} (A_\pi B_\pi + C_\pi D_\pi). \end{split}$$

The propagator is expended around q = 0 as Eq. (3.27). We consider $\Gamma_{\pi}(0)$ first

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\pi}(0) &= ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) + (p_{0} - E_{p}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &= 2ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{-} E_{p}^{+} - |\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &= 2ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} + \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right) \\ &= 2ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}) + (p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{2\mu^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right) \\ &= ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} + \frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} \right) \\ &\quad + 2ig_{0}^{2}\mu^{2} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right) \\ &= g_{0}^{2}I_{2} - 2g_{0}^{2}\mu^{2}I_{0}. \end{split}$$
(3.41)

Note that all the integrands are given by the divergent integral I_2 and I_0 by using Eqs. (3.28) - (3.34).

As we mentioned, the derivatives are evaluated for the temporal ∂_0 and the spatial ∂_i parts separately. We evaluate

$$\partial_{0}\Gamma_{\pi}(q) = \frac{i}{4}g_{0}^{2} \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\partial_{0}(A_{\pi}B_{\pi}) + \partial_{0}(C_{\pi}D_{\pi})\right)$$
$$= \frac{i}{4}g_{0}^{2} \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} (\dot{A}_{\pi}B_{\pi} + A_{\pi}\dot{B}_{\pi} + \dot{C}_{\pi}D_{\pi} + C_{\pi}\dot{D}_{\pi})$$
$$= \frac{i}{4}g_{0}^{2} \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} (\dot{A}_{\pi} + \dot{C}_{\pi}).$$
(3.42)

Since the second therm of B_{π} and D_{π} obviously make convergent integrals (higher order of the denominator), we have dropped these therms in the last line. We calculate each terms

$$\dot{A}_{\pi} = \frac{p_0 - E_p^+ + p_0 + E_p^+}{(p_0'^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} - 2p_0' \frac{(p_0' + E_{p'}^-)(p_0 - E_p^+) + (p_0' - E_{p'}^-)(p_0 + E_p^+) - 2|\Delta|^2}{(p_0'^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)^2(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)}, \qquad (3.43)$$
$$\dot{D}_{\pi} = \frac{p_0 + E_p^+ + p_0 - E_p^+}{(p_0' - p_p')^2(p_0' - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)}$$

$$(p_0^{\prime 2} - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2) - 2p_0^{\prime} \frac{(p_0^{\prime} + E_{p^{\prime}}^+)(p_0 + E_p^+) + (p_0^{\prime} - E_{p^{\prime}}^+)(p_0 - E_p^+) - 2|\Delta|^2}{(p_0^{\prime 2} - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)^2(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)}.$$
(3.44)

The integral over p^0 is zero due to the odd function of p^0 . We further calculate the second order derivatives by dropping the odd p_0

$$\begin{split} \ddot{A}_{\pi} &= -2 \frac{(p'_{0} + E^{-}_{p'})(p_{0} - E^{+}_{p}) + (p'_{0} - E^{-}_{p'})(p_{0} + E^{+}_{p}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E^{-}_{\Delta'})^{2})^{2}(p^{2}_{0} - (E^{+}_{\Delta})^{2})} \\ &- 2p'_{0} \frac{p_{0} - E^{+}_{p} + p_{0} + E^{+}_{p}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E^{-}_{\Delta'})^{2})^{2}(p^{2}_{0} - (E^{+}_{\Delta})^{2})} \\ &+ 8(p'_{0})^{2} \frac{(p'_{0} + E^{-}_{p'})(p_{0} - E^{+}_{p}) + (p'_{0} - E^{-}_{p'})(p_{0} + E^{+}_{p}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E^{-}_{\Delta'})^{2})^{3}(p^{2}_{0} - (E^{+}_{\Delta})^{2})}, \end{split}$$
(3.45)
$$\ddot{D}_{\pi} = -2 \frac{(p'_{0} + E^{+}_{p'})(p_{0} + E^{+}_{p}) + (p'_{0} - E^{+}_{p'})(p_{0} - E^{+}_{p}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E^{+}_{\Delta'})^{2})^{2}(p^{2}_{0} - (E^{+}_{\Delta})^{2})} \\ &- 2p'_{0} \frac{p_{0} + E^{+}_{p} + p_{0} - E^{+}_{p}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E^{+}_{\Delta'})^{2})^{2}(p^{2}_{0} - (E^{-}_{\Delta})^{2})} \\ &+ 8(p'_{0})^{2} \frac{(p'_{0} + E^{+}_{p'})(p_{0} + E^{+}_{p}) + (p'_{0} - E^{+}_{p'})(p_{0} - E^{+}_{p}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E^{+}_{\Delta'})^{2})^{3}(p^{2}_{0} - (E^{+}_{\Delta})^{2})}. \end{split}$$
(3.46)

Taking q = 0,

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_0)^2 \Gamma_\pi(q) \Big|_{q=0} &= -2ig_0^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)} \right) \\ &= -ig_0^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right) \\ &= g_0^2 I_0. \end{aligned}$$
(3.47)

The first order space derivative is

$$\begin{split} \partial_{i}\Gamma_{\pi}(q)|_{q=0} =& 2ig_{0}^{2}\mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{-p^{i}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right. \\ &+ \frac{p^{i}(1 - \mu(E_{p})^{-1})(p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &+ \frac{p^{i}(1 + \mu(E_{p})^{-1})(p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &\to 0 \quad (\mathrm{odd}) \end{split}$$
(3.48)

The second order derivative is written as $A''_{\pi}B_{\pi} + 2A'_{\pi}B'_{\pi} + A_{\pi}B''_{\pi} + C''_{\pi}D + 2C'_{\pi}D'_{\pi} + C_{\pi}D''_{\pi}$. Then $B'_{\pi} = D'_{\pi} = 0, B_{\pi} = 2$ and $B''_{\pi} = -D''_{\pi} = p^{i}p^{j}/E^{4}_{p} - \delta^{ij}/E^{2}_{p}$. Hence,

$$\partial_i \partial_j \Gamma_\pi(q)|_{q=0} = \frac{i}{4} g_0^2 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(2A_\pi'' + (A_\pi - C_\pi) \left(\frac{p^i p^j}{E_p^4} - \frac{\delta^{ij}}{E_p^2} \right) \right).$$
(3.49)

We evaluate

$$\frac{p^{i}p^{j}}{E_{p}^{4}} - \frac{\delta^{ij}}{E_{p}^{2}} \stackrel{i=j}{=} \frac{1}{E_{p}^{2}} - \frac{m^{2}}{E_{p}^{4}} - \frac{1}{E_{p}^{2}} = -\frac{m^{2}}{E_{p}^{4}},$$
(3.50)

. . .

so the second term of $\partial_i \partial_j \Gamma_{\pi}(q)|_{q=0}$ converges. Thus, we have to work out only A'' term as

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\pi}^{\prime\prime} &= \frac{-4\delta^{ij}}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{4p^i p^j}{E_p^2 (p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \\ &+ 4\delta^{ij} (p_0^2 - E_p^2 - \mu^2 - |\Delta|^2) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \right) \\ &- 8p^i p^j \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \\ &+ 16p^i p^j (p_0^2 - E_p^2 - \mu^2 - |\Delta|^2) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} + \frac{2}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \right) \\ \stackrel{i=j}{=} \frac{2}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} + \frac{2}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} + \frac{4}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} + \frac{-3}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} + \frac{-2}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \\ &= \frac{4}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} = 2 \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.51)

Hence, the second order derivative is written as

. . . : :

$$\partial_i \partial_j \Gamma_\pi(q)|_{q=0} = -g_0^2 I_0 \delta_{ij}. \tag{3.52}$$

Since the spatial components have minus sign in the Minkowski metric, the final result of the second order derivative of Γ_{π} can be written as

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Gamma_{\pi}(q)|_{q=0} = g_0^2 I_0 g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.53)

The pion part in the second order is written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\pi}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} g_0^2 I_0 \partial^{\mu} \vec{\pi}(x) \partial_{\mu} \vec{\pi}(x) - \frac{1}{2} \left[M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 (I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0) \right] \vec{\pi}^2(x),$$
(3.54)

which can be identified with the Klein-Gordon type Lagrangian if the mass term is given as

$$m_{\pi}^2 = M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4g_0^2 \mu^2 I_0.$$
(3.55)

The mass term is described by the quark propagator and hence reflect the quark property and the kinetic term include the divergent integral I_0 . It is notable that this pion mass form is similar to the quark mass gap equation.

3.3.2 Sigma Meson

We consider the sigma meson term:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{s}(q) &= \frac{i}{4} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} g_{0}^{2} \left(G^{+}(p')G^{+}(p) + G^{-}(p')G^{-}(p) + H^{-}(p')H^{+}(p) + H^{+}(p')H^{-}(p) \right) \\ &= \frac{i}{4} g_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\left(\frac{(p'_{0} + E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) + (p'_{0} - E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})} \right. \\ &+ \frac{(p'_{0} + E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}) + (p'_{0} - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \right) \left(1 + \frac{\vec{p} \cdot \vec{p} - m^{2}}{E_{p'}E_{p}} \right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{(p'_{0} + E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}) + (p'_{0} - E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \right. \\ &+ \frac{(p'_{0} + E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) + (p'_{0} - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p'_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right) \left(1 - \frac{\vec{p} \cdot \vec{p} - m^{2}}{E_{p'}E_{p}} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{i}{4}g_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} (A_{s}B_{s} + C_{s}D_{s}). \end{split}$$
(3.56)

We work out q = 0 case in which $B_s = 2 - \frac{2m^2}{E_p^2}$ and $D_s = \frac{2m^2}{E_p^2}$:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{s}(0) &= ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\frac{2(p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2} + 2\mu)}{(p_{0}^{2} - E_{\Delta}^{-2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right. \\ &+ \frac{m^{2}}{E_{p}^{2}} \left(\frac{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{-})^{2} - |\Delta|^{2} + 2(E_{p}^{-})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{+})^{2} - |\Delta|^{2} + 2(E_{p}^{+})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right. \\ &- \frac{2(p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2} + 2\mu^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right) \right] \\ &= ig_{0}^{2} \mathrm{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\left(\frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2}} + \frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2}} \right) + 2\mu^{2} \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right) \right. \\ &+ 2m^{2} \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right) \right] \\ &= g_{0}^{2} I_{2} - 2g_{0}^{2} \mu^{2} I_{0} - 2g_{0}^{2} m^{2} I_{0}. \end{split}$$
(3.57)

The first order time derivative is given as $(\dot{A}_s B_s + \dot{C}_s D_s)|_{q=0} = 2\dot{A}_s + (\dot{C}_s - \dot{A}_s)\frac{2m^2}{E_p^2}$.

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{A}_{s} &= \frac{2p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &- 2p_{0}^{\prime} \frac{(p_{0}^{\prime} + E_{p}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) + (p_{0}^{\prime} - E_{p^{\prime}}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2\prime} - (E_{\Delta}^{-\prime})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &+ \frac{2p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2\prime} - (E_{\Delta}^{+\prime})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &- 2p_{0}^{\prime} \frac{(p_{0}^{\prime} + E_{p^{\prime}}^{+})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}) + (p_{0}^{\prime} - E_{p^{\prime}}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2\prime} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &= \frac{4p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &- 4p_{0} \frac{p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} + \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} - 4p_{0} \frac{p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} + \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &= -2p_{0} \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(3.58)

and

$$\begin{split} \dot{C}_{s} &= \frac{2p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2'} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &- 2p_{0}' \frac{(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}) + (p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2'} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &+ \frac{2p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2'} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})(p_{0}^{0} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &- 2p_{0}' \frac{(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) + (p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2'} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \\ &= \frac{2p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{2p_{0}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \\ &- 4p_{0} \frac{p_{0}^{2} + (E_{p}^{-})^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}} - 4p_{0} \frac{p_{0}^{2} + (E_{p}^{+})^{2} - |\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{3}} \\ &= -2p_{0} \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right) \\ &- 8p_{0} \left(\frac{(E_{p}^{-})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{(E_{p}^{+})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{3}} \right). \end{split}$$
(3.59)

The result is written as

$$\partial_0 \Gamma_s(q)|_{q=0} = -i \text{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} p_0 \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} \right) \to 0.$$
(3.60)

The second order derivative is given as $(\ddot{A}_sB_s + \ddot{C}_sD_s)|_{q=0} = 2\ddot{A}_s + (\ddot{C}_s - \ddot{A}_s)\frac{2m^2}{E_p^2}$. The second

term $(\ddot{C}_s - \ddot{A}_s) \frac{2m^2}{E_p^2}$ gives finite:

$$\begin{aligned} \ddot{A}_{s} &= \left(-8p_{0}^{2} - 4(p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2} + 2\mu^{2})\right) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})}\right) \\ &+ 16p_{0}^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - E_{p}^{2} - \mu^{2} - |\Delta|^{2} + 2\mu^{2}) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{3}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})}\right) \\ &= -2\left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.61)

Then

$$\partial_0 \partial_0 \Gamma_{ss}(q)|_{q=0} = g_0^2 I_0. \tag{3.62}$$

The first order space derivative is given as $(A'_sB_s + A_sB'_s + C'_sD_s + C_sD'_s)|_{q=0}$. Then $B'_s(0) = \frac{2m^2p^i}{E_p^4}$, $D'_s(0) = -\frac{2m^2p^i}{E_p^4}$, hence $A_sB'_s$ and $C_sD'_s$ give finite. The A'_s and C'_s are written as

$$A'_{s} = 2p'^{i} \left(\frac{-E_{p}^{+}}{E_{p'}(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{-E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p'}(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \right. \\ \left. + (1 - \mu(E_{p'})^{-1}) \frac{(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) + (p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right. \\ \left. + (1 + \mu(E_{p'})^{-1}) \frac{(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}) + (p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \right), \quad (3.63)$$

$$C'_{s} = 2p'^{i} \left(\frac{E_{p}^{+}}{E_{s}(p'^{2} - (E^{+})^{2})(p^{2} - (E^{+})^{2})} + \frac{E_{p}^{-}}{E_{s}(p'^{2} - (E^{-})^{2})(p^{2} - (E^{-})^{2})} \right) \right)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}'_{s} &= 2p'^{i} \left(\frac{E_{p}}{E_{p'}(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{E_{p}}{E_{p'}(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \right. \\ &+ (1 - \mu(E_{p'})^{-1}) \frac{(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}) + (p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \\ &+ (1 + \mu(E_{p'})^{-1}) \frac{(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}) + (p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+}) - 2|\Delta|^{2}}{(p_{0}'^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.64)

Of course, the first order derivative goes to zero by the integration over p^i because the each terms are an odd function of p^i . The second derivative is given as $A''_sB_s + 2A'_sB'_s + A_sB''_s + C''_sD_s + 2C'_sD'_s + C_sD''_s = 2A''_s + (C''_s - A''_s)\frac{2m^2}{E_p^2} + 2(A'_s - C'_s)\frac{2m^2p^i}{E_p^4} + (A_s - C_s)B''$. We work out B''_s and D''_s as

$$B_s'' = -\frac{\delta^{ij}}{E_p^2} + \frac{p^i p^j}{E_p^4} + \frac{2m^2 \delta^{ij}}{E_p^4} - \frac{6p^i p^j m^2}{E_p^6}$$
$$\stackrel{i=j}{=} -\frac{5m^2}{E_p^4} + \frac{6m^4}{E_p^6},$$
(3.65)

$$D_s'' \stackrel{i=j}{=} \frac{5m^2}{E_p^4} - \frac{6m^4}{E_p^6} = -B_s''.$$
(3.66)

 A_s'' and C_s'' are written as

$$\begin{aligned} A_{s}^{\prime\prime} \stackrel{i=j}{=} \frac{-6}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{3}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{3}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \\ &+ \frac{10}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{-3}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{-3}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \\ &= 2\left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(3.67)
$$C_{s}^{\prime\prime} \stackrel{i=j}{=} -2\left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}}\right) \\ &+ 8\left(\frac{(E_{p}^{-})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{(E_{p}^{+})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{3}}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.68)

Hence the terms $(A'_s - C'_s)\frac{2m^2p^i}{E_p^4}$, $(A_s - C_s)B''_s$ and $(C''_s - A''_s)\frac{2m^2}{E_p^2}$ converge. The second order space derivative is written as

$$\partial_i \partial_j \Gamma_s(q)|_{q=0} = -g_0^2 I_0 \delta_{ij}. \tag{3.69}$$

The result of the second order derivative of Γ_{ss} is

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Gamma_s(q)|_{q=0} = g_0^2 I_0 g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.70)

The sigma meson part in the second order is given as

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}g_{0}^{2}I_{0}\partial^{\mu}s(x)\partial_{\mu}s(x) - \frac{1}{2}\left[M_{s}^{2} - 2g_{0}^{2}(I_{2} - 2\mu^{2}I_{0} - 2m^{2}I_{0})\right]s^{2}(x).$$
(3.71)

The mass term can be identified

$$m_s^2 = M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4g_0^2 \mu^2 I_0 + 4g_0^2 m^2 I_0 = m_\pi^2 + 4g_0^2 m^2 I_0.$$
(3.72)

3.3.3 Diquark-Baryon

The diquark-baryons are the complex scalar fields. The term $U^{(2)}$ generates the dd^* term and d^*d term separately. The difference of these terms are only the chemical potential dependency which will be derived from the first order derivative with temporal part in contrast with mesons. The mesons constructed from $\bar{q}q$ have no antiparticle (or self-conjugate) and have no chemical potential dependence. The diquark-baryons are, however, constructed from qq and their antiparticles are described by $\bar{q}\bar{q}$. The conserved baryon charge is written as

$$Q = \int d^3x J^0 = \int d^3x i (\Delta^*(x) \Pi_{\Delta}(x) - \Delta(x) \Pi_{\Delta^*}(x)), \qquad (3.73)$$

with the canonical conjugate momenta

$$\Pi_{\Delta}(x) = \partial_0 \Delta(x)$$

$$\Pi_{\Delta^*}(x) = \partial_0 \Delta^*(x).$$
(3.74)

The first order derivatives represent the conserved charge and the difference between dd^* and d^*d is opposites sign. We can identify the dd^* and d^*d without the first order derivative.

We consider dd^* term:

$$\Gamma_{dd^*}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} g_d^2 (-G^+(p')\gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 G^-(p)\gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2)
= \frac{i}{4} g_d^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-)(p_0 - E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)} \right) \\
+ \frac{(p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)(p_0 + E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \right) \left(1 + \frac{\vec{p}' \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \\
+ \left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-)(p_0 + E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \\
+ \frac{(p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)(p_0 - E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(1 - \frac{\vec{p}' \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \right] \\
\equiv \frac{i}{4} g_d^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(A_{dd^*} B_{dd^*} + C_{dd^*} D_{dd^*} \right).$$
(3.75)

We work out the case q = 0

$$\Gamma_{dd^*}(0) = \frac{i}{2} g_d^2 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{p_0^2 - (E_p^-)^2}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} + \frac{p_0^2 - (E_p^+)^2}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} \right)$$
$$= \frac{i}{2} g_d^2 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2} + \frac{1}{p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2} + \frac{|\Delta|^2}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{|\Delta|^2}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} g_d^2 I_2 - \frac{1}{2} g_d^2 |\Delta|^2 I_0. \tag{3.76}$$

The first order time derivative is written as

$$\partial_{0}\Gamma_{dd^{*}}|_{q=0} = \frac{i}{2}g_{d}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\left(\frac{E_{p}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{E_{p}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} \right) + \left(\frac{\mu}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{\mu}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} \right) \right],$$
(3.77)

where the first term is evaluated as

$$\frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} - \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} = \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2 - 4\mu E_p)^2} - \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2 + 4\mu E_p)^2} \\ = \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} \left(1 + 2\frac{4\mu E_p}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2}\right) \\ - \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} \left(1 - 2\frac{4\mu E_p}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2}\right) \\ 2 \left(\frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} - \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2}\right) = 8\mu E_p^2 \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^3} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^3}\right) \\ \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} - \frac{E_p}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} = -3\mu \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2}\right).$$
(3.78)

Thus,

$$\partial_0 \Gamma_{dd^*}|_{q=0} = g_d^2 \mu I_0. \tag{3.79}$$

The second order derivative is written as

$$\partial_{0}\partial_{0}\Gamma_{dd^{*}}(q)|_{q=0} = ig_{d}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{-2p_{0}(p_{0} - (E_{p}^{-})) - (p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{-})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{-2p_{0}(p_{0} + (E_{p}^{+})) - (p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{+})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{4p_{0}^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{D}^{-})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{4}} + \frac{4p_{0}^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{+})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{4}} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2}g_{d}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}g_{d}^{2} I_{0}. \qquad (3.80)$$

The first order space derivative is given by $2A'_{dd^*}$ and the second order derivative is $2A''_{dd^*}$.
We work out the space derivatives of A_{dd^*} :

$$\begin{split} A'_{dd*} &= p'^{i} \left(\frac{p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p'}(p_{0}^{'2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})} + \frac{-(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+})}{E_{p'}(p_{0}^{'2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} \right. \\ &+ \frac{2(1 - \mu(E_{p'})^{-1})(p_{0}' + E_{p'}^{-})(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-})}{(p_{0}^{'2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} + \frac{2(1 + \mu(E_{p'})^{-1})(p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+})}{(p_{0}^{'2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})} + \frac{2(1 + \mu(E_{p'})^{-1})(p_{0}' - E_{p'}^{+})(p_{0} + E_{p}^{+})}{(p_{0}^{'2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta'}^{+})^{2})} \right), \end{split}$$
(3.81)
$$A''_{dd*} &= \delta^{ij} \left(\frac{p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{2(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{-})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{2(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{-})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{4(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{4(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{3}} + \frac{4(p_{0} - E_{p}^{-})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{8(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{4}} \right)$$
$$^{i} \equiv \frac{p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{p_{0} + E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{2}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{p_{0} + E_{p}^{+}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}}{E_{p}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{p_{0} - E_{p}^{-}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{2}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} \\ = \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}}. \end{split}$$

Since A'_{dd^*} is odd function of p, the first derivative vanishes. The second order derivative is written as

$$\partial_i \partial_j \Gamma_{dd^*}|_{q=0} = -\frac{1}{2} g_d^2 I_0 \delta_{ij}.$$
(3.83)

The result of the second order derivative of Γ_{dd^*} is

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Gamma_{dd^{*}}(q)|_{q=0} = \frac{1}{2}g_{d}^{2}I_{0}g_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (3.84)

We consider d^*d term:

$$\Gamma_{d^*d}(q) = \frac{i}{4} g_d^2 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(-G^-(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 G^+(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \right) \\
= \frac{i}{4} g_d^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p'_0 - E_{p'})(p_0 + E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 + (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \\
+ \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+)(p_0 - E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \right) \left(1 + \frac{\vec{p'} \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \\
+ \left(\frac{(p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)(p_0 - E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \\
+ \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+)(p_0 + E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(1 - \frac{\vec{p'} \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \right],$$
(3.85)

and its time derivative

$$\partial_{0}\Gamma_{d^{*}d}(q)|_{q=0} = \frac{i}{2}g_{d}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\left(\frac{E_{p}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} - \frac{E_{p}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right) - \left(\frac{\mu}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{\mu}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \right) \right].$$
(3.86)

Thus,

$$\partial_0 \Gamma_{d^*d}(q)|_{q=0} = -g_d^2 \mu I_0 \tag{3.87}$$

in the same way as dd^* . Note that $\Gamma_{d^*d}(q)$ gives the same result as $\Gamma_{dd^*}(q)$ except for $\partial_0 \Gamma_{d^*d}(q)|_{q=0}$.

Since the diquarks are baryons, the diquark condensation break the baryon charge symmetry. The existence of the condensation arise the mixing terms dd and d^*d^* . We work out the diquark mixing terms dd and d^*d^* . The dd term is

$$\Gamma_{dd}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} g_d^2 H^+(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 H^+(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2$$

$$= \frac{i}{4} g_d^4 (\Delta_0^*)^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{1}{(p_0'^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{1}{(p_0'^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(1 + \frac{\vec{p}' \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) + \left(\frac{1}{(p_0'^2 - E_{\Delta'}^+)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} + \frac{1}{(p_0'^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \right) \left(1 - \frac{\vec{p}' \cdot \vec{p} + m^2}{E_{p'} E_p} \right) \right].$$
We also find the probability of the set of the s

We work out the q = 0 case:

$$\Gamma_{dd}(0) = \frac{i}{2} g_d^4(\Delta_0^*)^2 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right)$$

= $-\frac{1}{2} g_d^4(\Delta_0^*)^2 I_0.$ (3.89)

Similarly,

$$\Gamma_{d^*d^*}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} g_d^2 H^-(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 H^-(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2, \qquad (3.90)$$

$$\Gamma_{d^*d^*}(0) = -\frac{1}{2}g_d^4(\Delta_0)^2 I_0.$$
(3.91)

All the derivative terms are convergence. While we have defined a notation $g_d^2 |\Delta_0|^2 = |\Delta|^2$, the $g_d^2 (\Delta_0)^2$ and $g_d^2 (\Delta_0^*)^2$ are not expressed by $|\Delta|^2$.

The diquark-baryon part in the second order is given as

$$\mathcal{L}_{diq}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} g_d^2 I_0 \left(\partial^{\mu} d(x) \right) \left(\partial_{\mu} d^*(x) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(M_d^2 - 2g_d^2 (I_2 - |\Delta|^2 I_0) \right) d(x) d^*(x) - i g_d^2 I_0 \mu (d^*(x) \partial_0 d(x) - d(x) \partial_0 d^*(x)) - \frac{1}{2} g_d^4 I_0 (\Delta_0^*)^2 (d(x))^2 - \frac{1}{2} g_d^4 I_0 (\Delta_0)^2 (d^*(x))^2,$$
(3.92)

with the mass

$$m_d^2 = M_d^2 - 2g_d^2 (I_2 - |\Delta|^2 I_0).$$
(3.93)

3.3.4 Mixing Terms

Since the sigma meson and diquark-baryons are the scalar and due to the PG symmetry, they mix each other through the condensation. This property appears in the Lagrangian as mixing terms proportional to the condensation.

We work out the ds term:

$$\Gamma_{ds}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(-g_0 g_d\right) \left(G^+(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 H^+(p) + H^+(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 G^-(p)\right) \\
= \frac{i}{4} g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-) - (p_0 - E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} + \frac{(p_0 + E_p^+) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} + \frac{m}{E_p}\right) \\
+ \left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-) - (p_0 + E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{(p_0 - E_p^-) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} - \frac{m}{E_p}\right) \right],$$
(3.94)

in the q = 0 case

$$\Gamma_{ds}(0) = ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{m}{E_p} \left(\frac{E_p^-}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} + \frac{E_p^+}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} \right) = ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* m \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} \right) = -g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* m I_0.$$
(3.95)

We work out the *sd* term:

$$\Gamma_{sd}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} (-g_0 g_d) \left(H^+(p') G^+(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 + G^-(p') H^+(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \right)
= \frac{i}{4} g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p_0 + E_p^-) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)} + \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+) - (p_0 - E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} + \frac{m}{E_p} \right)
+ \left(\frac{(p_0 - E_p^+) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+) - (p_0 + E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} - \frac{m}{E_p} \right) \right],$$
(3.96)

in the q = 0 case

$$\Gamma_{sd}(0) = ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{m}{E_p} \left(\frac{E_p^-}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} + \frac{E_p^+}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} \right)$$
$$= ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* \operatorname{mtr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} \right)$$
$$= -g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0^* m I_0. \tag{3.97}$$

We work out the d^*s term:

$$\Gamma_{d^*s}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} g_0 g_d \left(G^-(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 H^-(p) + H^-(p') \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 G^+(p) \right) = \frac{i}{4} g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+) - (p_0 - E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)} + \frac{(p_0 + E_p^-) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} + \frac{m}{E_p} \right) + \left(\frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^+) - (p_0 + E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} + \frac{(p_0 - E_p^+) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} - \frac{m}{E_p} \right) \right],$$
(3.98)

in the q = 0 case

$$\Gamma_{d^*s}(0) = ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{m}{E_p} \left(\frac{E_p^+}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{E_p^-}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right) \\
= ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 m \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right) \\
= -g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 m I_0.$$
(3.99)

We work out the sd^* term:

$$\Gamma_{sd^*}(q) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} g_0 g_d \left(H^-(p') G^-(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 + G^+(p') H^-(p) \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \right)
= \frac{i}{4} g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(p_0 + E_p^+) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)} \right)
+ \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-) - (p_0 - E_p^-)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} + \frac{m}{E_p} \right)
+ \left(\frac{(p_0 - E_p^-) - (p'_0 - E_{p'}^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)} \\
+ \frac{(p'_0 + E_{p'}^-) + (p_0 + E_p^+)}{(p'_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^-)^2)(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta'}^+)^2)} \right) \left(\frac{m}{E_{p'}} - \frac{m}{E_p} \right) \right],$$
(3.100)

in the q = 0 case

$$\Gamma_{sd^*}(0) = ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{m}{E_p} \left(\frac{E_p^+}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{E_p^-}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right)$$
$$= ig_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 m \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^+)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_\Delta^-)^2)^2} \right)$$
$$= -g_0 g_d^2 \Delta_0 m I_0. \tag{3.101}$$

All the derivative terms converge.

The effective Lagrangian at order k = 2 can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{2} g_0^2 I_0 (\partial_\mu \vec{\pi}(x))^2 - \frac{1}{2} m_\pi^2 \vec{\pi}^2(x) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} g_0^2 I_0 (\partial_\mu s(x))^2 - \frac{1}{2} m_s^2 s^2(x) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} g_d^2 I_0 (\partial^\mu d^*(x)) (\partial_\mu d(x)) - \frac{1}{2} m_d^2 d^*(x) d(x) \\ &- i g_d^2 I_0 \mu(d^*(x) \partial_0 d(x) - d(x) \partial_0 d^*(x)) - \frac{1}{2} g_d^4 I_0 (\Delta_0^{*2} d^2(x) + \Delta_0^2 d^{*2}(x)) \\ &- 2 g_0 g_d^2 I_0 m s(x) (\Delta_0^* d(x) + \Delta_0 d^*(x)). \end{aligned}$$
(3.102)

The Lagrangian density has mass dimension 4, and I_0 and I_2 have mass dimensions 0 and 2, respectively. Hence when I_0 appears in the coefficients there are factors of mass dimension 2 such as squares of the derivative ∂_{μ} , the chemical potential μ , the quark mass m and the gap energy Δ_0 and Δ_0^* . The pion term has a simple form due to the pseudo-scalar nature of the pion field, while the scalar boson s(x) couples to the diquark-baryon fields through the diquark condensates.

3.4 The Coupling Terms (k=3)

The coupling vertices involving combinations of three mesons or diquark fields are obtained from the third-order term:

$$U^{(3)} = -\frac{i}{6} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{S}\hat{K})^{3} = -\frac{i}{6} \operatorname{tr}(A^{3} + ABC + BCA + CAB + CBD + BDC + DCB + D^{3}).$$
(3.103)

Non-local terms with derivatives of hadron fields converge, and $U^{(3)}$ is constructed with only local terms. This term generates leading combinations of G^{\pm} and H^{\pm} with γ_5 . With the principle of taking only the divergent integrals, the possible combinations are GGG or GGH with γ_5 . From dimensional analysis, the coupling constant should have mass dimension one. Thus for baryon-number conserving channels, the relevant factor is m. For baryon-number nonconserving channels the factors are Δ_0 or Δ_0^* . Hence, the terms for baryon-number conserving channels are generated from GGG and the terms for baryon-number non-conserving channels are generated from GGH. We drop the π^2 therms since that terms will generate same coefficients as the s^2 and the first order π has to vanish due to the odd γ_5 . Even they are dropped, we find 32 terms as:

$$\begin{split} (SK)^{3} &= -g_{0}^{3}(G^{+}G^{+}G^{+} + G^{-}G^{-}G^{-})s^{3} \\ &- g_{0}g_{d}^{2}(G^{+}G^{+}H^{'-}\gamma_{5} + G^{+}H^{'-}\gamma_{5}G^{+} + H^{'-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}G^{+} \\ &+ G^{+}H^{'-}G^{-}\gamma_{5} + H^{'-}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}H^{'-} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}H^{'-}G^{-} \\ &+ H^{'-}G^{-}G^{-}\gamma_{5} + G^{-}G^{-}\gamma_{5}H^{'-})s^{2}d^{*} \\ &+ g_{0}^{2}g_{d}(G^{+}G^{+}\gamma_{5}H^{'+} + G^{+}\gamma_{5}H^{'+}G^{+} + H^{'+}G^{+}G^{+}\gamma_{5} \\ &+ H^{'+}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-} + G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}H^{'+} + G^{-}H^{'+}G^{+}\gamma_{5} \\ &+ H^{'+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}G^{-} + G^{-}H^{'+}\gamma_{5}G^{-} + G^{-}G^{-}H^{'+}\gamma_{5})s^{2}d \\ &+ g_{0}g_{d}^{2}(G^{+}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}G^{+}\gamma_{5} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}G^{+}\gamma_{5} \\ &+ G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}G^{-}\gamma_{5}H^{'-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5})sdd^{*} \\ &+ g_{d}^{3}(H^{'-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5} + H^{'+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}H^{'-}\gamma_{5})dd^{*2} \\ &- g_{d}^{3}(G^{+}\gamma_{5}H^{'+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5} + H^{'+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5} + G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}H^{'+}\gamma_{5})d^{2}d^{*}. \end{split}$$
(3.104)

where we have used

$$H'^{+} = -\frac{g_d \Delta_0^*}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \gamma_5 \tilde{\Lambda}_{+} - \frac{g_d \Delta_0^*}{p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^{\pm})^2} \gamma_5 \tilde{\Lambda}_{-} .$$
(3.105)

Taking trace

$$-\frac{i}{6} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{S}\hat{K})^{3} = -2g_{0}^{3}I_{0}ms^{3} - g_{0}g_{d}^{2}I_{0}\Delta_{0}s^{2}d^{*} - g_{0}g_{d}^{2}I_{0}\Delta^{*}s^{2}d -2g_{0}g_{d}^{2}I_{0}msdd^{*} - g_{d}^{4}I_{0}\Delta_{0}dd^{*2} - g_{d}^{4}I_{0}\Delta_{0}^{*}d^{2}d^{*}, \qquad (3.106)$$

The final result for the k = 3 part of the effective Lagrangian is:

$$\mathcal{L}^{(3)} = -2g_0 I_0 m \left[g_0^2 s^3(x) + g_0^2 s(x) \vec{\pi}^2(x) + g_d^2 d^*(x) d(x) s(x) \right] - g_d^2 I_0 \left[g_0^2 (s^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x)) (\Delta_0 d^*(x) + \Delta_0^* d(x)) + g_d^2 d^*(x) d(x) (\Delta_0 d^*(x) + \Delta_0^* d(x)) \right].$$
(3.107)

Since the constituent quark mass is defined $m = m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0$, the coupling constants for each terms have the condensations $g_0 \sigma_0$, $g_d \Delta_0$ and $g_d \Delta_0^*$ and dimension one together with the dimensionless integral I_0 . Obviously, the vacuum transition s^3 and sdd^* channels conserve the baryon number and the others do not conserve.

3.5 The Interaction Terms (k=4)

Four-point interaction terms involving mesons and diquarks derive from the fourth-order term,

$$U^{(4)} = \frac{i}{8} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{S}\hat{K})^4 .$$
(3.108)

The non-local pieces converge. By examination it turns out that only the possible combination is GGGG with γ_5 and the coupling constants are dimensionless. The non-zero combinations

are s^4 , $\vec{\pi}^4$, $(dd^*)^2$, $s^2\vec{\pi}^2$, s^2dd^* and $\vec{\pi}dd^*$ due to the number of γ_5 . Out of many terms that appear we give here a generic example:

$$U_{\pi}^{(4)} = \frac{i}{8} g_0^4 \text{tr}_{fcs} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} (G^+ \gamma_5 G^+ \gamma_5 G^+ \gamma_5 G^+ \gamma_5 G^+ \gamma_5 G^- \gamma_5 G^- \gamma_5 G^- \gamma_5 G^- \gamma_5) \vec{\pi}^4 .$$
(3.109)

The first and second terms generate many terms. The point of calculation is to take trace for spinor. The products of gamma matrices and propagators are worked out by the trace formulas for instance as follows:

$$\operatorname{tr}_{s}\Lambda_{-}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5}\Lambda_{+}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5}\Lambda_{-}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5}\Lambda_{+}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5} = \operatorname{tr}_{s}\Lambda_{-} = 2,$$

$$\operatorname{tr}_{s}\Lambda_{+}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5}\Lambda_{-}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5}\Lambda_{+}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5}\Lambda_{-}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{5} = \operatorname{tr}_{s}\Lambda_{+} = 2,$$

$$(3.110)$$

and all the other terms vanish. From the first term one finds:

$$\operatorname{tr}_{s}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5} = 2\frac{(p_{0} + E_{p}^{-})^{2}(p_{0} - E_{p}^{+})^{2}}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}} \times 2$$
$$= 2\left(\frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{-})^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p_{0}^{2} - (E_{\Delta}^{+})^{2})^{2}}\right).$$
(3.111)

The same result is obtained from the second term of Eq. (3.109), hence the result of the complete $\vec{\pi}^4$ term is

$$U_{\pi}^{(4)} = \frac{i}{2} g_0^4 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} \right) \vec{\pi}^4$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} g_0^4 I_0 \vec{\pi}^4. \tag{3.112}$$

Consider another example, the combination involving $\vec{\pi}^2 dd^*$, which has 12 terms of the form GGGG as

$$U_{\vec{\pi}^{2}dd^{*}}^{(4)} = \frac{i}{8}g_{0}g_{d}^{2} \text{tr}_{fcs} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{5}G^{-}\gamma_{5}G^{+}\gamma_{$$

As we found, the non-zero terms come from only the two products as Eq. (3.110) and the result is Eq. (3.111). In the 12 terms, the 4 terms have minus sign and the 8 terms have plus sign, hence the 4 terms are remained. Thus we obtain

$$U_{\vec{\pi}^2 dd^*}^{(4)} = \frac{i}{8} g_0 g_d^2 \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} 4 \times 2 \left(\frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^-)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - (E_{\Delta}^+)^2)^2} \right) \vec{\pi}^2 dd^*$$

= $-g_0^2 g_d^2 I_0 \vec{\pi}^2 dd^*.$ (3.114)

Thus, the 4th order of the fields s^4 , $\vec{\pi}^4$ and $(dd^*)^2$ generate $-\frac{1}{2}I_0$ and $s^2\vec{\pi}^2$, s^2dd^* and $\vec{\pi}dd^*$ generate $-I_0$. The final expression for the k = 4 part of the effective Lagrangian is:

$$\mathcal{L}^{(4)} = -g_0^4 I_0 s^2(x) \vec{\pi}^2(x) - g_0^2 g_d^2 I_0(s^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x)) d^*(x) d(x) - \frac{1}{2} g_0^4 I_0(s^4(x) + \vec{\pi}^4(x)) - \frac{1}{2} g_d^4 I_0 d^{*2}(x) d^2(x) = -\frac{1}{2} I_0 \left[g_0^2(s^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x)) + g_d^2 d^*(x) d(x) \right]^2.$$
(3.115)

It generates interactions between diquarks, scalar mesons and pions in all possible combinations.

3.6 Identification with a Generalized Linear Sigma Model

The limiting case of exact Pauli-Gürsey symmetry in color SU(2) is realized with $g_0 = g_d$ and $M_s = M_d$. The fourth order Lagrangian density is written as

$$\mathcal{L}^{(4)} = -\frac{1}{2}g_0^4 I_0(s^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x) + d^*(x)d(x))^2 .$$
(3.116)

This form and the structure of the other terms suggest, not surprisingly, that the hadron Lagrangian is related to a generalized linear σ model. To demonstrate this, we introduce a fourthorder extended σ model Lagrangian density with σ , $\vec{\pi}$, Δ and Δ^* fields:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{(4)} = -\frac{1}{2}g_0^4 I_0(\sigma^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x) + \Delta^*(x)\Delta(x))^2 .$$
(3.117)

Separating again mean fields and fluctuations by the relations $\sigma = \sigma_0 + s(x)$ and $\Delta = \Delta_0 + d(x)$ together with its complex conjugate, one finds

$$\sigma^{2}(x) + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x) + \Delta^{*}(x)\Delta(x) = (\sigma_{0} + s(x))^{2} + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x) + (\Delta_{0} + d(x))(\Delta_{0}^{*} + d^{*}(x))$$

$$= \sigma_{0}^{2} + \Delta_{0}\Delta_{0}^{*} + 2\sigma_{0}s(x) + \Delta_{0}d^{*}(x) + \Delta_{0}^{*}d(x)$$

$$+ s^{2}(x) + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x) + d^{*}(x)d(x) , \qquad (3.118)$$

and the 4-th order Lagrangian (3.117) is rewritten as:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{(4)} &= -\frac{1}{2} g_{0}^{4} I_{0} [v_{0}^{4} + 2v_{0}^{2} (2\sigma_{0}s(x) + \Delta_{0}d^{*}(x) + \Delta_{0}^{*}d(x)) \\ &+ 2v_{0}^{2} (s^{2}(x) + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x) + d^{*}(x)d(x)) + 4\sigma_{0}^{2}s^{2}(x) + 2|\Delta_{0}|^{2}d^{*}(x)d(x) \\ &+ \Delta_{0}^{2}d^{*2}(x) + \Delta_{0}^{*2}d^{2}(x) + 4\sigma_{0}\Delta_{0}s(x)d^{*}(x) + 4\sigma_{0}\Delta_{0}^{*}s(x)d(x) \\ &+ 4\sigma_{0}(s^{3}(x) + s(x)d^{*}(x)d(x) + s(x)\vec{\pi}^{2}(x)) \\ &+ 2\Delta_{0}(d^{*2}(x)d(x) + s^{2}(x)d^{*}(x) + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x)d^{*}(x)) \\ &+ 2\Delta_{0}^{*}(d^{*}(x)d^{2}(x) + s^{2}(x)d(x) + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x)d(x)) \\ &+ (s^{2}(x) + \vec{\pi}^{2}(x) + d^{*}(x)d(x))^{2}], \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.119)$$

where we have defined $\sigma_0^2 + |\Delta_0|^2 = v_0^2$.

Hence one can write the hadron Lagrangian in the compact form of a generalized linear σ model with inclusion of diquark fields:

$$\mathcal{L}_{E\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} g_0^2 I_0 \left[(\partial_\nu \vec{\pi}(x))^2 + (\partial_\nu \sigma(x))^2 + |(\partial_\nu - 2i\mu\delta_{\nu 0})\Delta(x)|^2 \right] - \frac{1}{2} (M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4g_0^2 I_0 \mu^2) (\sigma^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x) + \Delta^*(x)\Delta(x)) - \frac{1}{2} g_0^4 I_0 \left[(\sigma^2(x) + \vec{\pi}^2(x) + \Delta^*(x)\Delta(x)) - v_0^2 \right]^2 .$$
(3.120)

In order to write the Lagrangian in this form, we have added $-2g_0^2 I_0 \mu^2 \Delta^* \Delta$ to the mass term and combine with the $\sigma^2 + \vec{\pi}^2$ terms to arrive at the compact symmetric mass term shown in the second line. We then add the counter part, $+2g_0^2 I_0 \mu^2 \Delta^* \Delta$, to the kinetic energy term proportional to $(\partial_{\nu} \Delta^*)(\partial^{\nu} \Delta)$ and arrive at the compact form $\frac{1}{2}g_0^2 I_0 |(\partial_{\nu} - 2i\mu\delta_{\nu 0})\Delta|^2$. Since the diquark-baryon is constructed by two quarks (qq) and the antidiquark-baryon is by two antiquarks $(\bar{q}\bar{q})$, the baryon chemical potential can be written $\mu_B = 2\mu$ which appears in the kinetic term of the diquarks.

Consider next the explicit chiral symmetry breaking term. Obviously, we have a term linear in the scalar field, $2g_0m_0(I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0)s$, which is proportional to the bare quark mass. This suggests the explicit chiral symmetry breaking term of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{SB} = 2g_0 m_0 (I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0) \sigma(x). \tag{3.121}$$

This term provides a new mean-field mass equation including explicit chiral symmetry breaking,

$$-M_s^2 \sigma_0 + 2g_0 (m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0) (I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0) = 0.$$
(3.122)

Self-consistent solution of this gap equation determines the dynamical quark mass, $m = m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0$, that appears also in the integrals I_2 and I_0 .

3.7 Renormalization

The hadron Lagrangian (3.120) extracted from the NJL model involves the divergent quark loop integrals I_2 and I_0 . The NJL approach is valid for quark momenta below a characteristic scale, $\Lambda \sim 0.6$ [GeV], at which the integrals are cut off in practice. Nonetheless, when written in the form (3.120) as a generalized linear sigma model, renormalization has to be performed. We follow the Eguchi method [42]. The kinetic term implies the wave function renormalization,

$$g_{0}^{2}I_{0} = Z_{M}^{-1}$$

$$\sigma = Z_{M}^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma_{R} \quad \vec{\pi} = Z_{M}^{\frac{1}{2}}\vec{\pi}_{R}$$

$$\Delta = Z_{M}^{\frac{1}{2}}\Delta_{R} \quad \Delta^{*} = Z_{M}^{\frac{1}{2}}\Delta_{R}^{*} . \qquad (3.123)$$

The mass renormalization condition is

$$M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4g_0^2 I_0 \mu^2 = 0. ag{3.124}$$

The coupling constant renormalization is written as

$$2g_0^4 I_0 = Z_\lambda^{-1} \lambda_0 ,$$

$$\lambda = Z_M^2 Z_\lambda^{-1} \lambda_0 .$$
(3.125)

The mean field is renormalized as

$$v = Z_M^{\frac{1}{2}} v_0 , \qquad (3.126)$$

and the explicit chiral symmetry breaking term is renormalized as

$$2g_0 m_0 (I_2 - 2\mu^2 I_0) = Z_{SB}^{-1} \varepsilon_0$$

$$\varepsilon = Z_M^{\frac{1}{2}} Z_{SB}^{-1} \varepsilon_0 . \qquad (3.127)$$

When expressed in terms of renormalized fields and couplings, the effective Lagrangian (3.120) reads:

$$\mathcal{L}_{E\sigma SB} = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\partial_{\nu} \vec{\pi}_{R}(x))^{2} + (\partial_{\nu} \sigma_{R}(x))^{2} + |(\partial_{\nu} - i\mu_{B}\delta_{\nu0})\Delta_{R}(x)|^{2} \right] - \frac{\lambda}{4} \left[\sigma_{R}^{2}(x) + \vec{\pi}_{R}^{2}(x) + \Delta_{R}^{*}(x)\Delta_{R}(x) - v^{2} \right]^{2} + \varepsilon \sigma_{R}(x).$$
(3.128)

Together with the quark term, we have now a consistent Lagrangian to derive the thermodynamical potential for the interacting quark-hadron system. The hadron dynamics itself is governed by the generalized linear σ model Lagrangian (3.128). The explicit chiral symmetry breaking term, $\varepsilon \sigma_R$, is related to the bare quark mass m_0 . When the PG symmetry is not satisfied, the meson part and the diquark-baryon part are renormalized independently.

Chapter 4

Thermodynamics of Quark-Hadron Matter

We derived the quark mean field thermodynamical potential (the partition function) in Chapter 2 and the meson-diquark Lagrangian (extended linear sigma model) in Chapter 3. In this chapter we discuss properties of quark-hadron matter and compare with the lattice QCD result. First, we will discuss the phase structure at finite temperature and density in the mean field level by using the thermodynamical potential. At finite temperature, we include the Polyakov loop effect. Next, we discuss the hadron mass spectrum at finite temperature and density. The behavior of the mass at finite density can be found by analysis of the coupled mass matrix. We find the existence of the NG boson due to the spontaneous breaking of baryon number symmetry. Finally, the equation of state (EOS) for quark-hadron matter in various chemical potentials are discussed. The excitation of the NG boson called the Bogoliubov excitation may give the important contribution to matter property. The baryon density in the vacuum is also discussed. We will find our framework cannot reproduce the lattice calculation for the baryon density.

4.1 Thermodynamics of Mesons and Diquark-Baryons in the Gaussian Approximation

We now discuss the contributions of mesons and diquark-baryon fields to the thermodynamical potential, using the Gaussian approximation. The starting point is the extended linear σ model Lagrangian derived in the previous section. The whole Lagrangian is written as

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{MF} + \mathcal{L}_{hadron} . \tag{4.1}$$

The mean field part has been worked out previously to provide the thermodynamical potential Ω_{MF} . The extended linear σ model includes hadron fields up to fourth order. The complete integrations over the hadron fields cannot be performed to this order. In the present work we restrict ourselves to the Gaussian approximation [77], taking only the second order (mass) terms into account and perform the hadron integrals for the partition function as

$$Z = Z_q \int \mathcal{D}s \mathcal{D}\vec{\pi} \mathcal{D}d\mathcal{D}d^* \exp\left(i \int d^4x \mathcal{L}_{hadron}^{(2)}\right) , \qquad (4.2)$$

with

$$Z_{q} = \exp\left(-\frac{V}{T}\Omega_{MF}\right),$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{hadron}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}\vec{\pi})^{2} - \frac{1}{2}m_{\pi}^{2}\vec{\pi}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}s)^{2} - \frac{1}{2}m_{s}^{2}s^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}(\partial^{\mu}d^{*})(\partial_{\mu}d) - \frac{1}{2}m_{d}^{2}d^{*}d - i\mu(d^{*}\partial_{0}d - d\partial_{0}d^{*})$$

$$- \frac{1}{2}\Delta^{*2}d^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\Delta^{2}d^{*2} - 2m\Delta^{*}sd - 2m\Delta sd^{*}.$$
(4.3)

Here we have used the renormalized fields but omitted the index R for simplicity. For further convenience, we have introduced $\Delta = g_d \Delta_0$ and $\Delta^* = g_d \Delta_0^*$ in the above equation. The renormalized masses are defined as

$$m_{\pi}^{2} = \left[M_{s}^{2} - 2g_{0}^{2}(I_{2} - 2I_{0}\mu^{2})\right] / (g_{0}^{2}I_{0}) ,$$

$$m_{s}^{2} = \left[M_{s}^{2} - 2g_{0}^{2}(I_{2} - 2I_{0}(\mu^{2} + m^{2}))\right] / (g_{0}^{2}I_{0}) ,$$

$$m_{d}^{2} = \left[M_{d}^{2} - 2g_{d}^{2}(I_{2} - I_{0}|\Delta|^{2})\right] / (g_{0}^{2}I_{0}) .$$
(4.4)

The meson and diquark-baryon masses (4.4) found by bosonization and renormalization are identical to the masses obtained by solving the corresponding Bethe-Salpeter equations taking only the divergent integrals I_0 and I_2 in the quark-loop integrals. Of course, the use of the Gaussian approximation means ignoring important interaction terms generated by $\mathcal{L}^{(3)}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{(4)}$.

The hadronic partition function is

$$Z_{hadron} = \int \mathcal{D}\Phi \mathcal{D}\vec{\pi} \exp\left(-S^{(2)}\right),$$

$$S^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{Q} \int d^{3}x \left[\Phi^{\dagger}(x)M_{n}(Q)\Phi(x) + \vec{\pi}^{\dagger}(x)N_{n}(Q)\vec{\pi}(x)\right], \qquad (4.5)$$

where $Q = (i\omega_n, \vec{q})$, with $\omega_n = 2\pi nT$ being the boson Matsubara frequency and $\sum_Q = T\sum_n \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3}$. The fields Φ are defined as $\Phi^T = (s, d, d^*)$ and $\vec{\pi}^T = (\pi^+, \pi^0, \pi^-)$. The matrix $M_n(Q)$ is the mass matrix in Euclidean space with $Q^2 = \vec{q}^2 + \omega_n^2$ and $Q_0 = i\omega_n$:

$$M_n(Q) = \begin{pmatrix} Q^2 + m_s^2 & 2m\Delta^* & 2m\Delta \\ 2m\Delta & \frac{1}{2}(Q^2 + m_d^2) - 2\mu Q_0 & \Delta^2 \\ 2m\Delta^* & \Delta^{*2} & \frac{1}{2}(Q^2 + m_d^2) + 2\mu Q_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.6)

On the other hand, the matrix $N_n(Q)$ of the pion term is diagonal and proportional to the identity matrix as

$$N_n^{ij}(Q) = \delta^{ij}(Q^2 + m_\pi^2) . ag{4.7}$$

A related study of the thermodynamical potential beyond the mean field approximation, including hadron contributions in the two-color NJL model by using the Gaussian approximation, has been performed by He [67]. The effect of the pair mode in condensed matter has been investigated by Diener *et al.* [77]. This method is applied to the NJL model and the effect of the hadrons is estimated by a perturbation method for the quark density [67]. An expansion of the $N_c = 3$ two-flavor PNJL model beyond mean field approximation has been reported in ref. [25].

4.2 Parameters

Our NJL model has three parameters the current quark mass m_0 , a quark loop momentum cutoff Λ and the coupling strength $G_0 = H_0$. The parameters are fixed at zero temperature and density. In the three color NJL model parameters are fixed from the experimental data which are the physical pion mass m_{π} and the pion decay constant f_{π} , and the chiral condensate $\langle \bar{\psi}_u \psi_u \rangle$ from the lattice QCD or QCD sum rule calculation. Following standard NJL relation [6–8, 64, 78]: The pion decay constant

$$f_{\pi}^2 = m^2 I_0^{\Lambda} \tag{4.8}$$

and the chiral condensate

$$\langle \bar{\psi}_u \psi_u \rangle = -m I_2^{\Lambda}, \tag{4.9}$$

where $\langle \bar{\psi}_u \psi_u \rangle^{1/3} \sim \langle \bar{\psi}_d \psi_d \rangle^{1/3}$. The current quark mass is fixed from the Gell-Mann, Oakes, Renner relation

$$m_{\pi}^2 = -\frac{m_0 \langle \psi \psi \rangle}{f_{\pi}^2}.$$
(4.10)

We have used the regularized divergent integrals I_2^{Λ} and I_0^{Λ} as the defined divergent integrals I_2 and I_0 at zero temperature and density with the cut-off Λ as

$$I_{2}^{\Lambda} = i \mathrm{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \theta(\Lambda^{2} - \vec{p}^{2}) \left(\frac{1}{p^{2} - m^{2} + i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{p^{2} - m^{2} + i\epsilon} \right)$$
$$= 2N_{f} N_{c} i \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\theta(\Lambda^{2} - \vec{p}^{2})}{p^{2} - m^{2} + i\epsilon},$$
(4.11)

$$I_0^{\Lambda} = -2N_f N_c i \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\theta(\Lambda^2 - \vec{p}^2)}{(p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon)^2}.$$
(4.12)

They depend on the color N_c , hence the pion decay constant and the chiral condensate depend on the color N_c and the pion mass does not depend on N_c . We use the parameters following Ref. [65], which shown in Table 4.1.

inputs	$\begin{vmatrix} f_{\pi} \\ 75.4 \text{ [MeV]} \end{vmatrix}$	$-\langlear\psi\psi angle^{1/3}$ 218 [MeV]	m_{π} 140 [MeV]
parameters	<i>m</i> ₀	Λ	$G_0 = H_0$
	5.4 [MeV]	657 [MeV]	7.23 [GeV ⁻²]

Table 4.1: The first line is physical quantities as inputs and the second line is fitted parameters of the model.

4.3 Polyakov Loop and Its Effective Poitential

For the discussion of the equation of state of quark-hadron matter, it is important to take into account the quark confinement effect. Some but not all aspects of confinement are treated by introducing the Polyakov loop as the order parameter of the deconfinement transition. The coupling of this Polyakov loop to the quark sector suppresses color non-singlet degree of freedom in the thermodynamics of the hadronic phase. However, this minimally necessary conditions does not yet account for the dynamical generation of localized color-singlet clusters as compact wave packets. This is a limitation that (so far) excludes a proper description of the hadron-to-quarks crossover at high density.

We adopt here the Fukushima method and add the Polyakov loop potential $U(\Phi[A], \Phi^*[A]; T)$ to the two-color NJL Lagrangian [22]. The derivative ∂^{μ} acting on the quark field is replaced by the covariant derivative $D^{\mu} = \partial^{\mu} - iA^{\mu}$. The temporal background color gauge field is introduced $A_4 = iA^0$ with $A^0 = gA_a^0 \frac{t_a}{2}$ and the SU(2) Pauli matrices $t_a(a = 1, 2, 3)$ in color space. In the Polyakov gauge this temporal gauge field is diagonal in the color space. For the SU(2) color group it is represented as $t_3\theta$ where θ is real.

The Polyakov loop potential U is written as [65]

$$U(\Phi, T) = -bT(24\Phi^2 e^{-\beta a} + \ln(1 - \Phi^2)), \qquad (4.13)$$

in terms of the trace of the Polyakov loop

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{N_c} \operatorname{tr} e^{i\beta A_4} = \cos(\beta\theta) .$$
(4.14)

The logarithmic term comes from the Haar measure in the SU(2) color space. The two parameters are taken from the discussion of Brauner *et al.* [65]. The critical temperature of the Polykov loop is set at $T_0(N_c = 3) = 270$ [MeV] for the pure gauge case without coupling to quarks. The parameter *a* is related to the critical temperature as $a = T_c \ln 24 = 858.1$ [MeV]. The parameter *b* is estimated by strong-coupling expansion of lattice QCD $b = (\sigma_s/a)^{1/3}$ where $\sigma_s = (425 \text{MeV})^2$ is the physical string tension, then we adopt $b^{1/3} = 210.5$ [MeV]. According to Ref. [79], the N_c -dependence of T_0 goes approximately as $T_0/\sqrt{\sigma} \simeq 0.6 + 0.45/N_c^2$, suggesting roughly a 10% difference between $T_0(N_c = 2)$ and $T_0(N_c = 3)$ that we can ignore.

The effect of the Polyakov loop implies the replacement

$$\ln(1 + e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^{+}}) \to \frac{1}{2}\ln(1 + 2\Phi e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^{+}} + e^{-2\beta E_{\Delta}^{+}}), \qquad (4.15)$$

in the thermodynamical potential. Hence, the Fermi function $n_F(E)$ in the mean field equation is replaced by

$$\tilde{n}_F(E) = \frac{1 + \Phi e^{\beta E}}{1 + 2\Phi e^{\beta E} + e^{2\beta E}} \,. \tag{4.16}$$

When the Polyakov loop $\Phi \to 0$, the function \tilde{n}_F obviously corresponds to the distribution function of two-particles, which means the two quarks survive as a composite colorless object and a single quark (colored particle) degree of freedom is suppressed. Hence, the $\Phi \to 0$ phase can be identified with the hadronic phase. On the other hand, when $\Phi \to 1$, a single quark degree of freedom is active, which can be considered as the deconfined phase. We note that, by construction, the effect of the Polyakov loop does not influence the physics at zero temperature but has a major impact on the order parameters for the chiral and deconfinement transitions, as demonstrated in the next section.

4.4 Phase Diagram and Order Parameters

The thermodynamical potential in the mean field approximation has the information of the phase structure and phase transition. The thermodynamical potential including the Polyakov loop effect is

$$\Omega_{MF} = -4 \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \left[E_{\Delta}^+ + E_{\Delta}^- + T \ln(1 + 2\Phi e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^+} + e^{-2\beta E_{\Delta}^+}) + T \ln(1 + 2\Phi e^{-\beta E_{\Delta}^-} + e^{-2\beta E_{\Delta}^-}) \right] \\ + \frac{(m - m_0)^2}{2G_0} + \frac{|\Delta|^2}{2H_0} - bT(24\Phi^2 e^{-\beta a} + \ln(1 - \Phi^2)),$$
(4.17)

where the dycamical quark mass $m = m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0$ and the diquark condensate $g_d |\Delta_0| = |\Delta|$ have been introduced. The dynamical quark mass m is determined selfconsistently

$$\frac{\partial \Omega_{MF}}{\partial m} = 0. \tag{4.18}$$

Since the current quark mass is small, we can identify the chiral condensate as quark mass $g_0\sigma_0 \simeq m$. The order parameters are determind by solving the gap equations

$$\frac{\partial \Omega_{MF}}{\partial m} = \frac{\partial \Omega_{MF}}{\partial |\Delta|} = \frac{\partial \Omega_{MF}}{\partial \Phi} = 0, \qquad (4.19)$$

namaly for chiral condensate:

$$4\int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{m}{E_p} \left[\frac{E_{\Delta}^+}{E_p^+} (1 - 2\tilde{n}_F(E_{\Delta}^+)) + \frac{E_{\Delta}^-}{E_p^-} (1 - 2\tilde{n}_F(E_{\Delta}^-)) \right] = \frac{m - m_0}{G_0}, \tag{4.20}$$

for diquark condensate:

$$4|\Delta| \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{1}{E_{\Delta}^+} (1 - 2\tilde{n}_F(E_{\Delta}^+)) + \frac{1}{E_{\Delta}^-} (1 - 2\tilde{n}_F(E_{\Delta}^-)) \right] = \frac{|\Delta|}{H_0},$$
(4.21)

and for Polyakov loop:

$$2\int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{1}{\Phi + \cosh(E_{\Delta}^+)} + \frac{1}{\Phi + \cosh(E_{\Delta}^-)} \right] = b\Phi\left(\frac{1}{1 - \Phi^2} - 24e^{-\beta a}\right).$$
(4.22)

The behavior of their order parameters at several situations are investigated.

Finite temperature $(T \neq 0)$ and zero chemical potential $(\mu = 0)$

It is known that the chiral and deconfinement transition are strongly correlated [22, 39]. To see this behavior in two color system, we show the numerical result of the chiral condensate and the Polyakov loop at finite temperature and zero chemical potential ($\mu = 0$) in comparison with the PNJL model and the NJL model in Fig. 4.1. The quark-Polyakov loop coupling is introduced in the PNJL model (Fig. 4.1(a)), while the NJL model, the quark and Polyakov loop behave independently (Fig. 4.1(b)). The Polyakov loop reproduces the pure gauge case in the NJL model case. Since the chiral condensate σ_0 does not go to zero exactly due to the small current quark mass m_0 , the chiral transition temperature is defined at $\sigma_c = \frac{1}{2}\sigma_0$ in the NJL model case. The critical temperature of the Polyakov loop is set at $T_0 = 270$ [MeV] for the pure gauge case without coupling to quarks as we mentioned. In the PNJL model case, the crossover temperatures of both order parameters defined at half of their full values are now $T_{\chi} \simeq T_{dec} \simeq 225$ [MeV].



Figure 4.1: The behaviors of the chiral condensate (solid line) and the Polyakov loop (dashed line) as functions of temperature at zero chemical potential, for the cases of the PNJL model and the NJL model in unit of $\sigma_0(T = 0)$.

(a): The PNJL model includes the quark-Polyakov loop coupling, in which the chiral and deconfinement transition are strongly correlated.

(b): The NJL model dose not have correlation, in which the behavior of the Polyakov loop corresponds the pure gauge case.

Zero temperature (T = 0) and finite chemical potential $(\mu \neq 0)$

The order parameters of our model are the chiral condensate σ_0 , the Polyakov loop Φ and the diquark condensate $|\Delta_0|$. The diquark condensate arises from the critical chemical potential μ_c (diquark transition). From the discussion of the symmetry [55] (or we will see in Sec. 4.7), the diquark transition occurs at the half pion mass, $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$, and the chiral transition occurs at the same time due to the PG symmetry. These condensations are calculated by lattice QCD [48,49]. Our numerical result of the chiral and diquark condensations as functions of the chemical potential at the zero temperature (T = 0) are shown in Fig. 4.2(a) and comparison with the lattice QCD result is made in Fig. 4.2(b) [64].

Chiral and diquark condensation

The phase boundary of the de-confinement transition ($\Phi \sim 0.5$) is insensitive to the chemical potential as discussed by Brauner *et al.* [65]. Hence, we plot in Fig. 4.3 only σ_0 and $|\Delta_0|$ for various chemical potentials as functions of temperature. The chiral condensate σ_0 shown by the top smooth curve ($\mu = 0$) in Fig. 4.3(a) stay unchanged until diquark condensate sets in at $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2 = 70$ [MeV]. The chiral condensate σ_0 at $\mu = 75$ [MeV] is depleted in the small temperature region, where the diquark condensate $|\Delta_0|$ is finite as shown in the right hand figure 4.3(b). This behavior continues as the chemical potential increases as shown for σ_0 and $|\Delta_0|$ at $\mu = 100$ and 200 [MeV] [55, 64]. These behaviors agree with the results shown in Fig. 3 of Ref. [65].



Figure 4.2: The chiral (solid line) and diquark (dashed line) condensation as a function of chemical potential in unit of $\sigma_0(T = 0)$. The left figure (a) is our calculation solving the gap equations. The right figure (b) quoted from Ref. [64] is lattice simulation by Ref. [49].



Figure 4.3: The chiral and diquark condensate for various chemical potentials as functions of temperature in units of $\sigma_0(T = 0)$. The solid line corresponds to $\mu = 0$ [MeV], the dashed line to $\mu = 75$ [MeV], the dotted line to $\mu = 100$ [MeV] and the dash-dotted line to $\mu = 200$ [MeV] in both. The chiral condensate decreases with the chemical potential μ increasing in contrast to the diquark condensate increases with μ .

Phase structure at finite chemical potential $\mu = 100$ [MeV]

We then explore the behavior of all order parameters as a function of temperature at finite chemical potential $\mu = 100$ [MeV] in Fig. 4.4. We observe the Polyakov loop is rather insensitive to the chemical potential by comparing the result in Fig. 4.4 ($\mu \neq 0$) with those in Fig. 4.1 ($\mu = 0$). The correlation of the diquark condensation and the Polyakov loop arise through the chiral condensation. Since in the NJL model the chiral condensation and the Polyakov loop are independent, the diquark condensation and the Polyakov loop are also independent.



Figure 4.4: The behavior of the chiral condensation (solid line), the Polyakov loop (dashed line) and the diquark condensation (dash-dotted line) as a function of temperature and finite chemical potential $\mu = 100$ [MeV] in comparison with PNJL model and the NJL model in unit of $\sigma_0(T = 0)$. The diquark condensation correlates the Polyakov loop through the chiral condensation in the PNJL model case.

4.5 BEC-BCS Crossover

Since the diquark-baryons are bosonic particles, and the diquark condensation, Bose-Einstein condensation (BEC), arise above the critical chemical potential $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$ as we mentioned. Further, the diquark-baryons are constructed from two-quarks (fermions) and hence they can form a Cooper pair for higher chemical potential ($\mu \gg \mu_c$). The transition from BEC state to BCS state is called BEC-BCS crossover.

It is known from the condensed matter physics that in the non-relativistic system the BEC and BCS states are distinguished by $\mu < 0$ and $\mu > 0$, respectively, where μ is the fermion chemical potential. In relativistic system (our system) their condensates are characterized by the fermionic excitation gap Δ_{ex} , defined as the minimum of the fermionic excitation energy $\Delta_{ex} =$ $\min\{E_{\Delta}^-, E_{\Delta}^+\}$. In the BCS state, the fermionic excitation energy has the gap $|\Delta|$ which is the solution of the diquark gap equation (4.21) and thus $\Delta_{ex} = |\Delta|$, which means the minimum of the quasi-particle excitation energy is located at finite momentum $|\vec{p}| \neq 0$. The Coorper paired fermions have a finite momentum $|\vec{p}| \neq 0$ with the opposite direction. On the other hand, in the BEC state, all the condensed particles (bosons) are located at the ground state. In this point of view, the fermionic excitation gap Δ_{ex} may be located at $|\vec{p}| = 0$. In our framework, the dynamical quark mass $m = m_0 + g_d \sigma_0$ and the diquark gap $|\Delta| = g_d |\Delta_0|$ in the fermionic excitation spectra $E_{\Delta}^{\pm} = \sqrt{(E_p \pm \mu)^2 + |\Delta|^2}$ $(E_p = \sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m^2})$ are functions of the chemical potential. As μ increases from $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$, the diquark gap $|\Delta|$ increases, and conversely the dynamical quark mass m decreases as shown in Fig. 4.2. Hence the location of the minimum of the quark excitation E_{Δ}^- can be determined by a comparison between the dynamical quark mass and the chemical potential. On the other hand, the minimum of the antiquark excitation E_{Δ}^+ may be always larger than the quark excitation E_{Δ}^- and can be neglected. Thus, The fermionic excitation gap Δ_{ex} can be defined by the minimum of the quark excitation $min\{E_{\Delta}^-\}$. The fermionic excitation energy gap can be evaluated as

$$\Delta_{ex} = \min\{E_{\Delta}^{-}, E_{\Delta}^{+}\} = \begin{cases} \sqrt{(m-\mu)^{2} + |\Delta|^{2}} & \mu < \mu_{0} \\ |\Delta| & \mu > \mu_{0} \end{cases},$$
(4.23)

where μ_0 is so-called the crossover point. When the chemical potential near the diquark transition point μ_c , the minimum of the quark excitation spectrum E_{Δ}^- is located at $|\vec{p}| = 0$. For very large chemical potential $\mu > \mu_0$ the minimum of E_{Δ}^- occurs at a finite $|\vec{p}| \simeq \mu$ since $m \to m_0$. This behavior is demonstrated in Fig. 4.5 showing the quasi-particle energy of quarks, $E_{\Delta}^-(\vec{p})$ at $\mu = 100$ [MeV] and at $\mu = 200$ [MeV]. At the chemical potential $\mu = 100$ [MeV], the minimum of the quasi-particle energy is at zero momentum. The quasi-particle energy E_{Δ}^- at $\mu = 200$ [MeV] has a minimum at finite momentum. The crossover point is insensitive to the temperature (see Fig. 4.3) as long as the diquark condensation is finite.



Figure 4.5: The quasi-particle energies of quark as functions of momentum $|\vec{p}|$ in unit MeV. The quasi-particle energy of quarks at $\mu = 100$ [MeV] (solid line) and at $\mu = 200$ [MeV] (dashed line) as functions of momentum p. The minimum is located at $|\vec{p}| = 0$ in BEC state $(\mu = 100$ [MeV]) and at $|\vec{p}| \simeq \mu$ in BCS state $(\mu = 200$ [MeV]).

We then show the comparison of the dynamical quark mass and the chemical potential in Fig. 4.6. The quark mass m starts to decrease from $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$, at this point the diquark condensation occurs, with $m > \mu$. Then the chemical potential exceeds the quark mass from $\mu \simeq 120$ [MeV], which is the crossover point μ_0 . Once the chemical potential μ exceeds the dynamical quark mass, $\mu \ge m$, the system undergoes the BEC-BCS crossover and turns into the BCS phase as μ increases further.



Figure 4.6: The dynamical quark mass m (solid line) vs. the chemical potential μ (dashed line). The diquark transition point is $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$ and the BEC-BCS crossover point corresponds to the crossing point, $\mu_0 \simeq 120$ [MeV].

4.6 The Behavior of Hadron Masses at Finite Temperature

The hadron mass spectrum can be described by analyzing the hadronic partition function Z_{hadron} in Eq. (4.5). We start with the mesons of the sigma and pion at finite temperature and zero chemical potential ($\mu = 0$). In this case, the diquark condensate is zero and there is no sigma-diquark mixing. The Lagrangian for each fields at this state can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial^{\mu} s(x) \right) - \frac{1}{2} m_{s}^{2} s^{2}(x), \qquad (4.24)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\pi}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \vec{\pi}(x))^2 - \frac{1}{2} m_{\pi}^2 \vec{\pi}^2(x), \qquad (4.25)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{diq}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial^{\mu} d^{*}(x)) (\partial_{\mu} d(x)) - \frac{1}{2} m_{d}^{2} d^{*} d, \qquad (4.26)$$

with the masses

$$m_s^2 = \left[M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4I_0 m^2 \right] / (g_0^2 I_0), \tag{4.27}$$

$$m_{\pi}^2 = \left[M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 \right] / (g_0^2 I_0), \tag{4.28}$$

$$m_d^2 = \left[M_d^2 - 2g_d^2 I_2 \right] / (g_0^2 I_0). \tag{4.29}$$

Obviously, the pion mass and the diquark mass coincide due to the PG symmetry, so we discuss the dispersion relation for the sigma and pion. The behavior of these masses is similar to that found in the SU(3) color NJL model. The only difference is the role of the Polyakov loop for two colors here as compared to the standard color SU(3). The effect of the Polyakov loop is included through the integrals I_2 and I_0 .

We show the sigma and pion masses as functions of temperature with and without the quark-Polyakov-loop coupling at zero chemical potential ($\mu = 0$) in Fig. 4.7. The explicit chiral symmetry breaking by the small quark mass, $m_0 = 5.4$ [MeV], gives the Nambu-Goldstone pion a small mass, $m_{\pi} = 140$ [MeV] at zero temperature, while the sigma mass, $m_s = 610$ [MeV] stays around twice the dynamical quark mass $m = m_0 + g_0 \sigma_0$. As the temperature increases, the pion mass starts to increase, while the sigma mass decreases until the temperature approaches the crossover temperature of about 180 [MeV]. The two masses meet at the crossover temperature and increase jointly as shown in Fig. 4.7(b).

When the quark-Polyakov-loop coupling is introduced, the pion mass increases earlier with temperature as shown in Fig. 4.7(a). The reason is that the chiral condensate σ_0 (or the quark mass m) drops more slowly with increasing temperature as shown in Fig. 4.1(a). The sigma mass stays almost constant up to the crossover temperature and then both the pion and sigma masses increase rapidly with increasing temperature.



Figure 4.7: The sigma (dashed line) and pion masses (solid line) in MeV as functions of temperature in MeV at zero chemical potential (μ =0).

(a): For the case of the PNJL model with coupling of the quarks and Polyakov loop.

(b): For the case of the NJL model with decoupled Polyakov loop.

4.7 The Behavior of Hadron Masses at Finite Chemical Potential

We analyze the behavior of the masses at finite chemical potential and zero temperature (T = 0). In the diquark condensed phase $\mu > m_{\pi}/2$, the mass matrix for the scalar fields has nondiagonal components. On the other hand, the pion does not depend on the other fields due to the its pseudo-scalar nature.

4.7.1 Pion

We first discuss the behavior of the pion mass at finite chemical potential. The renormalized pion mass is written as

$$m_{\pi}^{2} = (M_{s}^{2} - 2g_{0}^{2}I_{2} + 4g_{0}^{2}I_{0}\mu^{2})/(g_{0}^{2}I_{0}) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma_{0}}.$$
(4.30)

Consider the case of $|\Delta| = 0$ and define divergent integrals for $\mu = 0$ as:

$$I_2^0 = 2i \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p_0^2 - E_p^2} \quad I_0^0 = -2i \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{(p_0^2 - E_p^2)^2}.$$
 (4.31)

 I_2 for finite μ with $|\Delta| = 0$ is written in terms of I_2^0 and I_0^0

$$I_{2} = i \operatorname{tr}_{fc} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{+})^{2}} + \frac{1}{p_{0}^{2} - (E_{p}^{-})^{2}} \right)$$

= $I_{2}^{0} + 2\mu^{2} I_{0}^{0}.$ (4.32)

In the region of interest, $I_0 = I_0^0$ and m_π^2 becomes

$$m_{\pi}^2 = (M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2^0) / (g_0^2 I_0^0) \equiv m_{\pi 0}^2 .$$
(4.33)

Hence, the pion mass does not depend on μ for $|\Delta_0| = 0$. The pion mass stays constant at 140 [MeV] and proportional to the square root of the bare quark mass until the onset of diquark condensation.

The gap equation for the diquark with the Pauli-Gürsey symmetry $G_0 = H_0$ provides $g_0 = g_d$ and $M_s = M_d$ and therefore $M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 = 0$ for the finite $|\Delta_0|$. The pion mass becomes

$$m_{\pi}^2 = (M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4g_0^2 I_0 \mu^2) / (g_0^2 I_0) = (2\mu)^2.$$
(4.34)

This shows that the pion mass in the diquark condensed phase increases linearly with μ .

4.7.2 Diagonalization of Sigma and Diquark-Baryon Mass Matrix

The sigma meson mixes with diquark-baryons, and furthermore diquarks mix with each other, since the sigma and diquark Lagrangian density with kinetic and mass terms is written in a matrix form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{sd}^{M} = -\frac{1}{2} \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{2} + m_{s}^{2} & 2\Delta^{*}m & 2\Delta m \\ 2\Delta m & \frac{1}{2}(\partial^{2} + m_{d}^{2}) + 2i\mu\partial^{0} & \Delta^{2} \\ 2\Delta^{*}m & \Delta^{*2} & \frac{1}{2}(\partial^{2} + m_{d}^{2}) - 2i\mu\partial^{0} \end{pmatrix} \Phi , \qquad (4.35)$$

with the scalar fields representation $\Phi^t = (s, d, d^*)$. The (bare) diquark-baryon mass is given by:

$$m_d^2 = (M_d^2 - 2g_d^2 I_2 + 2g_d^2 I_0 |\Delta|^2) / (g_0^2 I_0) = \begin{cases} m_\pi^2 - 4\mu^2 & |\Delta| = 0 \\ 2|\Delta|^2 & |\Delta| \neq 0 \end{cases},$$
(4.36)

with the diquark gap equation $M_d^2 - 2g_d^2 I_2 = 0$ and $g_d = g_0$ for $|\Delta| \neq 0$. The (bare) sigma mass is larger than the pion mass, $m_s^2 = m_{\pi}^2 + 4m^2$, with *m* the dynamical quark mass:

$$m_s^2 = (M_s^2 - 2g_0^2 I_2 + 4g_0^2 I_0 \mu^2 + 4g_0^2 I_0 m^2) / (g_0^2 I_0) = m_\pi^2 + 4m^2.$$
(4.37)

We write the mass matrix in the momentum representation (Minkowski space) as

$$M(\omega, \vec{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} q^2 - m_s^2 & -2\Delta^* m & -2\Delta m \\ -2\Delta m & \frac{1}{2}(q^2 - m_d^2) + 2\mu\omega & -\Delta^2 \\ -2\Delta^* m & -\Delta^{*2} & \frac{1}{2}(q^2 - m_d^2) - 2\mu\omega \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.38)$$

where $q^2 = \omega^2 - \bar{q}^2$. The physical mass spectra for sigma, diquark and antidiquark are obtained solving the dispersion relation det $M(\omega, 0) = 0$ with respect to ω^2 .

Low chemical potential $\mu < \mu_c (|\Delta| = 0)$

Before sloving the complete solution of Eq. (4.38), we first analyze the case of $|\Delta| = 0$, in which there are no mixing terms. Hence, the sigma meson and the diquark (antidiquark) masses are determined independently. The sigma mass $m_s^2 = m_\pi^2 + 4m^2$ is obviously constant since the both of the pion mass and the dynamical quark mass are constant in this region. The physical diquark and anti-diquark dispersion in the case of $|\Delta| = 0$ are

$$\omega^2 - m_d^2 \pm 4\mu\omega = 0, \tag{4.39}$$

where the bare mass is $m_d^2 = m_{\pi}^2 - 4\mu^2$ and upper plus sign is for the diquark and lower minus sign for the anti-diquark. The solutions of Eq. (4.39) are

$$\omega = m_\pi \pm 2\mu, \tag{4.40}$$

where the diquark-baryon corresponds to $m_{\pi} - 2\mu$ and the antidiquark to $m_{\pi} + 2\mu$ since the baryon number is 1 and -1, respectively. As anticipated the diquark masses equal to the pion mass m_{π} at $\mu = 0$ due to the Pauli-Gürsey symmetry. The diquark and antidiquark masses vary linearly as functions of the baryon chemical potential $\mu_B = 2\mu$. This behavior can be understood by a simple picture. When $\mu_B = 0$, the bare diquark and antidiquark masses may be located at ± 140 [MeV] as measured from the vacuum as shown in Fig. 4.8. When $\mu_B \neq 0$, their excitation energies (ω_{Δ} and ω_{Δ^*}) change linearly by μ_B for the diquark and by $-\mu_B$ for the antidiquark. When the baryon chemical potential μ_B reaches the bare diquark mass m_d , the physical diquark mass ω_{Δ} becomes zero (NG boson) and the diquark condensation appears (BEC).



Figure 4.8: A schematic picture of the dispersions for the diquark and antidiquark. The bare diquark and antidiquark masses exist at ± 140 [MeV]. Their dispersions are measured from the fermi surface μ_B .

Without the mixing term

Now we consider the case of finite $|\Delta|$. In the absence of the sigma-diquark mixing term, $-2m\Delta^{(*)}$, the sigma meson indipendent with the diquarks. The sigma mass approaches the pion mass as the dynamical quark mass tends to zero due to the chiral symmetry restoration. In this case the diquark-antidiquark mass matrix become

$$D(\omega, \vec{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(q^2 - m_d^2) + 2\mu\omega & -\Delta^2\\ -\Delta^{*2} & \frac{1}{2}(q^2 - m_d^2) - 2\mu\omega \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.41)

The dispersion relation det $D(\omega, 0) = 0$ generates

$$\omega_{\Delta^*} = \sqrt{16\mu^2 + 4|\Delta|^2}, \tag{4.42}$$

$$\omega_{\Delta} = 0. \tag{4.43}$$

The physical diquark-baryon mass ω_{Δ} is zero. These behaviors are shown in Fig. 4.9(b).

With the mixing term

Finally, we investigate the dispersion for all scalar particles with the full mass matrix M in the diquark condensate phase. The sigma and diquarks masses are given by solving the dispersion relation det $M(\omega, 0) = 0$ as

$$\omega^{2} \left[\omega^{4} - 2\omega^{2} (2|\Delta|^{2} + 10\mu^{2} + 2m^{2}) + 16\mu^{2} (|\Delta|^{2} + 4\mu^{2} + 4m^{2}) \right] = 0,$$
(4.44)

with substituting $m_d^2 = 2|\Delta|^2$ and $m_s^2 = m_\pi + 4m^2 = 4\mu^2 + 4m^2$ in the diquark condensate phase. One trivial solution $\omega^2 = 0$ is the NG boson and the other solutions are

$$\omega^2 = 2|\Delta|^2 + 10\mu^2 + 2m^2 \pm \sqrt{(6\mu^2 + 2|\Delta|^2 + 2m^2)^2 - 48\mu^2 m^2}.$$
 (4.45)

In the limit of $|\Delta| \to 0$ at the onset of diquark condensation $(\mu = m_{\pi}/2)$ the dispersion Eq. (4.45) becomes

$$\omega^2 = \begin{cases} 4\mu^2 + 4m^2 = m_s^2\\ 16\mu^2 = 4m_\pi^2 \end{cases}$$
 (4.46)

The upper solution corresponds to the squared sigma mass m_s^2 (without mixing effect) and the lower one is the squared antidiquark mass at $\mu = m_{\pi}/2$. In the limit $m \to 0$ for large μ the dispersion Eq. (4.45) leads to the solutions

$$\omega^2 = \begin{cases} 4\mu^2 = m_\pi^2 \\ 16\mu^2 + 4|\Delta|^2 \end{cases}$$
 (4.47)

One solution represents the linearly increasing pion mass. The other one agrees with the squared antidiquark-baryon mass Eq. (4.42). Thus, the effect of the mixing terms disappears at very large μ .

4.7.3 Numerical Plot

We show in Fig. 4.9(a) the results of the diagonalized masses. The effect of the coupling of the sigma meson and the diquark-baryon is very large. When the coupling is neglected, the sigma mass drops slightly as μ approaches the crossover chemical potential $\mu \sim 150$ [MeV] and then increases together with the pion mass as shown in Fig. 4.9(b). At the same time, the antidiquark mass increases rapidly with the chemical potential after diquark condensation. On the other hand, in the case of strong scalar-diquark coupling, the quantum-mechanical "non-crossing" rule is at work. The sigma mass increases continuously and the antidiquark mass joins the slowly increasing pion mass.



Figure 4.9: The sigma (dotted line), pion (solid line), diquark (dash-dotted line) and antidiquark (dashed line) masses in MeV as functions of the chemical potential in MeV at zero temperature (T = 0).

- (a): For the case of full dispersion.
- (b): For the case of dispersion neglecting mixing term.

We show the lattice calculation result in Fig. 4.10 to compare with our result. Our diquark and antidiquark correspond to 0^+ . The authors [50] calculate the hadron mass spectrum in baryon-rich medium with the diquark source term. The pion mass behaves constant in the phase where the diquark condensate vanishes and linearly increasing in diquark condensed phase. The diquark and antidiquark behave linearly increasing and decreasing respectively with the chemical potential at low density. The antidiquark becomes massless NG boson in the "physical" limit at high density.

Thus, our analysis of the mass spectra agree with the lattice simulation and further we worked out the sigma meson and the diquark mass in the diquark condensed phase. These sigma and diquark mass behavior is interesting to check the lattice simulation because the "non-crossing" rule may arise in this region.

4.8 Equation of State of Quark-Hadron Matter

Next, consider the equation of state (EOS) of quark-hadron matter at various chemical potentials μ as functions of the temperature T. The pressure is given by the thermodynamical potential, $p = -\Omega$. For the case of only quarks, $\Omega = \Omega_{MF}$ (4.17), the pressure is essentially zero as shown by the thin solid line in Fig. 4.11(a) in the confined region (small temperature), and gradually increases with temperature as deconfinement sets in featuring the entanglement of chiral symmetry and Polyakov loop effects. Finally the pressure becomes large at high temperature above the crossover transition.

In the confined region, the essential active degrees of freedom are hadrons. Their dynamics is governed by the hadron Lagrangian derived previously, in which mesons and diquark-baryons interact. We calculate thermodynamical potential, taking only the mass terms and integrating



Figure 4.10: (a): The lattice simulation of the pion mass quoted from Ref. [64] in lattice simulation by Ref. [49].

(b): The lattice simulation of the diquark for several J^P from Ref. [50]. Our diquark and antidiquark correspond to 0^+ .

out the hadron fields by the Gaussian approximation as explained in Sect. 4.1 as

$$\Omega_{hadron} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{Q} (\ln \det M_n(Q) + \ln \det N_n(Q)), \qquad (4.48)$$

where

$$M_n(Q) = \begin{pmatrix} Q^2 + m_s^2 & 2m\Delta^* & 2m\Delta \\ 2m\Delta & \frac{1}{2}(Q^2 + m_d^2) - 2\mu Q_0 & \Delta^2 \\ 2m\Delta^* & \Delta^{*2} & \frac{1}{2}(Q^2 + m_d^2) + 2\mu Q_2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.49)

$$N_n^{ij}(Q) = \delta^{ij}(Q^2 + m_\pi^2), \qquad (4.50)$$

in Euclidean space $Q^2 = \vec{q}^2 + \omega_n^2$ with the Matsubara frequencies for boson $Q_0 = i\omega_n$ and $\sum_Q = T \sum_n \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3}$. The pion thermodynamical potential can be worked out simply

$$\Omega_{\pi} = 3 \int \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{1}{2} \omega_{\pi}(\vec{q}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta \omega_{\pi}(\vec{q})}) \right], \tag{4.51}$$

where the zero point energy is $\omega_{\pi}(\vec{q}) = \sqrt{\vec{q}^2 + m_{\pi}^2}$. The behavior of the pion mass m_{π} at finite chemical potential and zero temperature has been discussed. The behavior of thermodynamical potential for the scalar particles are different between $|\Delta| = 0$ and $|\Delta| \neq 0$. In the case of $|\Delta| = 0$ where the non-diagonal components in the matrix $M_n(Q)$ disappear, the thermodynamical potential for the sigma meson is

$$\Omega_s = \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{1}{2} \omega_s(\vec{q}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta \omega_s(\vec{q})}) \right],$$
(4.52)

with the zero point energy $\omega_s(\vec{q}) = \sqrt{\vec{q}^2 + m_s^2} = \sqrt{\vec{q}^2 + m_\pi^2 + 4m^2}$ and for the diquarks is

$$\Omega_{\Delta} = \int \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{1}{2} \omega_{\Delta}(\vec{q}) + \frac{1}{2} \omega_{\Delta^*}(\vec{q}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta \omega_{\Delta}(\vec{q})}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta \omega_{\Delta^*}(\vec{q})}) \right]$$
$$= \int \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\omega_{\pi}(\vec{q}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta(\omega_{\pi}(\vec{q}) - 2\mu)}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta(\omega_{\pi}(\vec{q}) + 2\mu)}) \right], \quad (4.53)$$

where the zero point energy is the solution of the dispersion relation

$$\omega^2 - \bar{q}^2 - m_d^2 \pm 4\mu\omega = 0 \tag{4.54}$$

as

$$\omega_{\Delta}(\vec{q}) = \sqrt{\vec{q}^2 + m_{\pi}^2} - 2\mu = \omega_{\pi}(\vec{q}) - 2\mu, \qquad (4.55)$$

$$\omega_{\Delta^*}(\vec{q}) = \sqrt{\vec{q}^2 + m_\pi^2 + 2\mu} = \omega_\pi(\vec{q}) + 2\mu.$$
(4.56)

In the diquark condensed phase $|\Delta| \neq 0$, all the scalar excitation energies are described by the solution of the dispersion relation as

$$\det M(\omega, \vec{q}) = \omega^{6} - [(\vec{q}^{2} + m_{s}^{2}) + 2(\vec{q}^{2} + m_{d}^{2} + 8\mu^{2})]\omega^{4} + [\vec{q}^{2}(\vec{q}^{2} + 2m_{d}^{2}) + 2(\vec{q}^{2} + m_{s}^{2})(\vec{q}^{2} + m_{d}^{2} + 8\mu^{2}) - 16m^{2}|\Delta|^{2}]\omega^{2} - \vec{q}^{2}[(\vec{q}^{2} + m_{s}^{2})(\vec{q}^{2} + 2m_{d}^{2}) + 16m^{2}|\Delta|^{2}] = 0,$$
(4.57)

with respect to ω . We write the solutions as $\omega_i(\vec{q})$ $(i = s, d, d^*)$. Thermodynamical potential is written as

$$\Omega_{scalar} = \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_{i} \left[\omega_i(\vec{q}) + T \ln(1 - e^{-\beta\omega_i(\vec{q})}) \right].$$
(4.58)

The momentum integrals in zero point energies of these bosons are divergent. As the standard treatment we introduce the momentum cut-off to regularize the integrals. However, this cut-off is a free parameter since the bosonic momenta are external variables. We employ the NJL cut-off $\Lambda = 657$ [MeV] because our starting point NJL model is an effective model below the cut-off Λ . The zero point energy at T = 0 and $\mu = 0$ is then subtracted from the thermodynamical potential. For the case $\Delta = 0$, this procedure makes the contribution of the zero-point energy terms vanish. Hence, the whole contribution to the pressure from the hadrons comes from the temperature dependent terms for $\Delta = 0$.

Shown in Fig. 4.11(a) is the pressure at $\mu = 0, 30, 60$ and 66 [MeV]. Given the small pion and diquark-baryon masses, the contributions of these degrees of freedom make the pressure significantly different from that with quark degrees of freedom only. This result is qualitatively similar to the one of the color SU(3) PNJL model [25], but here, due to the additional pressure of the diquark-baryon fields, the effect of the hadron contributions is much larger. The pressure increases rapidly as the chemical potential approaches the critical chemical potential $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$. This rapid increase of the pressure is caused by the diquark-baryon mode whose energy drops as $\omega_{\Delta} = \omega_{\pi} - 2\mu$ with increasing μ . When the temperature becomes small ($T \sim 10$ [MeV]), we can expand the logarithm and the pressure can be written approximately as

$$p \simeq T \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-(\omega_\pi(\vec{q}) - 2\mu)/T} \sim T \int_0^{q_{max}} \frac{q^2 dq}{2\pi^2} e^{-(\omega_\pi(\vec{q}) - 2\mu)/T},$$
(4.59)



(a) EOS contribution of hadrons compare with the only quarks

(b) The logarithmic scale of the pressure

Figure 4.11: (a): The pressure divided by the Stefan-Boltzmann pressure for various chemical potentials $\mu = 0$ (solid line), 30 (dashed line), 60 (dashed-dotted line) and 66 (dotted line) [MeV] below diquark condensation as functions of temperature. Shown also is the one with only the quark degree of freedom (thin solid line).

(b): The logarithm of the pressure $\ln(P)$ for various chemical potentials for $\mu = 0$ (solid line), 60 (dashed line) [MeV] below $\mu_c = 70$ [MeV] and for $\mu = 80$ (dotted line), 100 (dashed-dotted line) and 200 (dashed double-dotted line) [MeV] above μ_c as functions of temperature. The unit of pressure is GeV⁴.

where q_{max} is appreciable only for the diquark-baryon mode (would be zero mode) as $\mu \to \mu_c$. Since the pressure is divided by the Stefan-Boltzmann pressure, the pressure ratio close to the critical temperature shows rapid growth when μ approaches the critical chemical potential.

Consider now the pressure over a wide range of chemical potentials μ , in particular above the critical μ_c for diquark condensation. The pressure is then dominated by quarks through their zero point motion renormalized by the vacuum value, with additional contributions from the zero point motion of mesons and diquark-baryons. Given that these zero point motion effects do not vanish at zero temperature, it is more appropriate to present the pressure as such, not divided by the Stefan-Boltzmann pressure, on a logarithmic scale. Results are shown in Fig. 4.11(b). The zero point motion is largely influenced by the presence of the Bogoliubov spectrum of the diquark zero mode which will be discussed in Sec. 4.9 [19, 67, 77, 80, 81]. The pressure curves in Fig. 4.11(b) are displayed in the whole μ range as functions of temperature. Shown in Fig. 4.11(b) are the pressures at $\mu = 0, 60$ [MeV] below $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$ and $\mu = 80, 100$ and 200 [MeV] above μ_c . The pressure below the critical chemical potential drops to zero at T = 0, while the pressure at $\mu > \mu_c$ stays finite at zero temperature. The pressure at low temperature increases rapidly across the critical chemical potential. The pressure at high temperature is dominated by the de-confined quark contribution and insensitive to the chemical potential.

4.9 The Bogoliubov Excitation

The hadronic contributions to the pressure and the quark density involve spectra of hadrons. It is important to know how the zero mode behaves at finite momentum in the diquark-condensed

phase. The Bogoliubov excitation [19,67,77,80,81] for the zero mode results from the solution $\omega(\vec{q})$ of the dispersion Eq. (4.57). The gapless Bogoliubov mode is a linear dispersion in the low energy limit. In our system, the Bogoliubov mode is realized not only the diquark-antidiquark pairing but also the sigma-diquark mixing. The solution of the dispersion Eq. (4.57) is computed numerically in Fig. 4.12 at $\mu = 80$ [MeV]. To see the existence of the Bogoliubov mode, we drop the sigma-diquark mixing terms in the full mass matrix (4.38) and arrive at an analytic expression for $\omega(\vec{q})$ of the Bogoliubov mode. Consider the reduced mass matrix

$$D(\omega, \vec{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} \omega^2 - \vec{q}^2 - m_d^2 + 4\mu\omega & -2\Delta^2 \\ -2\Delta^{*2} & \omega^2 - \vec{q}^2 - m_d^2 - 4\mu\omega \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.60)

and solve the dispersion relation det $D(\omega, \vec{q}) = 0$ with respect to $\omega(\vec{q})$ for the lowest mode:

$$\omega^{2} = \bar{q}^{2} + 2|\Delta|^{2} + 8\mu^{2}
- \sqrt{(\bar{q}^{2} + 2|\Delta|^{2} + 8\mu^{2})^{2} - \bar{q}^{2}(\bar{q}^{2} + 4|\Delta|^{2})}
\sim \frac{\bar{q}^{2}(\bar{q}^{2} + 4|\Delta|^{2})}{2(\bar{q}^{2} + 2|\Delta|^{2} + 8\mu^{2})}.$$
(4.61)

In the BEC limit, the pion mass $m_{\pi} = 2\mu$ is much larger than $|\Delta|$. The Bogoliubov excitation is then written as

$$\omega(\vec{q}) \sim \sqrt{\frac{\vec{q}^2}{2m_{\pi}} \left(\frac{\vec{q}^2}{2m_{\pi}} + \frac{2|\Delta|^2}{m_{\pi}}\right)} .$$
(4.62)

The zero mode varies linearly with $|\vec{q}|$ at small momentum. With inclusion of the sigma-diquark coupling, the dispersion equation for $\omega(\vec{q})$ with the full mass matrix is solved numerically. For $m_{\pi} \gg |\Delta|$ one confirms that the zero mode has the Bogoliubov excitation spectrum as expressed in Eq. (4.62). As we show in Fig. 4.12, the Bogoliubov excitation in our system is linearly increasing.



Figure 4.12: The Bogoliubov excitation at $\mu = 80$ [MeV] (solid line) as a function of momentum. The dashed line denotes a line in momentum. In the low momentum region, the excitation energy increases linearly with momentum.

The Bogoliubov excitation gives large contribution to thermodynamics in the BEC state $70 < \mu \leq 120$ [MeV]. On the other hand, in the BCS state $\mu \geq 120$ [MeV] the excitation contribution might be small as discussed in Ref. [77]. As an example, this property will be shown in the discussion of the baryon density in the next section 4.10.

4.10 Baryon Density

An interesting point of comparison with color SU(2) lattice simulations concerns the quark density as a function of chemical potential μ at zero temperature. When the baryon number symmetry is broken, the diquark condensate becomes finite and the diquark-baryon becomes a Nambu-Goldstone boson. From the onset of diquark condensation, the quark number becomes finite. The quark density derived from the thermodynamical potential at mean field level is:

$$\rho_{MF} = -\frac{\partial \Omega_{MF}}{\partial \mu} = \operatorname{tr} \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\frac{E_p^+}{E_\Delta^+} - \frac{E_p^-}{E_\Delta^-} \right].$$
(4.63)

Here, we write only the zero point oscillation terms, dropping the temperature dependent terms.



Figure 4.13: The quark density in unit of fm^{-3} as a function of the chemical potential μ in MeV. Shown by various points are the results of SU(2) lattice simulations [49]. The dashed curve denotes the result of the mean field approximation and the solid curve the results of the mean field and Gaussian approximation of the hadron contributions.

In Fig. 4.13 the quark density is presented as a function of the chemical potential μ . As compared with lattice simulations [49] the mean field quark density comes out to be smaller than the lattice results by about a factor of two. The quark density becomes non-zero when the diquark condensate develops, starting at $\mu = m_{\pi}/2$. The quark density increases with the chemical potential.

Going beyond mean field level implies adding hadronic contributions to the quark density. In a first step we use the Gaussian approximation, dropping higher order terms of the hadron Lagrangian, and integrate out the meson and diquark-baryon fields. The hadronic part of the density is found by taking the derivative of Ω_{hadron} , Eqs. (4.51) and (4.58), with respect to the

chemical potential μ :

$$\rho_{hadron} = -\frac{\partial\Omega_{hadron}}{\partial\mu} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial\mu} \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} \left[\sum_{i}^3 \frac{\omega_i(\mu)}{2} + \frac{3}{2}\omega_\pi(\mu) \right] , \qquad (4.64)$$

where ω_i $(i = \sigma, d, d^*)$ and ω_{π} are again the sigma meson, diquark, antidiquark and pion energies, respectively. Only the temperature independent terms are written. Note that ρ_{hadron} vanishes for $\Delta = 0$, while it becomes finite in the diquark condensed phase. The zero point energies are calculated numerically and the momentum integrals are performed introducing the NJL cut-off $\Lambda = 657$ [MeV]. The result is shown in Fig. 4.13 by the solid curve. As we mentioned, the main contribution of the correction of the baryon density ρ_{hadron} comes from the Bogoliubov excitation. The contribution is appreciable in the BEC state near the diquark transition. When the chemical potential is increasing and going in the BCS state, it does not grow much. Evidently, using the Gaussian approximation, the effect of the hadron fields on the quark density is very small. This was anticipated by He [67] in their analysis of the hadron contributions.

Chapter 5

Non-perturbative Treatment of Hadron Interaction

In this chapter we review the Gaussian variational approach and the Gaussian effective action. This approach is expected to be important to explore high density hadron matter. Although we do not apply the method to our hadron Lagrangian yet, we would like to discuss the framework for the future extension of the present work.

5.1 Introduction to a Non-perturbative Method

The thermodynamics in the Gaussian approximation cannot reproduce the baryon density of the lattice QCD calculation. Obviously, the Gaussian approximation misses important hadronic interaction terms generated by the higher order pieces, $\mathcal{L}^{(3)}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{(4)}$, of the hadron effective Lagrangian. These interactions include, for example, scalar boson exchange between diquarks and mesons in various possible combinations. The strength of these couplings is controlled by the constant λ in Eq. (3.125). We find $\lambda = 33$ in the present parameter set. Altogether, the net attraction provided by such mechanisms is expected to decreace the vacuum energy and increase the density significantly as a function of μ .

An interesting idea for a systematic treatment of non-perturbative interaction terms were introduced by Kuti who, however, did not publish the idea and his idea was reviewed by Cornwall *et al.* in the appendix of Ref. [82]. The idea is to adopt the Schrödinger representation in the quantum field theory and solve the Schrödinger equation. The systematic discussion was done by Barnes and Ghandour [83]. They introduced a trial Gaussian wave function based on the variational problem and described the renormalized energy expectation value in the ϕ^4 theory with non-perturbative interaction. This approach is called the Gaussian variational approach or Gaussian functional approximation. The ground state energy (density) is obtained by solving the Schrödinger equation with the trial Gaussian wave functional in an variational method. The obtained ground state energy is equivalent to that obtained by Gaussian effective potential [84, 85].

The ground state at the mean filed approximation level, it seems that there is no Nambu-Goldstone (NG) particle. The massless NG particle will appear as a collective state [86]. Hence, the Gaussian functional method requires so-called "mean field approximation (MFA) + random phase approximation (RPA)" in the many-body literature. This framework is unsatisfactory

since we require the ground state energy which is equivalent to the thermodyanamical potential at zero temperature and finite density with NG particle (Bogoliubov excitation). The effective action with the optimized expansion [87] is one of powerful non-perturbative approach which fully respects the NG theorem [88]. The effective action with the optimazed expansion is related to the Gaussian effective potential and the Gaussian functional method. The effective action is based on the path integral quantization approach and the Gaussian functional approximation is the Schrödinger quantization. Hence it is not surprising that the optimized expansion method and the Gaussian functional are related.

5.2 Functional Formulation in the Canonical Quantization

The canonical quantization is one of standard quantization prescription. The classical canonical variables q and p are replaced by operators which satisfy the canonical commutation relation $[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar$. The classical field $\phi(t, \vec{x})$ is quantized by replacing it as the operator $\hat{\phi}(t, \vec{x})$ and taking the canonical commutation relation $[\hat{\phi}(t, \vec{x}), \hat{\pi}(t, \vec{y})] = i\hbar\delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y})$ with its canonical conjugate momentum operator $\hat{\pi}(t, \vec{y})$.

In Schrödinger wave dynamical treatment, a quantum mechanical state is realized by a wave function $\psi(t, \vec{x})$. The quantization can be done by considering the correspondence relation $\hat{x}\psi(t, \vec{x}) \rightarrow x\psi(t, \vec{x})$ and $\hat{p}\psi(t, \vec{x}) \rightarrow -i\hbar \frac{d}{dx}\psi(t, \vec{x})$. The Gaussian functional approach is constructed based on this correspondence. For a field theory involving the field operator $\hat{\phi}(x)$, the wave function is a functional of a c-number $\phi(\vec{x})$:

$$|\psi\rangle \to \Psi[\phi].$$
 (5.1)

The action of the operator $\hat{\phi}(x)$ on $|\psi\rangle$ is realized by multiplying $\Psi[\phi]$ by $\phi(\vec{x})$:

$$\hat{\phi}|\psi\rangle \to \phi(\vec{x})\Psi[\phi].$$
 (5.2)

The action of the canonical conjugate momentum operator $\hat{\pi}(x)$ on $|\psi\rangle$ is realized by functional differentiation

$$\hat{\pi}(x)|\psi\rangle \to -i\hbar \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi(\vec{x})}\Psi[\phi].$$
(5.3)

Note that we have suppressed the time variable t.

Introducing eigenstates at a fixed time of the field $\phi(\vec{x})$, denoted as $|\phi\rangle$, the wave function $\Psi[\phi]$ is expressed

$$\langle \phi | \psi \rangle = \Psi[\phi]. \tag{5.4}$$

The inner product is defined by the functional integration:

$$\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \rightarrow \int \mathcal{D}\phi \Psi_1^*[\phi] \Psi_2[\phi].$$
 (5.5)

The analogy with ordinary quantum mechanics is clear.

Energy eigenstates statisfy the Schrödinger equation

$$\int d\vec{x} \mathcal{H}\left[-i\hbar\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi(\vec{x})},\phi(\vec{x})\right]\Psi[\phi] = E\Psi[\phi],\tag{5.6}$$

where $\mathcal{H}[\pi(\vec{x}), \phi(\vec{x})]$ is the Hamiltonian density. The time development of an energy eigenstate can be written as

$$\Psi[\phi;t] = e^{-iEt/\hbar} \Psi[\phi].$$
(5.7)

The Gaussian functional approach is based on this functional treatment of the quantum field theory.

5.3 Gaussian Trial Wave Function in Quantum Mechanics

In this section we illustrate the Gaussian variational approach by considering a simple quantum mechanical model following [83]. We consider one dimensional harmonic oscillator with a quartic term in the potential (taking $\hbar = 1$). The model Hamiltonian

$$H = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \frac{\mu}{2}x^2 + \lambda_0 x^4$$
(5.8)

gives the Schrödinger equation

$$H|\psi(x)\rangle = E|\psi(x)\rangle.$$
(5.9)

In the case of $\lambda_0 = 0$, the ground state wave function and the ground state energy can be written as

$$|\psi_0(x)\rangle = \left(\frac{\mu}{\pi}\right)^{1/4} e^{-\mu x^2/2}$$
 (5.10)

$$E_0 = \frac{1}{2}\mu.$$
 (5.11)

For $\lambda_0 > 0$, we introduce a simple trial vacuum wave fucion as

$$|\psi(x)\rangle = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{1/4} e^{-\alpha x^2/2},\tag{5.12}$$

which gives the expectation value of the energy

$$E(\alpha) = \frac{1}{4}\alpha + \frac{\mu^2}{4\alpha} + \frac{3\lambda_0}{4\alpha^2}.$$
(5.13)

The parameter α satisfies the minimization condition for the energy, $\frac{dE(\alpha)}{d\alpha} = 0$, to give the vacuum energy

$$\alpha^2 = \mu^2 + \frac{6\lambda_0}{\alpha},\tag{5.14}$$

which approaches μ^2 as $\lambda_0 \to 0$.

Now we consider the effective potential for this model. The effective potential $V(x_0)$ is defined as the minimum value of the energy in the set of all normalized state vectors in which x has the expectation value x_0 :

$$V(x_0) = \min\{\langle x_0 | H | x_0 \rangle\},\tag{5.15}$$

with

$$\langle x_0 | x | x_0 \rangle = x_0, \tag{5.16}$$

$$\langle x_0 | x_0 \rangle = 1. \tag{5.17}$$

We extend the Gaussian trian wave function to evaluate the effective potential for our model as

$$|\alpha, x_0\rangle = \mathcal{N}e^{-\alpha(x-x_0)^2/2},\tag{5.18}$$

where \mathcal{N} is the normalization constant satisfying normalization condition (5.17). The expectation value depending on x_0 and α is evaluated as (see Appendix E):

$$V(\alpha, x_0) = \langle \alpha, x_0 | H | \alpha, x_0 \rangle$$

= $\mathcal{N}^2 \int dx H e^{-\alpha (x - x_0)^2}$
= $\frac{1}{4} \alpha + \frac{1}{4} \frac{\mu^2}{\alpha} + \frac{3\lambda_0}{4\alpha^2} + \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 x_0^2 + \lambda_0 x_0^4 + \frac{3\lambda_0}{\alpha} x_0^2.$ (5.19)

The parameters satisfy the minimum condition

$$\frac{dV}{d\alpha} = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{\mu^2}{4\alpha^2} - \frac{6\lambda_0}{4\alpha^3} - \frac{3\lambda_0}{\alpha^2} x_0^2 = 0,$$
(5.20)

$$\frac{dV}{dx_0} = x_0 \left(\mu^2 + 4\lambda_0 x_0^2 - \frac{6\lambda_0}{\alpha^2} \right) = 0,$$
 (5.21)

which lead to

$$x_0 = 0, \quad \alpha^2 = \mu^2 + 12\lambda_0 x_0^2 + \frac{6\lambda_0}{\alpha}.$$
 (5.22)

Note that the second order derivative d^2V/dx_0^2 and $d^2V/d\alpha^2$ are positive values. We obtain the effective potential $V(x_0)$ by substituting the minimum conditions (5.22) in (5.19). The renormalized mass m and coupling λ are obtained from the effective potential,

$$m^2 = \frac{d^2 V}{dx_0^2}\Big|_{\min}, \quad \lambda = \frac{1}{4!} \left. \frac{d^4 V}{dx_0^4} \right|_{\min}.$$
 (5.23)

The parameter α also is a function of x_0 , so we calculate the derivative of α with respect to x_0 to evaluate these values:

$$2\alpha \frac{d\alpha}{dx_0} = 24\lambda_0 x_0 - \frac{6\lambda_0}{\alpha^2} \frac{d\alpha}{dx_0}$$
$$\frac{d\alpha}{dx_0} = \frac{12\lambda_0 x_0 \alpha^2}{\alpha^3 + 3\lambda_0}$$
(5.24)

We evaluate the minimum of the second order derivative

$$\frac{d^2 V}{dx_0^2}\Big|_{\min} = \left(\mu^2 + 12\lambda_0 x_0^2 + \frac{6\lambda_0}{\alpha} - \frac{6\lambda_0 x_0}{\alpha^2} \frac{d\alpha}{dx_0}\right)\Big|_{x_0=0} = \mu^2 + \frac{6\lambda_0}{\alpha} = m^2.$$
(5.25)

We further work out

$$\frac{d^{3}V}{dx_{0}^{3}}\Big|_{\min} = \left(24\lambda_{0}x_{0} - \frac{72\lambda_{0}^{2}}{\alpha^{3} + 3\lambda_{0}}x_{0} - \frac{144\lambda_{0}^{2}}{\alpha^{3} + 3\lambda_{0}}x_{0} + \frac{216\lambda_{0}^{2}\alpha^{2}x_{0}^{2}}{(\alpha^{3} + 3\lambda_{0})^{2}}\frac{d\alpha}{dx_{0}}\right)\Big|_{x_{0}=0}$$

$$=0.$$
(5.26)

Hence the coupling is

$$\frac{1}{4!} \left. \frac{d^4 V}{dx_0^4} \right|_{\min} = \frac{1}{4!} \left(24\lambda_0 - \frac{72\lambda_0^2}{\alpha^3 + 3\lambda_0} - \frac{144\lambda_0^2}{\alpha^3 + 3\lambda_0} \right) \\ = \lambda_0 - \frac{9\lambda_0}{\alpha^3 + 3\lambda_0} = \lambda_0 \left(\frac{\alpha^3 - 6\lambda_0}{\alpha^3 + 3\lambda_0} \right) = \lambda.$$
(5.27)

We would like to skip the disccution of the interpretation of the renormalized values m and λ because our interest is focused on the Gaussian trial function formulation. In the next section, we will discuss the application of the Gaussian trial function to the field theory and the spontaneous symmetry breaking of the system.

5.4 The Gaussian Functional Method for the O(4) **Symmetric** Linear Sigma Model

We attempt to apply the Gaussian trial function to the field theory. Our main interest is the treatment of the spontaneously symmetry breaking in the field theory. As an example, we consider the O(4) symmetric linear sigma model and verify the method includes the existence of NG boson as the two particle bound state [86, 89, 90].

5.4.1 The Gaussian Functional

The O(4) symmetric linear sigma model Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\phi})^2 - V(\boldsymbol{\phi}^2), \qquad (5.28)$$

with the potential

$$V(\phi^2) = -\frac{1}{2}\mu_0^2\phi^2 + \frac{\lambda_0}{4}(\phi^2)^2$$
(5.29)

and a column vector

$$\boldsymbol{\phi} = (\phi_0, \phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3) = (\sigma, \vec{\pi}). \tag{5.30}$$

This Lagrangian can be derived from the NJL model by the standard bosonization technique [42]. Hence we assume that the spontaneously chiral symmetry breaking is realized by the vacuum expectation value of the σ field as $\langle \sigma \rangle$ in the mean field approximation and the $\vec{\pi}$ field can be interpreted as NG boson. Actually, the chiral symmetry breaking parttern in two flavor $SU(2) \times SU(2) \rightarrow SU(2)$ (dim $SU(N) = N^2 - 1$) generates 3 NG particles and our model
Lagrangian breaking pattern $O(4) \rightarrow O(3)$ (dim O(N) = N(N-1)/2) generates also 3 NG particles. The explicit chiral symmetry breaking term is introduced

$$\mathcal{L}_{SB} = -\mathcal{H}_{SB} = \varepsilon\sigma, \tag{5.31}$$

which generates the finite pion mass, as suggested by the NJL model.

The canonical conjugate momentum is defined by $\pi_i = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_0 \phi_i)} = \partial_0 \phi_i$ (i = 0, 1, 2, 3) and the Hamiltonian density is obtained by Legendre transformation as

$$\mathcal{H} = \int d\vec{y}\delta(\vec{y} - \vec{x}) \sum_{i} \left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \frac{\delta^2}{\delta\phi_i(\vec{x})\phi_i(\vec{y})} + \frac{1}{2} \nabla_x \phi_i(\vec{x}) \nabla_y \phi_i(\vec{y}) + V(\phi^2) - \mathcal{H}_{SB} \right), \quad (5.32)$$

where

$$V(\phi^{2}) = -\frac{1}{2}\mu_{0}^{2}\phi_{i}(\vec{x})\phi_{i}(\vec{y}) + \frac{\lambda_{0}}{4}\left(\phi_{i}(\vec{x})\phi_{i}(\vec{y})\right)^{2}.$$
(5.33)

We introduce the Gaussian ground state functional Ansatz with the vacuum expectation values $\langle \phi_i \rangle$

$$\Psi_0[\boldsymbol{\phi}] = \mathcal{N} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{4\hbar} \int d\vec{x} d\vec{y} [\phi_i(\vec{x}) - \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}) \rangle] G_{ij}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) [\phi_j(\vec{y}) - \langle \phi_j(\vec{y}) \rangle]\right), \quad (5.34)$$

where \mathcal{N} is the normalization constant. While the vacuum expectation value for pion will be chosen as the vanishing value, which is treated as finite in the evaluation of the ground state energy expectation value. The form G_{ij}^{-1} have been defined as

$$G_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{ij} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} e^{i\vec{k} \cdot (\vec{x} - \vec{y})},$$
(5.35)

where m_i is called the "dressed mass" which is determined self-consistently [83,90]. Since the inverse satisfies

$$\int d\vec{z} G_{ij}(\vec{x}, \vec{z}) G_{ij}^{-1}(\vec{z}, \vec{y}) = \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \delta_{ij},$$
(5.36)

it can be written as

$$G_{ij}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = 2\delta_{ij} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2} e^{i\vec{k}\cdot(\vec{x}-\vec{y})}.$$
(5.37)

We have explicitly kept \hbar to keep track of quantum corrections and count the number of loops in our calculation. The quantum corrections may come from the functional integrals in the calculation of the energy density. We work out the energy (density) expectation value $\langle \Phi_0 | \mathcal{H} | \Phi_0 \rangle$ therm by term below (see Appendix E). The kinetic term:

$$\begin{aligned} (kinetic) &= -\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \langle \Psi_0 | \frac{\delta^2}{\delta \phi_i(\vec{x}) \phi_i(\vec{y})} | \Psi_0 \rangle \\ &= -\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \langle \Psi_0 | \int d\vec{y} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \sum_i \int d\vec{x}_1 [-\frac{1}{2\hbar} \delta(\vec{x}_1 - \vec{x}) G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{y})] | \Psi_0 \rangle \\ &- \frac{\hbar^2}{2} \langle \Psi_0 | \int d\vec{y} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \sum_i \left[\int d\vec{x}_1 \left(-\frac{1}{2\hbar} [\phi_i(\vec{x}_1) - \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}) \rangle] G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{y}) \right) \right] \\ &\times \left[\int d\vec{x}_2 \left(-\frac{1}{2\hbar} [\phi_i(\vec{x}_2) - \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}_2) \rangle] G^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_2) \right) \right] | \Psi_0 \rangle \\ &= \frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) - \frac{\hbar}{8} \langle \Psi_0 | \int d\vec{y} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \sum_i \int d\vec{x}_1 d\vec{x}_2 G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{y}) G^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_2) \\ &\times \left[\phi_i(\vec{x}_1) \phi_i(\vec{x}_2) - \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}_1) \rangle \phi_i(\vec{x}_2) - \phi_i(\vec{x}_2) \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}_1) \rangle + \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}_1) \rangle \langle \phi_i(\vec{x}_2) \rangle \right] | \Psi_0 \rangle \\ &= \frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) - \frac{\hbar}{8} \int d\vec{y} d\vec{x}_1 d\vec{x}_2 \sum_i \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{y}) G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_2) G_{ii}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2) \\ &= \frac{\hbar}{8} \sum_i G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) = \frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.38)

The shift term:

$$(shift) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \Psi_0 | \int d\vec{y} \sum_i \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \nabla_x \phi_i(\vec{x}) \nabla_y \phi_i(\vec{y}) | \Psi_0 \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_i \nabla_x^2 \left(\langle \phi_i \rangle^2 + \hbar G_{ii}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) |_{\vec{x} = \vec{y}} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{-\vec{k}^2}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} e^{i\vec{k} \cdot (\vec{x} - \vec{y})} \Big|_{\vec{x} = \vec{y}}$$

$$= \frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2 - m_i^2}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}}$$

$$= \frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2} - \frac{\hbar}{4} \sum_i m_i^2 \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}}, \qquad (5.39)$$

where the vacuum expectation value have been assumed to be translationally invariant $\langle \phi_i(\vec{x}) \rangle = \langle \phi_i(0) \rangle = \langle \phi_i \rangle$. The second order term in the potential:

$$(second) = -\frac{1}{2}\mu_0^2 \langle \Psi_0 | \int d\vec{y} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \sum_i \phi_i(\vec{x}) \phi_i(\vec{y}) | \Psi_0 \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\mu_0^2 \sum_i \left(\langle \phi_i \rangle^2 + \hbar G_{ii}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\mu_0^2 \sum_i \langle \phi_i \rangle^2 - \frac{\hbar}{2}\mu_0^2 \sum_i \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}}.$$
 (5.40)

We write the fourth order of the fields as

$$(\phi^2)^2 = (\sigma^2 + \vec{\pi}^2)^2 = \sigma^4 + \vec{\pi}^4 + 2\sigma^2 \vec{\pi}^2 = \sum_i \phi_i^4 + 2\phi_i^2 \phi_j^2.$$
(5.41)

The fourth order term in the potential:

$$\begin{aligned} (fourth) &= \frac{\lambda_0}{4} \langle \Psi_0 | \int d\vec{y} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{y}) \sum_i \phi_i^4 + 2\phi_i^2 \phi_j^2 | \Psi_0 \rangle \\ &= \frac{\lambda_0}{4} \sum_i \left(3(\hbar G_{ii}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}))^2 + 6\hbar \langle \phi_i \rangle^2 G_{ii}(\vec{x}) + \langle \phi_i \rangle^4 \\ &+ 2(\hbar G_{ii}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) + \langle \phi_i \rangle^2) (\hbar G_{jj}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) + \langle \phi_j \rangle^2) \right) \\ &= \frac{\lambda_0}{4} (\langle \phi \rangle^2)^2 + \frac{3\hbar^2}{4} \lambda_0 \sum_i \left(\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} \right)^2 \\ &+ \frac{3\hbar}{2} \lambda_0 \sum_i \langle \phi_i \rangle^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_0}{2} \hbar^2 \sum_{i < j} \left(\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_j^2}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_0}{2} \hbar \sum_{i \neq j} \langle \phi_i \rangle^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_j^2}} \right), \end{aligned}$$
(5.42)

where we have written as

$$2G_{ii}(\vec{x},\vec{x})G_{jj}(\vec{x},\vec{x}) = 2\sum_{i

$$2[\langle \phi_i \rangle^2 G_{jj}(\vec{x},\vec{x}) + \langle \phi_j \rangle^2 G_{ii}(\vec{x},\vec{x})] = 2\sum_{i\neq j} \langle \phi_i \rangle^2 \left(\frac{1}{2}\int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_j^2}}\right),$$
(5.43)$$

which are understood by the representation of $(\phi^2)^2$. The explicit symmetry breaking term:

$$-\langle \Psi_0 | \mathcal{H}_{SB} | \Psi_0 \rangle = -\varepsilon \langle \phi_0 \rangle.$$
(5.44)

We obtain the energy density as

$$\mathcal{E}(m_{i},\langle\phi_{i}\rangle) = -\varepsilon\langle\phi_{0}\rangle - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{0}^{2}\langle\phi\rangle^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{0}}{4}\left[\langle\phi\rangle^{2}\right]^{2} + \sum_{i}\hbar I_{1}(m_{i}) - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{0}^{2}\hbar\sum_{i}I_{0}(m_{i}) - \frac{1}{2}\hbar\sum_{i}m_{i}^{2}I_{0}(m_{i}) + \frac{3\lambda_{0}}{2}\hbar\sum_{i}\langle\phi_{i}\rangle^{2}I_{0}(m_{i}) + \frac{\lambda_{0}}{2}\hbar\sum_{i\neq j}\langle\phi_{i}\rangle^{2}I_{0}(m_{j}) + \frac{3\lambda_{0}}{4}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i}I_{0}^{2}(m_{i}) + \frac{\lambda_{0}}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i< j}I_{0}(m_{i})I_{0}(m_{j}),$$
(5.45)

where we have defined

$$I_0(m_i) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{dk}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2}} = G_{ii}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) = i \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 - m_i^2 + i\epsilon},$$
(5.46)

$$I_1(m_i) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m_i^2} = \frac{1}{4} G_{ii}^{-1}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}) = -\frac{i}{2} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \ln(k^2 - m_i^2 + i\epsilon).$$
(5.47)

We identify $\hbar I_1(m_i)$ with the familiar "zero-point" energy of a free scalar filed of mass m_i . The coupling λ_0 dependence terms are non-perturbative correction terms including one-loop $\mathcal{O}(\hbar)$ and two-loop $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$.

5.4.2 The Gap Equations

The fields are difined as $\phi(\vec{x}) = (\sigma(\vec{x}), \vec{\pi}(\vec{x}))$, and hence the variational parameters are rewritten as $\langle \phi_i \rangle = (\langle \sigma \rangle, \langle \vec{\pi} \rangle)$ and $m_i = (M, \mu)$ to fit the field representation, where M and μ are the masses of σ and $\vec{\pi}$, respectively. We also rewrite the energy density in this notation as

$$\mathcal{E}(M,\mu,\langle\sigma\rangle,\langle\vec{\pi}\rangle) = -\varepsilon\langle\sigma\rangle - \frac{1}{2}\mu_0^2[\langle\sigma\rangle^2 + \langle\vec{\pi}\rangle^2] + \frac{\lambda_0}{4}[\langle\sigma\rangle^2 + \langle\vec{\pi}\rangle^2]^2 + \hbar I_1(M) + 3\hbar I_1(\mu) - \frac{1}{2}\hbar[\mu_0^2 + M^2]I_0(M) - \frac{3}{2}\hbar[\mu_0^2 + \mu^2]I_0(\mu) + \frac{3}{2}\hbar\lambda_0\langle\sigma\rangle^2[I_0(M) + I_0(\mu)] + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\lambda_0\langle\vec{\pi}\rangle^2[I_0(M) + 5I_0(\mu)] + \frac{3}{4}\hbar^2\lambda_0I_0^2(M) + \frac{15}{4}\hbar^2\lambda_0I_0^2(\mu) + \frac{3}{2}\hbar^2\lambda_0I_0(M)I_0(\mu).$$
(5.48)

This value satisfies the minimum condition

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial \langle \phi_i \rangle} = 0, \quad \frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial m_i} = 0, \tag{5.49}$$

with i = 0, 1, 2, 3. The derivatives with respect to $\langle \phi_i \rangle$ are

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial \langle \sigma \rangle} = -\varepsilon + \langle \sigma \rangle \left[-\mu_0^2 + \lambda_0 \langle \sigma \rangle^2 + \lambda_0 \langle \vec{\pi} \rangle^2 + 3\hbar \lambda_0 I_0(M) + 3\hbar \lambda_0 I_0(\mu) \right] = 0, \quad (5.50)$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial \langle \vec{\pi} \rangle} = \langle \vec{\pi} \rangle \left[-\mu_0^2 + \lambda_0 \langle \sigma \rangle^2 + \lambda_0 \langle \vec{\pi} \rangle^2 + \hbar \lambda_0 I_0(M) + 5\hbar \lambda_0 I_0(\mu) \right] = 0.$$
(5.51)

We choose $\langle \vec{\pi} \rangle = 0$ from the second equation and $\langle \sigma \rangle = v$. From the first equation, we obtain a relation

$$\mu_0^2 = -\varepsilon/v + \lambda_0 v^2 + 3\hbar\lambda_0 I_0(M) + 3\hbar\lambda_0 I_0(\mu).$$
(5.52)

The divergent integrals I_0 and I_1 are functions of M and μ . On the other hand, the derivative of $I_1(m_i)$ with respect to m_i can be represented as

$$\frac{\partial I_1(m_i)}{\partial m_i} = m_i I_0(m_i). \tag{5.53}$$

The derivative with respect to M is

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial M} = \hbar M I_0(M) - \frac{1}{2} \hbar \mu_0^2 \frac{\partial I_0(M)}{\partial M} - \hbar M I_0(M) - \frac{1}{2} \hbar M^2 \frac{\partial I_0(M)}{\partial M} + \frac{3}{2} \hbar \lambda_0 v^2 \frac{\partial I_0(M)}{\partial M} + \frac{3}{2} \hbar^2 \lambda_0 I_0(M) \frac{\partial I_0(M)}{\partial M} + \frac{3}{2} \hbar^2 \lambda_0 M I_0(\mu) \frac{\partial I_0(M)}{\partial M} = 0,$$
(5.54)

and hence the sigma mass is

$$M^{2} = -\mu_{0}^{2} + 3\lambda_{0}v^{2} + 3\hbar\lambda_{0}I_{0}(M) + 3\hbar\lambda_{0}I_{0}(\mu).$$
(5.55)

The derivative with μ is

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial \mu} = 3\hbar\mu I_0(\mu) - \frac{3}{2}\hbar\mu_0^2 \frac{\partial I_0(\mu)}{\partial \mu} - 3\hbar\mu I_0(\mu) - \frac{3}{2}\hbar\mu^2 \frac{\partial I_0(\mu)}{\partial \mu} + \frac{3}{2}\hbar\lambda_0 v^2 \frac{\partial I_0(\mu)}{\partial \mu} + \frac{15}{2}\hbar^2\lambda_0 I_0(\mu) \frac{\partial I_0(\mu)}{\partial \mu} + \frac{3}{2}\hbar^2\lambda_0 I_0(M) \frac{\partial I_0(\mu)}{\partial \mu} = 0,$$
(5.56)

and hence the pion mass is

$$\mu^{2} = -\mu_{0}^{2} + \lambda_{0}v^{2} + \hbar\lambda_{0}I_{0}(M) + 5\hbar\lambda_{0}I_{0}(\mu).$$
(5.57)

Inserting Eq. (5.52), we obtain two coupled equation

$$M^2 = \varepsilon/v + 2\lambda_0 v^2, \tag{5.58}$$

$$\mu^2 = \varepsilon/v + 2\hbar\lambda_0 I_0(\mu) - 2\hbar\lambda_0 I_0(M).$$
(5.59)

We evaluate the "dressed masses" M and μ at this stage. From the discussion of the chiral symmetry, we find $\varepsilon = f_{\pi}m_{\pi}^2$ and $v \sim f_{\pi}$. Hence the coupling constant is identified with $2\lambda_0 = (M^2 - m_{\pi}^2)/f_{\pi}^2$, the gap equation can be written as

$$f_{\pi}^{2} = \left(\frac{M^{2} - m_{\pi}^{2}}{\mu^{2} - m_{\pi}^{2}}\right) \hbar \left[I_{0}(\mu) - I_{0}(M)\right].$$
(5.60)

We fix the parameters $f_{\pi} = 93$ [MeV] and $m_{\pi} = 140$ [MeV]. The integrals I_0 and I_1 are understood to be regularized via a UV momentu cut-off Λ . This new parameter Λ , however, is a free parameter as well as we have seen in the previous chapter. One choice of the value is the NJL model cut-off because the sigma model can be derived from the NJL model with the bosonization technique [42] as we derived in two color case. We investigate the behavior of the gap equation (5.60) using the several cut-off as shown in Fig. 5.1. It is known that the pion mass $m_{\pi} = 140$ [MeV] and the "sigma mass" $m_{\sigma} \sim 600$ [MeV] in the NJL model result. Note that the "sigma meson mass" is not well-defined since its decay width is too wide. We adopt the result of the NJL model calculation for the sigma meson mass. According to Fig. 5.1, if we identify $\mu = 140$ [MeV] with the pion mass, M = 0 [MeV] cannot be identified with sigma mass. On the other hand, if we identify $M \sim 600$ [MeV] with the sigma mass, μ cannot be identified with pion mass even if we choose any cut-off.

In the chiral limit ($\varepsilon = 0$), the pion mass should vanish due to the Nambu-Goldstone (NG) theorem. However, the two mass equations (5.55) and (5.57) admit only massive solutions $M > \mu > 0$ for positive values of λ_0 and μ_0^2 and any real ultraviolet cut-off Λ in the momentum

integrals $I_0(m_i)$ and $I_1(m_i)$ as shown in Fig. 5.2. The pion mass equation (5.57) is massless in the tree level $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^0)$, but the non-perturbative one-loop corrections $\mathcal{O}(\hbar)$ give it a finite mass. The pion (ϕ_1, ϕ_2, ϕ_3) excitations $\hbar I_1(\mu)$ in the energy density (5.45) are massive, with $\mu \neq 0$ in the mean field approximation even in the chiral limit. While the Gaussian functional approach can contain the information of non-perturbative interaction term, it apparently does not satisfy the NG theorem [91].



Figure 5.1: The behavior of the gap equation (5.60) using the several cut-off in (M, μ) plane. The cut-off Λ is chosen as 400 [MeV] (dashed line), 657 [MeV] (solid line), 1.0 [GeV] (dotted line) and 2.0 [GeV] (dashed-dotted line). $\Lambda = 657$ [MeV] is the NJL cut-off used previous chapter.

5.4.3 The Bethe-Salpeter Equation

It is known from the quantum many body literature that the mean field approximation (MFA) does not respect internal symmetries. Actually, Nambu's proof of the existence of massless particle is realized by considering the collective mode [1]. The NG particles apper as poles in the two-particle propagator, hence they are considered as a bound states of the two massive elementary excitations [86]. In the quantum many-body thoery language, it corresponds to considering the random pahse approximation (RPA). The MFA is one of framework to define the single particle state in the many-body system. Implementing the RPA into MFA state, it corresponds to consider the scattering sate. The state can be obtained by solving the Bethe-Salpeter equation (or equivalently, four-point Green function Schwinger-Dyson equation).

The $\sigma - \pi$ scattering

We specify the two body dynamics in terms of the Bethe-Salpeter (BS) equation, or equivalently four-point Schwinger-Dyson equation. We focus on the *s*-channel part of the total scattering



Figure 5.2: The solution to the gap equation in the chiral limit ($\varepsilon = 0$) using the NJL cut-off $\Lambda = 657$ [MeV] in (M, μ) plane. Obviously, it is not satisfy the NG theorem: $M > \mu > 0$.

amplitude. The Feynmann diagram Fig. 5.3 gives the BS equation as

$$D_{\pi}(s) = V_{\pi}(s) + V_{\pi}(s)\Pi_{\pi}(s)D_{\pi}(s),$$
(5.61)

$$\Pi_{\pi}(s) = i\hbar \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{[k^2 - M^2 + i\epsilon][(k - P)^2 - \mu^2 + i\epsilon]} = I_{M\mu}(s),$$
(5.62)

$$V_{\pi}(s) = 2\lambda_0 \left[1 + \left(\frac{2\lambda_0 v^2}{s - \mu^2}\right) \right] = 2\lambda_0 \left[1 + \frac{M^2 - \varepsilon/v}{s - \mu^2} \right],$$
(5.63)

where $s = (p_1 + p_2)^2 \equiv P^2$ is the center-of-mass (CM) energy. The solution is written as

$$D_{\pi}(s) = \frac{V_{\pi}(s)}{1 - V_{\pi}(s)\Pi_{\pi}(s)}.$$
(5.64)

We consider the system of zero CM energy $\sqrt{s} = 0$ for the study of pion property. The polarization function $V_{\pi}(0)\Pi_{\pi}(0)$ is calculated using Eqs. (5.58) and (5.59) as

$$V_{\pi}(0)\Pi_{\pi}(0) = \frac{2\lambda_{0}\hbar}{M^{2} - \mu^{2}} [I_{0}(M) - I_{0}(\mu)] \left[1 - \frac{M^{2} - \varepsilon/\nu}{\mu^{2}}\right]$$
$$= \frac{\varepsilon/\nu - \mu^{2}}{M^{2} - \mu^{2}} \left[1 - \frac{M^{2} - \varepsilon/\nu}{\mu^{2}}\right]$$
$$= 1 + \frac{\varepsilon/\nu - M^{2}}{M^{2} - \mu^{2}} - \frac{\varepsilon/\nu(M^{2} - \varepsilon/\nu)}{\mu^{2}(M^{2} - \mu^{2})} - \frac{\varepsilon/\nu - M^{2}}{M^{2} - \mu^{2}}$$
$$= 1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{\nu} \frac{M^{2}}{\mu^{2}(M^{2} - \mu^{2})} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2}), \qquad (5.65)$$

where we have used the integral I_0 defined in Eq. (5.46) in the four-dimensional integral from

$$I_0(m_i) = i \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 - m_i^2 + i\epsilon}.$$
(5.66)

Thus, we verify the existence of the massless particle in the chiral limit and certainly the explicit chiral symmetry breaking term $\mathcal{H}_{SB} = -\varepsilon\sigma$ might give the finite mass for the pion.



(a) The square box represents the potential and the round blob is the BS amplitude itself. The double solid line denotes the dreesed meson.



(b) The potential entering the BS equation. The shaded blob together with the bouble line leading to it (the tadpole) denotes the vacuum expectation value of the field and the solid dot in the intersection of the four lines denotes the bare four-point coupling.

Figure 5.3: The diagramatic representation of the Bethe-Salpeter equation referred from Ref. [89].

The $\pi - \pi$ scattering

We found the existence of the massless particle as a pole of the BS equation in $\sigma - \pi$ channel. On the other hand the sigma mass would appear as a pole in $\pi - \pi$ channel. This channel has two distinct intermediate states, one with two "elementary" sigma field ϕ_0 and the other with two "elementary" pion fields ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 , ϕ_3 . The SD equations couple these two channels:

$$D_{MM}(s) = V_{MM}(s) + \frac{1}{2} V_{MM}(s) I_{MM}(s) D_{MM}(s) + \frac{3}{2} V_{M\mu}(s) I_{\mu\mu}(s) D_{\mu M}(s),$$
(5.67)

$$D_{M\mu}(s) = V_{M\mu}(s) + \frac{1}{2} V_{M\mu}(s) I_{\mu\mu}(s) D_{\mu\mu}(s) + \frac{1}{2} V_{MM}(s) I_{MM}(s) D_{M\mu}(s),$$
(5.68)

$$D_{\mu M}(s) = V_{\mu M}(s) + \frac{1}{2} V_{\mu M}(s) I_{MM}(s) D_{MM}(s) + \frac{1}{2} V_{\mu \mu}(s) I_{\mu \mu}(s) D_{\mu M}(s),$$
(5.69)

$$D_{\mu\mu}(s) = V_{\mu\mu}(s) + \frac{1}{2}V_{\mu\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s)D_{\mu\mu}(s) + \frac{3}{2}V_{\mu M}(s)I_{MM}(s)D_{M\mu}(s).$$
(5.70)

This can be cast into matrix form as

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{V} + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{\Pi} \boldsymbol{D}_{\sigma}, \qquad (5.71)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{\sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} D_{MM} & D_{M\mu} \\ D_{\mu M} & \frac{1}{3} D_{\mu \mu} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.72}$$

$$\mathbf{V} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{V}_{MM} & \mathbf{V}_{M\mu} \\ V_{\mu M} & \frac{1}{3} V_{\mu \mu} \end{pmatrix} \\
= 2\lambda_0 \begin{pmatrix} 3 \left[1 + 3 \frac{M^2 - \varepsilon/\nu}{s - M^2} \right] & \left[1 + 3 \frac{M^2 - \varepsilon/\nu}{s - M^2} \right] \\ \left[1 + 3 \frac{M^2 - \varepsilon/\nu}{s - M^2} \right] & \left[5 + 3 \frac{M^2 - \varepsilon/\nu}{s - M^2} \right] \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.73)

and

$$\mathbf{\Pi} = \begin{pmatrix} I_{MM} & 0\\ 0 & 3I_{\mu\mu} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.74)

The invariant function $I_{ii}(s)$ is given by

$$I_{ii}(s) = i \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{[k^2 - m_i^2 + i\varepsilon][(k - P)^2 - m_i^2 + i\varepsilon]},$$
(5.75)

where $s = P^2$. We define

$$\chi = 1 + 3 \frac{M^2 - \varepsilon/\nu}{s - M^2},$$
(5.76)

$$V_{M\mu}(s) = V_{\mu M}(s) = 2\lambda_0 \chi,$$
 (5.77)

$$V_{MM}(s) = 2\lambda_0 \cdot 3\chi, \tag{5.78}$$

$$V_{\mu\mu}(s) = 2\lambda_0(4+\chi),$$
 (5.79)

for simply. We find that the Eq. (5.67) and Eq. (5.69) are coupled and Eq. (5.70) and Eq. (5.68) are coupled. It turns out that the coupled equations are splited into two systems with two unknown. The solution can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{\sigma} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{\Pi}\right)^{-1} \boldsymbol{V}.$$
 (5.80)

The discriminant of the Eq. (5.80) is

$$\mathcal{D}(s) = \det\left[1 - \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{V}\mathbf{\Pi}\right]$$

$$= \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}V_{MM}(s)I_{MM}(s)\right)\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}V_{\mu\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s)\right)$$

$$- \left(\frac{1}{2}V_{\mu M}(s)I_{MM}(s)\right)\left(\frac{3}{2}V_{M\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s)\right)$$

$$= 1 - \frac{1}{2}(V_{MM}(s)I_{MM}(s) + V_{\mu\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s))$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4}V_{MM}(s)I_{MM}(s)V_{\mu\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s) - \frac{3}{4}V_{\mu M}(s)I_{MM}(s)V_{M\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s)$$

$$= 1 - \frac{1}{2}(V_{MM}(s)I_{MM}(s) + V_{\mu\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s))$$

$$\lambda_{0}^{2}\left[3\chi(4 + \chi) - 3\chi^{2}\right]I_{MM}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s) + 6\lambda_{0}I_{MM}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s)V_{M\mu}(s), \qquad (5.81)$$

which is requaired non-zero to have its inverse matrix. The inverse matrix is

$$\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{V}\boldsymbol{\Pi}\right)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}(s)} \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 - \frac{1}{2}V_{\mu\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s) & \frac{3}{2}V_{M\mu}(s)I_{\mu\mu}(s)\\ \frac{1}{2}V_{\mu M}(s)I_{MM}(s) & 1 - \frac{1}{2}V_{MM}(s)I_{MM}(s) \end{array}\right).$$
(5.82)

Thus, the solution is represented with the discriminant \mathcal{D}

$$D_{MM}(s) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}(s)} (V_{MM}(s) - 12\lambda_0 I_{\mu\mu}(s) V_{M\mu}(s)), \qquad (5.83)$$

$$D_{\mu\mu}(s) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}(s)} (V_{\mu\mu}(s) - 12\lambda_0 I_{MM}(s) V_{M\mu}(s)), \qquad (5.84)$$

$$D_{\mu M}(s) = D_{M\mu} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}(s)} V_{M\mu} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}(s)} V_{M\mu}.$$
(5.85)

Elementary and composite states in the *s*-channel manifest themselves as poles in the $D_{\sigma}(s)$ matrix, or equivalently as roots of

$$(s - M^2)\mathcal{D}(s) = 0.$$
 (5.86)

In the chiral limit ($\varepsilon = 0$), we work out

$$(s - M^2)V_{MM} = 6\lambda_0 [s + 2M^2], (5.87)$$

$$(s - M^2)V_{\mu\mu} = 2\lambda_0(5s - 2M^2), \tag{5.88}$$

$$(s - M^2)V_{M\mu} = 2\lambda_0(s + 2M^2).$$
(5.89)

The physical sigma mass can be obtained by substituting above relations into (5.86) and replacing $s = m_{\sigma}^2$ (CM system) as

$$m_{\sigma}^{2} = M^{2} \left(\frac{1 + 2\lambda_{0} [3I_{MM}(m_{\sigma}) - I_{\mu\mu}(m_{\sigma})] - 24\lambda_{0}^{2}I_{MM}(m_{\sigma})I_{\mu\mu}(m_{\sigma})}{1 - \lambda_{0} [3I_{MM}(m_{\sigma}) + 5I_{\mu\mu}(m_{\sigma})] + 12\lambda_{0}^{2}I_{MM}(m_{\sigma})I_{\mu\mu}(m_{\sigma})} \right).$$
(5.90)

We show the numerical plot Eq. (5.90) in Fig. 5.4 with the NJL cut-off. We can only identify the variational parameter M with the physical sigma meson mass m_{σ} at the beginning.



Figure 5.4: The solution m_{σ} to the Bethe-Salpeter equation (solid line) as a function of the variational parameter M with a cut-off $\Lambda = 657$ [MeV] in the chiral limit in comparison with $m_{\sigma} = M$ (dashed line).

5.5 The Gaussian Effective Action with the Optimized Expansion

We find the "masses" M and μ have to be considered only as variational parameters; they do not correspond to physical masses. The physical masses have to be determined as poles of the full propagator in the discussed approximation. The optimaized expansion (OE) method [87, 92] based on the effective action approach (see Appendix G) is one of other approach as inspired by the spontaneously symmetry breaking and the NG theorem [88]. An advantage of the OE is the physical mass can be found as poles of the full propagator in the discussed approximation. We would like to review the OE method and see the proof of NG theorem. We also see the effective potential defined from the effective action is equivalent to the Gaussian functional approach [93].

5.5.1 The Optimized Expansion

We discuss the scalar ϕ^4 theory. The classical action in (4-dimensional) Euclidean space is given as

$$S[\Phi] = \int d^4x \left[\frac{1}{2} \Phi(x) (-\partial^2 + m^2) \Phi(x) + \lambda \Phi^4(x) \right].$$
 (5.91)

In this section we write the four dimensional notation d^4x as dx for simply. The generating functional is defined by

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\Phi \exp\left[-S[\Phi] + \int dx J(x)\Phi(x)\right],$$
(5.92)

and the effective action is

$$\Gamma[\phi] = W[J] - \int dx J(x)\phi(x)$$
(5.93)

with one-particle-irreducibe (1PI) Green function $W[J] = \ln Z[J]$. The background field

$$\phi(x) = \frac{\delta W}{\delta J}$$
$$= \int \mathcal{D}\Phi\Phi \exp\left[-S[\Phi] + \int dx J(x)\Phi(x)\right]$$
(5.94)

is the vacuum expactation value of the scalor field. The effective action satisfies

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi(x)} = -J(x),\tag{5.95}$$

and is stationary in the physical theory when the sources are absent. When the background fields are constant, the true vacuum is given. The true vacuum expectation value (VEV) can be found as the stationary point of the effective potential as

$$V(\phi) = -\frac{\Gamma[\phi]|_{\phi=const.}}{\int dx}.$$
(5.96)

We write the classical action as

$$S_{\epsilon}[\Phi] = S^{(0)} + \epsilon S^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \Phi(-\partial^{2} + \Omega^{2}) \Phi + \epsilon \left[\frac{1}{2} \Phi(m^{2} - \Omega^{2}) \Phi + \lambda \Phi^{4}\right],$$
(5.97)

where the parameter ϵ has been introduced to identify the order of the perturbation and is set equal to one at the end. The coordinate index x and the integrations over it have been suppressed for notational simplicity. We choose ϕ_0 to satisfy the classical equation of motion for the modified action

$$\frac{\delta S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \phi_0} = -J. \tag{5.98}$$

The auxiliary field $\Omega(x)$ has been introduced in such a way that Z[J] dose not depend on them. However, in the truncated series the dependence on $\Omega(x)$ apprears. We require the *k*th-order approximant of the physical quantity W[J] to be as insensitive as possible to the small variation of Ω , by choosing Ω to satisfy

$$\frac{\delta W_k}{\delta \Omega} = 0 \tag{5.99}$$

and the effective action, as a Legendre transform, satisfies

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma_k}{\delta\Omega} = 0. \tag{5.100}$$

We expand S_{ϵ} around ϕ_0 :

$$S_{\epsilon}[\Phi] = S_{\epsilon}[\phi_{0}] + \frac{\delta S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \Phi} \Big|_{\phi_{0}} (\Phi - \phi_{0}) + \frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{\delta^{2} S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \Phi^{2}} \right|_{\phi_{0}} (\Phi - \phi_{0})^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{6} \left. \frac{\delta^{3} S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \Phi^{3}} \right|_{\phi_{0}} (\Phi - \phi_{0})^{3} + \frac{1}{24} \left. \frac{\delta^{4} S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \Phi^{4}} \right|_{\phi_{0}} (\Phi - \phi_{0})^{4} + \cdots .$$
(5.101)

The derivatives are written as

$$\frac{\delta^2 S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \Phi^2}\Big|_{\phi_0} = -\partial^2 - \Omega^2 + \epsilon \left. \frac{\delta^2 S^{(1)}}{\delta \Phi^2} \right|_{\phi_0},$$

$$\frac{\delta^{3,4} S_{\epsilon}}{\delta \Phi^{3,4}}\Big|_{\phi_0} = \epsilon \left. \frac{\delta^{3,4} S^{(1)}}{\delta \Phi^{3,4}} \right|_{\phi_0}.$$
(5.102)

Thus, the expansion becomes

$$S_{\epsilon}[\Phi] = S_{\epsilon}[\phi_{0}] + J(\Phi - \phi_{0}) + \frac{1}{2} \left[-\partial^{2} - \Omega^{2} + \epsilon \left. \frac{\delta^{2} S^{(1)}}{\delta \Phi^{2}} \right|_{\phi_{0}} \right] (\Phi - \phi_{0})^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{6} \epsilon \left. \frac{\delta^{3} S^{(1)}}{\delta \Phi^{3}} \right|_{\phi_{0}} (\Phi - \phi_{0})^{3} + \frac{1}{24} \epsilon \left. \frac{\delta^{4} S^{(1)}}{\delta \Phi^{4}} \right|_{\phi_{0}} (\Phi - \phi_{0})^{4} + \cdots .$$
(5.103)

Relabeling $\Phi-\phi_0\to\Phi'\to\Phi$ then the partition function can be written as

$$Z[J] = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\phi_{0}(-\partial^{2} + \Omega^{2})\phi_{0} - \epsilon \left[\frac{1}{2}(m^{2} - \Omega^{2})\phi_{0}^{2} + \lambda\phi_{0}^{4}\right] + J\phi_{0}\right)$$

 $\times \int \mathcal{D}\Phi \exp\left(\left(-\frac{1}{2}\Phi(-\partial^{2} + \Omega^{2})\Phi\right)\right)$
 $\times \exp\left(-\epsilon \left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}\Phi^{2} + \frac{1}{6}\frac{\delta^{3}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{3}}\Phi^{3} + \frac{1}{24}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}\Phi^{4}\right]\right),$ (5.104)

up to fourth order of the field Φ . The notation of the derivatives have been replaced such as $\frac{\delta^2 S^{(1)}}{\delta \Phi^2}\Big|_{\phi_0} \rightarrow \frac{\delta^2 S^{(1)}}{\delta \phi_0^2}$ for simply. The integration is evaluated as

$$\begin{split} &\int \mathcal{D}\Phi \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\Phi(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})\Phi\right) \exp\left(-\epsilon\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}\Phi^{2}+\frac{1}{6}\frac{\delta^{3}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{3}}\Phi^{3}+\frac{1}{24}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}\Phi^{4}\right]\right) \\ &=\int \mathcal{D}\Phi \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\Phi(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})\Phi\right) \\ &\times \left(1-\epsilon\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}\Phi^{2}+\frac{1}{6}\frac{\delta^{3}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{3}}\Phi^{3}+\frac{1}{24}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}\Phi^{4}\right]+\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{2})\right) \\ &\sim \int \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Phi(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})\Phi} \\ &-\epsilon\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})\Phi^{2}}\Phi^{2}+\frac{1}{6}\frac{\delta^{3}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{3}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})\Phi^{2}}\Phi^{3}+\frac{1}{24}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})\Phi^{2}}\Phi^{4}\right] \\ &=\left(\det[-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2}]\right)^{-1/2}\left(1-\epsilon\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})^{-1}+\frac{1}{8}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})^{-2}\right]\right) \\ &=\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\ln(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})+\ln\left[1-\epsilon\left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})^{-1}+\frac{1}{8}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})^{-2}\right)\right]\right] \\ &=\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\ln(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})-\epsilon\left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta^{2}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{2}}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})^{-1}+\frac{1}{8}\frac{\delta^{4}S^{(1)}}{\delta\phi_{0}^{4}}(-\partial^{2}+\Omega^{2})^{-2}\right)+\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{2})\right], \end{aligned} \tag{5.105}$$

in the first order of ϵ . We calculate the derivatives:

$$\frac{\delta^2 S^{(1)}}{\delta \phi_0^2} = m^2 - \Omega^2 + 12\lambda \phi_0^2, \tag{5.106}$$

$$\frac{\delta^4 S^{(1)}}{\delta \phi_0^4} = 24\lambda. \tag{5.107}$$

After taking $\epsilon = 1$, the effective action is obtain as

$$\Gamma[\phi_0] = \int dx \left(-\frac{1}{2} \phi_0(x) (-\partial^2 + m^2) \phi_0(x) - \lambda \phi_0^4(x) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \ln(-\partial^2 + \Omega^2) + \frac{1}{2} \int dx (\Omega^2 - m^2 - 12\lambda \phi_0^2(x)) (-\partial^2 + \Omega^2)^{-1} - 3\lambda \int dx (-\partial^2 + \Omega^2)^{-2}, \quad (5.108)$$

with recovering the space arguments and the integrations over them and the trace is understood including the integration over the space.

If we limit ourselves to the constant Ω , the effective potential $V(\phi)$ (5.96) can be expressed as

$$V(\phi_0) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi_0^2 + \lambda\phi_0^4 + I_1(\Omega) - \frac{1}{2}\Omega^2 I_0(\Omega) + \frac{1}{2}m^2 I_0(\Omega) + 6\lambda\phi_0^2 I_0(\Omega) + 3\lambda I_0^2(\Omega),$$
(5.109)

with denoting the constant classical field $\phi_0(x) = \phi_0$. We have introduced the momentum integrals

$$I_1(\Omega) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \ln(p^2 + \Omega^2), \qquad (5.110)$$

$$I_0(\Omega) = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p^2 + \Omega^2}.$$
(5.111)

It is notable that the effective potential is similar to the energy density (5.45). The auxiliary field Ω can be found as a root of the equation $\frac{\partial V(\phi)}{\partial \Omega} = 0$ as

$$\Omega^2 = m^2 + 12\lambda_0\phi_0^2 + 12\lambda_0I_0(\Omega).$$
(5.112)

5.5.2 Nambu-Goldstone Boson

We would like to see the existence of the NG boson in the OE method. We consider N component scalar field $\Phi = (\Phi_1, \dots, \Phi_N)$ theory following the previous subsection. The classical action in OE method is given by

$$S_{\epsilon}[\Phi,G] = \int dx dy \frac{1}{2} \Phi(x) G^{-1}(x,y) \Phi(y) + \epsilon \left[\int dx dy \frac{1}{2} \Phi(x) [(-\partial^2 + m^2) \delta(x-y) - G^{-1}(x,y)] \Phi(y) + \int dx \lambda (\Phi^2(x))^2 \right],$$
(5.113)

with an arbitrary free propagator G(x, y). The effective action, as a series in an artificial parameter ϵ , can be obtained as a sum of vacuum 1PI diagram with Feynman rules of the modified

theory. The given order expression for the effective action is optimized, choosing G(x, y) which fulfills the gap equation

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma_n}{\delta G^{-1}(x,y)} = 0, (5.114)$$

to make the dependence on the unphysical field as weak as possible. The action has the O(N) symmetry and we assume the symmetry is sponteneously broken to O(N - 1) with N - 1 NG boson. The trial propagators for massive field is difined as

$$G^{-1}(x,y) = (-\partial^2 + \Omega^2(x))\delta(x-y),$$
(5.115)

and for massless fields are

$$g^{-1}(x,y) = (-\partial^2 + \omega^2(x))\delta(x-y).$$
(5.116)

The effective action in the first order of the OE is obtained

$$\begin{split} \Gamma[\varphi] &= -\int dx \left[\frac{1}{2} \varphi(x) (-\partial^2 + m^2) \varphi(x) + \lambda(\varphi^2(x))^2 \right] - \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \ln G^{-1} - \frac{N-1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \ln g^{-1} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int dx (\Omega^2(x) - m^2 - 12\lambda \varphi^2(x)) G(x, x) + \frac{N-1}{2} \int dx (\omega^2(x) - m^2 - 4\lambda \varphi^2(x)) g(x, x) \\ &- 3\lambda \int dx G^2(x, x) - (N^2 - 1)\lambda \int dx g^2(x, x) - 2(N-1)\lambda \int dx G(x, x) g(x, x), \end{split}$$
(5.117)

with the classcal field $\varphi(x)$ The effective action is required to satisfy the stability with respect to small changes of variational parameters

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\Omega^2} = \frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\omega^2} = 0, \tag{5.118}$$

which lead to the gap equations

$$\Omega^{2}(x) - m^{2} - 12\lambda\varphi^{2}(x) - 12\lambda G(x, x) - 4(N - 1)\lambda g(x, x) = 0,$$
(5.119)

$$\omega^2(x) - m^2 - 4\lambda\varphi^2(x) - 4\lambda G(x, x) - 4(N+1)\lambda g(x, x) = 0,$$
 (5.120)

which determine the functionals $\Omega[\varphi]$ and $\omega[\varphi]$.

Considering a constant background $\phi = (\phi_1, \dots, \phi_N)$, the action gives the effective potential

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^{2}\phi^{2} + \lambda(\phi^{2})^{2} + I_{1}(\Omega) + (N-1)I_{1}(\omega)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(\Omega^{2} - m^{2} - 12\lambda\phi^{2})I_{0}(\Omega) + \frac{N-1}{2}(\omega^{2} - m^{2} - 4\lambda\phi^{2})I_{0}(\omega)$$

$$- 3\lambda I_{0}^{2}(\Omega) - (N^{2} - 1)\lambda I_{0}^{2}(\omega) - 2(N-1)\lambda I_{0}(\Omega)I_{0}(\omega), \qquad (5.121)$$

with the functions $\Omega(\phi)$ and $\omega(\phi)$ determined by

$$\Omega^{2} - m^{2} - 12\lambda\phi^{2} - 12\lambda I_{0}(\Omega) - 4(N-1)\lambda I_{0}(\omega) = 0, \qquad (5.122)$$

$$\omega^2 - m^2 - 4\lambda\phi^2 - 4\lambda I_0(\Omega) - 4(N+1)\lambda I_0(\omega) = 0, \qquad (5.123)$$

where

$$I_1(\Omega) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \ln(p^2 + \Omega^2), \qquad (5.124)$$

$$I_0(\Omega) = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p^2 + \Omega^2}.$$
(5.125)

The effective potential agrees with the energy density in the Gaussian functional approach taking N = 4. In the OE approach, by generalising the Gaussian effective potential (GEP) to space-time dependent fields, the Gaussian effective action (GEA) can be obtained. It enables us to derive not only the effective potential, but also 1PI Green function with arbitrary external momenta in the Gaussian approximation.

The minimum of the GEP is at stationary point ϕ_0 fulfilling

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi_i} = (m^2 + 4\lambda\phi^2 + 12\lambda I_0(\Omega) + 4(N-1)\lambda I_0(\omega))\phi_i = 0, \qquad (5.126)$$

where the index i runs over 1 to N. In the unsymmetric minimum we have

$$B = m^{2} + 4\lambda\phi^{2} + 12\lambda I_{0}(\Omega) + 4(N-1)\lambda I_{0}(\omega) = 0.$$
 (5.127)

The parameters Ω and ω are only variational parameters in the free propagator, and do not correspond to physical masses of scalar particles. The physical masses have to be determined as poles of the full propagator in the discussed approximation. The inverse of that propagator can be obtained as a second derivative of the GEA. Performing the Fourier transform, the two-point vertex is calculated as

$$\Gamma_{i}(p) = \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\varphi_{i}^{2}}\Big|_{\varphi(x)=\phi}$$

$$= \left[p^{2} + B + 8\lambda\varphi_{i}^{2} + 12\lambda\varphi_{i}\Omega I_{-1}(p,\Omega)\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_{i}} + 4(N-1)\lambda\varphi_{i}\omega I_{-1}(p,\omega)\frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\varphi_{i}}\right]\Big|_{\varphi_{i}(x)=\phi},$$
(5.128)

with

$$I_{-1}(p,\Omega) = 2 \int \frac{d^4q}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{(q^2 + \Omega^2)((p+q)^2 + \Omega^2)}.$$
(5.129)

The variationals with respect to Ω and ω are evaluated from (5.119) and (5.120):

$$2\Omega \frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_i} - 24\lambda\varphi_i - 12\lambda\Omega I_{-1}(p,\Omega)\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_i} - 4(N-1)\lambda\omega I_{-1}(p,\omega)\frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\varphi_i} = 0$$
$$\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_i} = \frac{12\lambda\varphi_i + 2(N-1)\lambda\omega I_{-1}(p,\omega)\frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\varphi_i}}{\Omega(1-6\lambda I_{-1}(p,\Omega))},$$
(5.130)

and

$$2\omega \frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\varphi_i} - 8\lambda\varphi_i - 4\lambda\Omega I_{-1}(p,\Omega)\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_i} - 4(N+1)\lambda\omega I_{-1}(p,\omega)\frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\varphi_i} = 0$$

$$\frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\varphi_i} = \frac{4\lambda\varphi_i + 2\lambda\Omega I_{-1}(p,\Omega)\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_i}}{\omega(1 - 2(N+1)\lambda I_{-1}(p,\omega))}.$$
(5.131)

These two coupled equation are solved as

$$\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta\varphi_i} = \frac{12\lambda\varphi_i - 16(N+2)\lambda^2\varphi_i I_{-1}(p,\omega)}{\Omega(1 - 6\lambda I_{-1}(p,\Omega) - 2(N+1)\lambda I_{-1}(p,\omega) + 8(N+2)\lambda^2 I_{-1}(p,\Omega)I_{-1}(p,\omega))},$$
(5.132)
$$\frac{\delta\omega}{\delta\omega} = \frac{4\lambda\varphi_i}{(5.132)}$$

$$\overline{\delta\varphi_i} = \frac{1}{\omega(1 - 6\lambda I_{-1}(p,\Omega) - 2(N+1)\lambda I_{-1}(p,\omega) + 8(N+2)\lambda^2 I_{-1}(p,\Omega)I_{-1}(p,\omega))}.$$
 (5.133)

Then the two-point vertex is given as

$$\Gamma_i = p^2 + B + 8\lambda\phi^2 A, \tag{5.134}$$

where

$$A = 1 + \frac{18\lambda I_{-1}(p,\Omega) + 2(N-1)\lambda I_{-1}(p,\omega) - 24(N+2)\lambda^2 I_{-1}(p,\Omega)I_{-1}(p,\omega)}{1 - 6\lambda I_{-1}(p,\Omega) - 2(N+1)\lambda I_{-1}(p,\omega) + 8(N+2)\lambda^2 I_{-1}(p,\Omega)I_{-1}(p,\omega)}.$$
 (5.135)

In the asymmetric state $\phi_1 = \phi_0$ and $\phi_i = 0$ $(i = 2, \dots, N)$ with B = 0, an inverse propagator $\Gamma_1(p) = p^2 + 8\lambda A(p)\phi_0^2$ corresponds to a massive particle and N-1 inverse propagator $\Gamma_i(p) = p^2$ of NG bosons. The mass for massive particle is given as $\Gamma_1(m) = 0$, which agrees with the sigma mass Eq. (5.90) in N = 4 case.

5.6 Discussions

We have found that the Gaussian functional or Gaussian effective action approaches fully respect to the NG theorem and correspond to MPA + RPA framework. We need the thermodynamical potential including the effect of non-perturbative interaction. The thermodynamical potintial is generated from the partition function with Euclidean action. In this sense, it may be better to accept the Gaussian effective action approach. The fields in the Euclidean action should be integrated out to generate the thermodynamical potential. Hence we desire a Gaussian form action or higher order terms can be treated perturbatively.

The physical mass and coupling constant are derived from two- and four-point vertex in the effective action. We have discussed the physical masses at unrenormalized level. Some of masses in effective action correspond to NG boson and others include the interaction effect. If the physical coupling constant would be small, the partition function for new classical fields (which are φ in previous section) up to second order can be integrated out and higher order terms are treated perturbatively. We expect that our mesons and diquark-baryons are replaced by the new classical fields and eventually reproduce the lattice QCD result.

Chapter 6

Summary

6.1 Summary

We have investigated two-color quark-hadron matter at finite temperature and chemical potential using a Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model supplemented by Polyakov loop dynamics. Ultimately all the quark-hadron matter properties will have to be derived from the QCD Lagrangian. As a first step, we treat the chiral properties of the strong interaction using the NJL model accompanied by Polyakov loop terms for confinement effects in the sense that color non-singlets are suppressed in the hadron phase. Our primary aim of the present study is to investigate the emergence and dynamics of baryonic degrees of freedom in addition to mesonic modes. Baryons are realized as diquarks in $N_c = 2$ QCD. Their role as bosons is fundamentally different from the $N_c = 3$ case in which baryons are fermions subject to the Pauli exclusion principle. Nonetheless, the $N_c = 2$ case is of conceptual interest because corresponding lattice simulations are not limited by the sign problem at non-zero, real chemical potential μ .

A full bosonization leads to an extended linear sigma model incorporating diquark degrees of freedom in the effective Lagrangian which establishes a connection between the hadron Lagrangian and an underlying quark dynamical approach including diquark degrees of freedom. Connecting the NJL approach to standard linear sigma model is not a new issue. However, we find it useful to draw such a connection incorporating in addition the diquark (baryon) sector in a consistent way. It turns out that even at this stage, the derived meson-diquark Lagrangian must be treated non-perturbatively in order to reproduce the two-color lattice result.

The thermodynamical properties have been discussed and compared with the lattice QCD calculation. The derived effective Lagrangian include the both of quark and hadron properties. The phase structure is examined in the mean field approximation approach. The behavior of chiral and diquark condensates and their intertwining at finite μ , reflecting the underlying Pauli-Gürsey symmetry, are discussed. The Polyakov loop plays an important role at finite temperature. The deconfinement transition is now correlated with the chiral condensate. The characteristic temperatures for the chiral (T_{χ}) and deconfinement (T_{dec}) cross-overs become about equal ($T_{\chi} \simeq T_{dec} \simeq 225$ [MeV]) once the quarks are coupled to the Polyakov loop. At finite chemical potential and low temperature, $T < T_{dec}$, the diquark condensate plays an important role. A non-zero diquark condensate emerges at $\mu = \frac{1}{2}m_{\pi}$, the onset of Bose-Einstein condensation in this model. As μ increases the diquark condensate grows quickly and stays finite at large chemical potential. With increasing diquark condensate, the chiral condensate decreases subject to the condition $\sigma_0^2 + |\Delta_0|^2 \simeq const$.

The meson and diquark masses behave naturally in accordance with the symmetry breaking pattern associated with chiral and diquark condensation. The pion mass first stays constant and then grows linearly with the chemical potential once diquark condensation starts. The sigma meson mass is about twice the dynamical quark mass until the onset of diquark condensation. Due to the strong coupling of the sigma with diquark-baryons, the mixed sigma-diquark modes behave quite differently from the case without coupling.

The equation-of-state (EOS) of the quark-hadron system has interesting properties as a function of increasing chemical potential. When μ approaches its critical value $\mu_c = m_{\pi}/2$ from below, the pressure divided by its Stefan-Boltzmann limit increase rapidly at low temperature. This reflects the fact that the energy of the lowest diquark mode drops as $m_{\pi} - 2\mu$ and hence contributes prominently to the pressure. It becomes a zero mode at $\mu = \mu_c$, the onset of diquark condensation, at which point the system develops a Bose-Einstein condensation (BEC) phase. As the chemical potential increases beyond $\mu \simeq m_{\pi}$, the dynamical mass of quark quasiparticles drops below μ and the system undergoes a BEC-BCS crossover. With μ further increasing, the quark quasiparticle energy develops a minimum at finite momentum p. Above the deconfinement transition, the EOS is governed by quark degrees of freedom, but the hadronic modes still have a significant influence up to the crossover temperature range.

The quark density ρ as function of the chemical potential is a quantity of interest that is readily accessible in two-color lattice QCD. It turns out that the mean field approximation of the (P)NJL model underestimates this density by about a factor of two. Corrections treated in Gaussian approximation do not change this result significantly. This is not surprising since the Gaussian approximation misses important correlations between diquarks and scalar bosons generated by the higher order terms ($\mathcal{L}^{(3)}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{(4)}$) of the hadronic effective Lagrangian. The net attractive interactions produced by strong couplings in $\mathcal{L}^{(3)}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{(4)}$ are expected to raise the density considerably.

We have reviewed the Gaussian functional approach as a non-perturbative treatment. The Schrödinger quantization prescription is constructed in the field theory. The ground state energy including a non-perturbative interaction have been worked out in a simple model. The sponteneous symmetry breaking and the Nambu-Goldstone theorem is fully supported in the Gaussian functional approximation. This framework is expected to apply our effective hadron Lagrangian and reproduce the lattice QCD result.

6.2 Outlook

We have derived an effective hadron Lagrangian from two color NJL type Lagrangian and many thermodynamical properties especially the emergence and dynamics of baryonic degree of freedom have been investigated. We would like to see the outlook briefly.

6.2.1 Non-perturbative Treatment in Hadron Lagrangian

We have investigated the thermodynamical property in the Gaussian approximation in addition to the mean field approximation (MPA). The approximation gives the hadronic contribution in quark-hadron matter. We find that the baryonic contribution is important in medium. However, the Gaussian approximation misses the hadron-hadron correlation. We treat only the noninteractive hadron Lagrangian based on the MPA approach quark model. In this sense, it can be identified as the mean field approximation in the hadron level. To include the correlation between hadrons, we have to treat the non-perturbative interaction term, which corresponds the random phase approximation (RPA) in the many body theory language. The Gaussian functional approximation can be expected to correspond the RPA. The Nambu-Goldstone theorem is guaranteed in the Gaussian functional or Gaussian effective action approximation. Hence, the Gaussian functional or Gaussian effective action approximation can be expected to a nonperturbative treatment in our hadron Lagrangian. As we discussed in previous chapter, the new physical mass and coupling constant are described by the original mass and coupling constant which we derived from the NJL model by a full bosonization. We expect that a new effective action is described by these new physical mass and coupling constant and the interaction can be treated perturbatively.

6.2.2 Confinement Effect from the QCD Lagrangian

Ultimately all the quark-hadron matter properties will have to be derived from the QCD Lagrangian. To describe hadron, the quark confinement is a most important property of QCD as well as chiral symmetry. The NJL model is lack of confinement and the Polyakov loop terms play a role of confinement kinematics in the sense of suppressing a color non-singlet degree of freedom in hadron phase at finite temperature. Recently, remarkable studies have been developed. The first one is so-called non-local PNJL model [94,95]. The four-fermion interaction is described by non-local distribution instead of the local delta function. The original local NJL model interaction is strong at quark momenta $|\vec{p}| < \Lambda$ and turned off at $|\vec{p}| > \Lambda$ in terms of the NJL cut-off Λ . The non-local interaction is expected to be closer to QCD and its running coupling strength. It implies that the gluon fields provide a Wilson line between the non-local fermionic bilinears. The second is a reformulation of QCD in terms of the Cho-Faddeev-Niemi-Shabanov (CFNS) decomposition of the Yang-Mills field [96, 97]. The non-local NJL type interaction is derived from the reformulation of QCD by CFNS separation. Hence, it is expected that a full treatment of the confinement effect based on the gluon fields and chiral symmetry from first principle. We will attempt to using the non-local PNJL model as our new starting Lagrangian and manipulate bosonization.

6.2.3 Construction of Real Baryons

Our interest is aimed at investigating the property of baryonic matter. In $N_c = 2$ QCD, baryons are realized as diquark and its role is fundamentally different form the real fermionic baryon in $N_c = 3$ case. We have successfully applied the bosonization technique for baryons in two color system. However, for the three color system we have not worked out the hadronisation program yet. We have to expand our bosonization (hadronisation) technique to include three body fermion system. We just mention several studies for describing baryons from quark level model based on auxiliary field method. Baryons as quark-diquark model picture is discussed in the auxiliary fields framework [73,98–102]. However, the diquark field in this picture is treated as a fundamental field and has a finite size. Another study of baryon using auxiliary fields is discussed in strong coupling limit [103].

Appendix A

Notations and Conventions

A.1 System of Measurement

We accept the so-called 'Natural unit' as $c = \hbar = k_B = 1$, where c is the speed of light, \hbar is the reduced Planck constant (or simply called Planck constant) and k_B is the Boltzmann constant. We note the comparison:

$$1[eV] = 1.16 \times 10^4 [K] \tag{A.1}$$

$$1[MeV] = 1.78 \times 10^{-30} [kg]$$
 (A.2)

$$197[MeV] = 1[fm^{-1}]. \tag{A.3}$$

A useful relation used above is $\hbar c = 197$ [MeV· fm].

A.2 Relativistic Notation

Greek indices μ, ν , etc. generally run over the four space-time coordinate labeling 0, 1, 2, 3 and Latin indices i, j, k, etc. run over the three spatial coordinate labeling 1, 2, 3. We define

$$x^{\mu} = (ct, \vec{x}), \quad x_{\mu} = (ct, -\vec{x}).$$
 (A.4)

We adopt the summation convention (Einstein notation):

$$\sum_{\mu=0}^{3} a^{\mu} b_{\mu} = a^{\mu} b_{\mu} = a_{\mu} b^{\mu} = a^{0} b^{0} - a^{1} b^{1} - a^{2} b^{2} - a^{3} b^{3}.$$
 (A.5)

The Minkowski space-time metric is $g_{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1)$. In the Euclidean space, Greek indices run over 1, 2, 3, 4 and $x^4 = ix^0$ and the metric is $g_{\mu\nu} = -\delta_{\mu\nu}$. Using the metric tensor we define

$$x^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu} x_{\nu}. \tag{A.6}$$

Derivatives with respect to coordinates are written as

$$\partial_{\mu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \left(\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \nabla\right), \quad \partial^{\mu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{\mu}} = \left(\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, -\nabla\right). \tag{A.7}$$

The energy-momentum vector

$$p^{\mu} = (E/c, \vec{p}), \quad p_{\mu} = (E/c, -\vec{p})$$
 (A.8)

satisfies

$$p^2 = p^{\mu} p_{\mu} = E^2 - \bar{p}^2 = m^2.$$
(A.9)

We shall also use

$$px = p \cdot x = p^{\mu}x_{\mu} = Et - \vec{p} \cdot \vec{x}.$$
 (A.10)

We sometimes write $ct = x_0 = x^0$ and $E/c = p_0 = p^0$.

A.3 The Pauli matrix

The Pauli matrices

$$\sigma^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.11)

have the property

$$\operatorname{tr}[\sigma^{i}] = 0, \quad \det[\sigma] = -1, \tag{A.12}$$

$$(\sigma^i)^2 = I, \tag{A.13}$$

$$[\sigma^i, \sigma^j] = 2\varepsilon_{ijk}\sigma_k,\tag{A.14}$$

$$\sigma_i \sigma_j = \delta_{ij} I + i \varepsilon_{ijk} \sigma_k. \tag{A.15}$$

We sometimes write

$$\sigma^0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = I, \tag{A.16}$$

and

$$\sigma^{\mu} = (\sigma_0, \sigma_i), \quad \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} = (\sigma_0, -\sigma_i), \tag{A.17}$$

$$\sigma_{\mu} = (\sigma_0, -\sigma_i), \quad \bar{\sigma}_{\mu} = (\sigma_0, \sigma_i). \tag{A.18}$$

The symmetric matrices are σ_0 , σ_1 and σ_3 and the antisymmetric one is σ_2 . In the text, we write the Pauli matrices for two color space as t_i and for two flavor space as τ_i .

Appendix B Dirac Algebra

The Gamma Matrix

We note some useful properties of Dirac algebra following some textbooks [104–107]. The Dirac gamma matrices satisfy the anti-commutation relation:

 $\{\gamma^{\mu},\gamma^{\nu}\} = 2g^{\mu\nu},\tag{B.1}$

and

B.1

$$(\gamma^{0})^{2} = 1, \quad (\gamma^{i})^{2} = -1, \quad \gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu} = -\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\mu},$$
 (B.2)

$$(\gamma^0)^{\dagger} = \gamma^0, \quad (\gamma^i)^{\dagger} = -\gamma^i, \quad (\gamma^{\mu})^{\dagger} = \gamma^0 \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^0.$$
 (B.3)

The notation

$$\gamma_5 = \gamma^5 = i\gamma^0\gamma^1\gamma^2\gamma^3 \tag{B.4}$$

satisfies

$$\{\gamma^5, \gamma^\mu\} = 0, \quad (\gamma^5)^2 = 1.$$
 (B.5)

The gamma matrices are expressed in the chiral representation :

$$\gamma^{0} = \gamma_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{i} = -\gamma_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{i} \\ -\sigma^{i} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma_{5} = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & -I \end{pmatrix}, \quad (B.6)$$

with the 2×2 identity matrix *I*. It can be further written as

$$\gamma^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{\mu} \\ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma_{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{\sigma}_{\mu} \\ \sigma_{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma_{5} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{0} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sigma_{0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B.7)

Products of gamma matrices:

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu} = 4, \tag{B.8}$$

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{\alpha}\gamma^{\mu} = -2\gamma_{\alpha},\tag{B.9}$$

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{\alpha}\gamma_{\beta}\gamma^{\mu} = 4g_{\alpha\beta}.\tag{B.10}$$

Trace formula of gamma matrices:

$$tr[1] = 4,$$
 (B.11)

$$tr[\gamma^{\mu}] = 0, \tag{B.12}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}[\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}] = 4g^{\mu\nu},\tag{B.13}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}[\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\rho}\gamma^{\sigma}] = 4(g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\sigma} + g^{\mu\sigma}g^{\nu\rho} - g^{\mu\rho}g^{\nu\sigma}), \qquad (B.14)$$

$$tr[\gamma_5] = 0, \tag{B.15}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}[\gamma_5 db] = 0, \tag{B.16}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}[\boldsymbol{a}_1 \boldsymbol{a}_2 \cdots \boldsymbol{a}_n] = 0, \quad \text{for } n \text{ odd} \tag{B.17}$$

with the slash notation $a^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu} = \mathbf{a}$.

B.2 Dirac Bilinear Form

The Lorentz spinor bilinear expressions like $\bar{\psi}\psi, \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi$, etc. are represented as $\bar{\psi}\Gamma^{\alpha}\psi$ with α denoting the Lorentz transformation property. The 16 independent 4×4 Dirac matrices Γ^{α} are

$$\Gamma^{S} = \mathbf{1}, \quad \Gamma^{V}_{\mu} = \gamma_{\mu}, \quad \Gamma^{T}_{\mu\nu} = \sigma_{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2} [\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}], \quad \Gamma^{A}_{\mu} = \gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}, \quad \Gamma^{P} = i\gamma_{5},.$$
(B.18)

They satisfy $(\Gamma^{\alpha})^2 = \Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha} = \pm 1$, $\Gamma_{\alpha} = (\Gamma^{\alpha})^{-1}$ and $\gamma^0(\Gamma^{\alpha})^{\dagger}\gamma^0 = \Gamma^{\alpha}$, hence the forms $\bar{\psi}\Gamma^{\alpha}\psi$ are hermitian.

B.3 Charge Conjugation

The charge conjugation matrix interchanges particle and anti-particle:

$$C = i\gamma_2\gamma_0 = -C^{-1} = -C^{\dagger} = -C^T,$$
(B.19)

$$\psi^c = C\psi^I, \tag{B.20}$$

$$[C,\gamma_5] = 0, \tag{B.21}$$

$$C^{-1}\Gamma^{\alpha}C = \eta_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha T}, \tag{B.22}$$

with the values η_{α} are summarized in the following table:

B.4 Euclidean Dirac Matrices

The Euclidean time space coordinate, instead of the Minkowski space, is introduced as

$$x^{\mu} = (x_0, \vec{x}) \to x^{\mu} = x_{\mu} = (\vec{x}, x_4),$$
 (B.23)

with $x_4 = ix_0$ and the index μ runs over 1 to 4.

In thermal field theory, a system is described in Euclidean space with minus sign. Since the Dirac field is applied to thermodynamics, we have to define the Euclidean Dirac matrices:

$$\gamma_{E\mu} = \gamma_E^{\mu} = (\vec{\gamma}, \gamma_4), \quad \text{with} \quad \gamma_4 = i\gamma_0. \tag{B.24}$$

The commutation relation in Euclidean space is defined as

$$\{\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}\} = -2\delta_{\mu\nu}.\tag{B.25}$$

The scalar product of two Euclidean four-vectors a_{μ}, b_{ν} is described as

$$a_{\mu}b^{\nu} = a_{\mu}b_{\nu}\delta_{\mu\nu} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} a_{i}b_{i}.$$
 (B.26)

We introduce the slash notation

$$\mathbf{a} = a_{\mu}\gamma_E^{\mu} = a_4\gamma_4 + \vec{a}\cdot\vec{\gamma}. \tag{B.27}$$

In particular, we use

$$\partial = \gamma_4 \partial_4 + \vec{\gamma} \cdot \nabla. \tag{B.28}$$

B.5 The Scalar Diquark

The Dirac bilinear form in the diquark form will be written as $\psi^T \Gamma \psi$. Our diquark should satisfy the Lorentz scalar, parity plus, flavor singlet and color singlet in the two flavor and two color space. The infinitesimal Lorentz transformation is given as

$$\psi^T \Gamma \psi \to \psi^{T'} \Gamma \psi' = \psi^T S^T \Gamma S \psi, \tag{B.29}$$

$$S = 1 - \frac{i}{4} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} \sigma^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (B.30)

Using the charge conjugation C

$$(\sigma^{\mu\nu})^T = -C^{-1}\sigma^{\mu\nu}C,\tag{B.31}$$

thus we obtain

$$S^{T}\Gamma S = \Gamma - \frac{i}{4}\Gamma \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{4}C^{-1}\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\mu\nu}C\Gamma.$$
 (B.32)

The Lorentz scalar bilinear satisfies

$$\Gamma \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} \sigma^{\mu\nu} = C^{-1} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} \sigma^{\mu\nu} C \Gamma, \qquad (B.33)$$

which leads

$$[\sigma^{\mu\nu}, C\Gamma] = 0. \tag{B.34}$$

The γ_5 satisfies $[\sigma^{\mu\nu}, \gamma_5] = 0$, hence the Lorentz scalar matrix is $\Gamma = C^{-1}\gamma_5$ and the Lorentz scalar bilinear is $\psi^T C^{-1} i \gamma_5 \psi$. The parity transformation is:

$$\psi \to \psi' = \gamma_0 \psi, \tag{B.35}$$

$$\psi^T C^{-1} i\gamma_5 \to \psi^{T'} C^{-1} i\gamma_5 = \psi^T C^{-1} i\gamma_5 \gamma_0.$$
(B.36)

Hence, $\psi^T C^{-1} i \gamma_5 \psi$ is parity plus. From the condition of the flavor and color singlet, we introduce the anti-symmetric operators $(i\tau_2)_{ij} = \varepsilon_{ij}$ (flavor space) and $(it_2)_{ij} = \varepsilon_{ij}$ (color space). Finally, our desired diquark is obtained using Eq. (B.19) as

$$\psi^T C i \gamma_5 t_2 \tau_2 \psi. \tag{B.37}$$

Appendix C

Fierz Transformations

The NJL-type interaction is derived from a local coupling between color currents $J^a_{\mu} = \bar{\psi}\gamma_{\mu}t^a\psi$ involving the quark fields ψ and the generators for the color group t^a . Taking four spinor fields $\psi_{1,2,3,4}$. Its four-point interaction Lagrangian can be written as $G(\bar{\psi}_1\Gamma^a\psi_2)(\bar{\psi}_3\Gamma_a\psi_4)$ with the product of the Dirac bilinears using a specific Dirac matrix Γ^{α} and the coupling constant G. There exists the equivalent form $G'(\bar{\psi}_1\Gamma^\beta\psi_4)(\bar{\psi}_3\Gamma_\beta\psi_2)$, if there are any relation between the coefficients G and G' which is known as the Fierz identities [108].

The Fierz identities can be discussed using general mathematics theory. We do not discuss general Fierz identities (see [109–112]) but see the case of the Lorentz group (Dirac algebra) and SU(N) algebra to derive two color and two flavor NJL model interaction [78].

C.1 Dirac Algebra

C.1.1 Fierz Identity

The set of the Dirac matrices

$$\{\Gamma^{\alpha}\} = \{\mathbf{1}, \gamma^{\mu}, \sigma^{\mu\nu}, \gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{5}, i\gamma_{5}\} \quad (\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3)$$
(C.1)

gives the basis for the Dirac matrix space where the Greek index α is taken from 1 to 5 corresponding scalar, vector, tensor and so on. The orthogonality relation is

$$\operatorname{tr}(\Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta}) = 4\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}.\tag{C.2}$$

Any 4×4 matrix X is expanded in terms of the basis as

$$X = x_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{tr}(X\Gamma_{\alpha})\Gamma^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{tr}(X\Gamma^{\alpha})\Gamma_{\alpha}.$$
 (C.3)

The summation over the Greek indices are taken implicitly likewise the Einstein notation. From these relation we find the identity in writing the component explicitly as

$$\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} = \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{il}\Gamma_{\alpha,kj},\tag{C.4}$$

where the Latin indices represent the components and run from 1 to 4. This is the basic Fierz identity. Multiplying matrices Γ^{α} and Γ^{β} , this leads the usual Fierz identities

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{ij}\Gamma^{\beta}_{kl} = \frac{1}{4} (\Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma_{\rho})_{il} (\Gamma^{\beta}\Gamma_{\sigma})_{kj}$$
$$= \frac{1}{16} \operatorname{tr} (\Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma_{\rho}\Gamma^{\beta}\Gamma_{\sigma})\Gamma^{\rho}_{il}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{kj}.$$
(C.5)

When we consider a interaction Lagrangian, the Greek indices are chosen to form Lorentz scalar quantities such as $\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}$. The resulting Fierz identities are summarized below:

$$\begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{1})(\mathbf{1}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu})(\gamma^{\mu}) \\ (\sigma_{\mu\nu})(\sigma^{\mu\nu}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5})(\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{5}) \\ (i\gamma_{5})(i\gamma_{5}) \end{pmatrix} (ij:kl) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 4 & -2 & 0 & -2 & 4 \\ 6 & 0 & -2 & 0 & -6 \\ -4 & -2 & 0 & -2 & -4 \\ -1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{1})(\mathbf{1}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu})(\gamma^{\mu}) \\ (\sigma_{\mu\nu})(\sigma^{\mu\nu}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5})(\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{5}) \\ (i\gamma_{5})(i\gamma_{5}) \end{pmatrix} (il:kj)$$
(C.6)

with corresponding to Eq. (C.5).

C.1.2 Diquark Channel

The Fierz rearrangement is considered as the interchange $(ij : kl) \rightarrow (il : kj)$ usually. In other words, a particle ψ remains a particle and the same applies for antiparticle $\overline{\psi}$. In the text, however, we discuss another transformation such as $(ij : kl) \rightarrow (ik : lj)$ which corresponds particle-particle (diquark) channel. This means that we have to change a particle to antiparticle and vice verse. In the Dirac algebra, the transformation for a particle to antiparticle is the charge conjugation matrix C (see Appendix B.3). By using the charge conjugation property, we find

$$\bar{\psi}_1 \Gamma^\alpha \psi_2 = \eta_\alpha \bar{\psi}_2^c \Gamma^\alpha \psi_1^c. \tag{C.7}$$

If we denote the usual Fierz transformation as $(1234) \rightarrow (1432)$, the desired form can be written as

$$(1234) \to (124^c 3^c) \to (13^c 4^c 2).$$
 (C.8)

Hence, we find the Fierz matrix for diquark channel in contrast with Eq. (C.6) as

$$\begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{1})(\mathbf{1}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu})(\gamma^{\mu}) \\ (\sigma_{\mu\nu})(\sigma^{\mu\nu}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5})(\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{5}) \\ (i\gamma_{5})(i\gamma_{5}) \end{pmatrix} (ij:kl) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 \\ 4 & -2 & 0 & -2 & 4 \\ 6 & 0 & -2 & 0 & -6 \\ 4 & 2 & 0 & 2 & 4 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (C^{*})(C) \\ (\gamma_{\mu}C^{*})(C\gamma^{\mu}) \\ (\sigma_{\mu\nu}C^{*})(C\sigma^{\mu\nu}) \\ (\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}C^{*})(C\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{5}) \\ (i\gamma_{5}C^{*})(Ci\gamma_{5}) \end{pmatrix} (ik:lj).$$
(C.9)

Before closing this section, we discuss the Fierz transformation in particle-particle channel in terms of the previous section. To obtain the Fierz transformation in particle-particle channel, we need new basis, denoting Λ^{α} , for the matrix space. In the Dirac algebra, it is given for particle-particle pair $\Lambda_{\alpha} = \Gamma_{\alpha}C$ and for antiparticle-antiparticle pair $\bar{\Lambda}_{\alpha} = \bar{C}\Gamma_{\alpha}$. They obviously satisfy the orthogonality relation

$$\operatorname{tr}[\Lambda^{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta}] \to 4\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}.$$
 (C.10)

Repeating same discussion, we may find

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{5} \Gamma_{ij}^{\alpha} \Gamma_{kl}^{\alpha} = \eta_{\alpha} \frac{1}{16} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \operatorname{tr} (\Gamma^{\alpha} \Lambda^{\alpha} (\Gamma^{\alpha})^{T} \bar{\Lambda}^{\alpha}) \Lambda_{ik}^{\alpha} \bar{\Lambda}_{lj}^{\alpha}$$
$$= \eta_{\alpha} \frac{1}{16} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \operatorname{tr} (\Gamma^{\alpha} \Gamma^{\beta} C C^{-1} \Gamma^{\alpha} C \bar{C} \Gamma^{\beta}) \Lambda_{ik}^{\beta} \bar{\Lambda}_{lj}^{\beta}$$
$$= -\eta_{\alpha} \frac{1}{16} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \operatorname{tr} (\Gamma^{\alpha} \Gamma^{\beta} \Gamma^{\alpha} \Gamma^{\beta}) \Lambda_{ik}^{\beta} \bar{\Lambda}_{lj}^{\beta}, \qquad (C.11)$$

which is Eq. (C.9).

C.2 SU(N) Algebra

C.2.1 Fierz Identity

We consider SU(N) algebra in the fundamental representation. The SU(N) is constructed by the $N \times N$ special unitary matrix U which is described as $U = \exp(iX)$ where X is a Hermitian matrix and satisfies $\operatorname{tr} X = 0$. The Hermitian matrix X is expanded by the $N^2 - 1$ generators of SU(N), especially the SU(2) generators are $\sigma_a/2$ (σ_a are the Pauli matrices with a = 1, 2, 3) and the SU(3) are $\lambda_a/2$ (λ_a are the Gell-Mann matrices with $a = 1, \dots, 8$). They form matrix spaces and satisfy the orthogonality relations

$$\operatorname{tr}[\sigma_a \sigma_b] = 2\delta_{ab},\tag{C.12}$$

$$tr[\lambda_a \lambda_b] = 2\delta_{ab}. \tag{C.13}$$

In the case of any fundamental representation of SU(N) algebra $\{T_a\}$ $(a = 1, \dots, N^2 - 1)$ satisfies $tr[T_aT_b] = C\delta_{ab}$. Since these matrices are traceless, the basis need identity matrix to expand any $N \times N$ matrix like Eq. (C.14). Then the set $\{1, T_a\}$ gives the basis for SU(N) and any $N \times N$ complex matrix X can be expanded in terms of

$$X = X_0 \mathbf{1} + \sum_{a=1}^{N^2 - 1} X_a T_a,$$
(C.14)

with

$$X_0 = \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr}(X), \quad X_a = \frac{1}{C} \operatorname{tr}(XT_a).$$
 (C.15)

We substitute Eq. (C.15) into Eq. (C.14) and take the general elements

$$(X)_{ij} = \frac{1}{N} (X)_{kk} \delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{C} \sum_{a=1}^{N^2 - 1} (X)_{lk} (T_a)_{kl} (T_a)_{ij},$$
(C.16)

and obtain from the coefficients of $(X)_{lk}$ the completeness relation

$$\delta_{il}\delta_{kj} = \frac{1}{N}\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} + \frac{1}{C}\sum_{a=1}^{N^2-1} (T_a)_{ij}(T_a)_{kl}.$$
(C.17)

From this relation, we find the square of the generators is proportional to identity matrix as

$$\sum_{a} T_a T_a = C_2(R) \mathbf{1},\tag{C.18}$$

where $C_2(R)$ is the conventional quadratic Casimir invariant depending on the representation. In the fundamental representation denoting f

$$C_2(f) = C \frac{N^2 - 1}{N^2}.$$
 (C.19)

From Eq. (C.17) and Eq. (C.18), we obtain the Fierz identity for SU(N)

$$\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} = \frac{1}{N}\delta_{il}\delta_{kj} + \frac{1}{C}\sum_{a=1}^{N^2 - 1} (T_a)_{il}(T_a)_{kj},$$
(C.20)

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N^2-1} (T_a)_{ij} (T_a)_{kl} = C \frac{N^2 - 1}{N^2} \delta_{il} \delta_{kj} - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{b=1}^{N^2-1} (T_b)_{il} (T_b)_{kj}.$$
 (C.21)

We note the SU(2) case

$$\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{il}\delta_{kj} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{3}(\sigma_a)_{il}(\sigma_a)_{kj},$$
 (C.22)

$$\sum_{a=1}^{3} (\sigma_a)_{ij} (\sigma_a)_{kl} = \frac{3}{2} \delta_{il} \delta_{kj} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b=1}^{3} (\sigma_b)_{il} (\sigma_b)_{kj}.$$
 (C.23)

C.2.2 Diquark Channel

In general, the Fierz transformation in particle-particle channel is constructed by new basis Λ_a which may be related with the original basis by using transpose operator like discussed in C.1.2. We denote the original basis as Γ_a^{α} with the representation α . The basis matrices Λ_a^{α} with the representation α is assumed to be normalized as

$$\operatorname{tr}(\Lambda_a^{\alpha}\bar{\Lambda}_b^{\beta}) = \delta^{\alpha\beta}g_{ab},\tag{C.24}$$

with the metric g_{ab} . The Fierz transformation is defined similarly with Eq. (C.11) as

$$\sum_{a} (\Gamma_{a}^{\alpha})_{ij} (\Gamma_{a}^{\alpha})_{kl} = \sum_{\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \sum_{b} (\Lambda_{b}^{\beta})_{ik} (\bar{\Lambda}_{b}^{\beta})_{lj}, \qquad (C.25)$$

with the coefficient

$$C_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{a} \operatorname{tr}(\Gamma_{a}^{\alpha} \Lambda_{b}^{\beta} (\Gamma_{a}^{\alpha})^{T} \bar{\Lambda}_{b}^{\beta}).$$
(C.26)

The matrix space in particle-particle channel of SU(N) in the fundamental representation decomposes into two irreducible representation, the symmetric and antisymmetric tensors. We denote the corresponding basis matrices respectively as S_a and A_a . The symmetric matrices S_a

are simply the symmetric matrices T_a with the identity matrix, while the antisymmetric A_a are the antisymmetric T_a to have the same norm C. We identify $\Gamma_a^{\alpha} = T_a$ with the fundamental representation, the symmetric case $\Lambda_a^{\alpha} = S_a$ and the antisymmetric case $\Lambda_a^{\alpha} = A_a$ and denoting the representation index α as \mathcal{T} as the fundamental representation, \mathcal{S} as the symmetric case and \mathcal{A} as the antisymmetric case in the above discussion. We find

$$C_{\mathcal{TS}} = \frac{N-1}{N}, \quad C_{\mathcal{TA}} = -\frac{N+1}{N}.$$
 (C.27)

Then we obtain the identity

$$\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} = \frac{1}{C}\sum_{a} (S_a)_{ik} (S_a)_{lj} + \frac{1}{C}\sum_{a} (A_a)_{ik} (A_a)_{lj},$$
(C.28)

$$\sum_{a} (T_a)_{ij} (T_a)_{kl} = \frac{N-1}{N} \sum_{a} (S_a)_{ik} (S_a)_{lj} - \frac{N+1}{N} \sum_{a} (A_a)_{ik} (A_a)_{lj}.$$
 (C.29)

We note the SU(2) case

$$\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta_{ik}\delta_{lj} + (\sigma_1)_{ik}(\sigma_1)_{lj} + (\sigma_3)_{ik}(\sigma_3)_{lj} + (\sigma_2)_{ik}(\sigma_2)_{lj} \right),$$
(C.30)

$$\sum_{a} (\sigma_{a})_{ij} (\sigma_{a})_{kl} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta_{ik} \delta_{lj} + (\sigma_{1})_{ik} (\sigma_{1})_{lj} + (\sigma_{3})_{ik} (\sigma_{3})_{lj} \right) - \frac{3}{2} (\sigma_{2})_{ik} (\sigma_{2})_{lj}.$$
(C.31)

C.3 NJL model interaction

We consider two color and two flavor NJL model interaction following [64]. We start from the color current interaction (2.14) and show that performing a Fierz transformation we obtain the interaction term (2.21) with the coupling coefficients related by (2.22). We first consider mesonic channel $\bar{q}q$ and next diquark channel qq.

We rewrite the interaction term and keep track explicitly of all color, flavor and Dirac indices:

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = -G_c \sum_{a=1}^{3} (\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu} t_a \psi) (\bar{\psi}\gamma_{\mu} t^a \psi)$$

$$= -G_c \sum_{a=1}^{3} \left[\bar{\psi}_{i,p,\mu} \psi_{j,q,\nu} \bar{\psi}_{k,r,\rho} \psi_{l,s,\sigma} (\gamma_{\alpha})_{\mu\nu} (\gamma^{\alpha})_{\rho\sigma} (t_a)_{ij} (t_a)_{kl} \delta_{pq} \delta_{rs} \right], \qquad (C.32)$$

with color indices i, j, k, l, flavor indices p, q, r, s and Dirac indes $\mu, \nu.\rho, \sigma$.

Fierz transformation for flavor indices in $\bar{q}q$ channel is performed using the relation:

$$\delta_{pq}\delta_{rs} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b=0}^{3} (\tau_b)_{ps} (\tau_b)_{rq},$$
(C.33)

where τ_b are Pauli matrices with $\tau_0 = 1$. For color indices:

$$\sum_{a=1}^{3} (t_a)_{ij} (t_a)_{kl} = \frac{3}{2} \delta_{il} \delta_{kj} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{c=1}^{3} (t_c)_{il} (t_c)_{kj}.$$
 (C.34)

For Dirac indices:

$$(\gamma_{\alpha})_{\mu\nu}(\gamma^{\alpha})_{\rho\sigma} = \delta_{\mu\sigma}\delta_{\rho\nu} - \frac{1}{2}(\gamma_{\alpha})_{\mu\sigma}(\gamma^{\alpha})_{\rho\nu} - \frac{1}{2}(\gamma_{\alpha}\gamma_{5})_{\mu\sigma}(\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma_{5})_{\rho\nu} + (i\gamma_{5})_{\mu\sigma}(i\gamma_{5})_{\rho\nu}.$$
 (C.35)

Fierz transformation for $\bar{q}q$ channel is performed by substituting above relations as

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{3}{4} G_c \sum_{b=0}^{3} \left[(\bar{\psi}\tau_b \psi)^2 + (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5\tau_b\psi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\gamma_\alpha\tau_b\psi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\gamma_\alpha\gamma_5\tau_5\psi)^2 \right] \\ - \frac{1}{4} G_c \sum_{b=0}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} \left[(\bar{\psi}t_a\tau_b\psi)^2 + (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5t_a\tau_b\psi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\gamma_\alpha t_a\tau_b\psi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\gamma_\alpha\gamma_5t_a\tau_b\psi)^2 \right].$$
(C.36)

The first term is color singlet and second term is color triplet. The color singlet scalar and pseudoscalar part is written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q} = \frac{G_0}{2} \left[(\bar{\psi}\psi)^2 + (\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5\vec{\tau}\psi)^2 \right],$$
(C.37)

from which we can easily read

$$G_0 = \frac{3}{2}G_c.$$
 (C.38)

We next perform diquark channel qq as below. For flavor indices:

$$\delta_{pq}\delta_{rs} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b=0}^{3} (\tau_b)_{pr} (\tau_b)_{sq}.$$
 (C.39)

For color indices:

$$\sum_{a=1}^{3} (t_a)_{ij} (t_a)_{kl} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\delta_{ik} \delta_{lj} + (t_1)_{ik} (t_a)_{lj} + (t_3)_{ik} (t_a)_{lj} \right] - \frac{3}{2} (t_2)_{ik} (t_2)_{lj}.$$
(C.40)

For Dirac indices:

$$(\gamma_{\alpha})_{\mu\nu}(\gamma^{\alpha})_{\rho\sigma} = (C^*)_{\mu\rho}(C)_{\sigma\nu} - \frac{1}{2}(\gamma^{\alpha}C^*)_{\mu\sigma}(C\gamma^{\alpha})_{\sigma\nu} - \frac{1}{2}(\gamma_{\alpha}\gamma_5C^*)_{\mu\rho}(C\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma_5)_{\sigma\nu} + (i\gamma_5C^*)_{\mu\rho}(i\gamma_5C)_{\sigma\rho}$$
(C.41)

We find

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{3}{4} G_c \sum_{b=0}^{3} \left[(\bar{\psi} \tau_b t_2 C \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C \tau_b t_2 \psi) + (\bar{\psi} i \gamma_5 \tau_b t_2 C \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C i \gamma_5 \tau_b t_2 \psi) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi} \gamma_\alpha \tau_b t_2 C \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C \gamma^\alpha \tau_b t_2 C \psi) - \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi} \gamma_\alpha \gamma_5 \tau_b t_2 C \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C \gamma^\alpha \gamma_5 \tau_b t_2 \psi) \right] \\ \left. - \frac{1}{4} G_c \sum_{b=0}^{3} \sum_{S=0,1,3} \left[(\bar{\psi} \tau_b t_S C \bar{\psi}) (\psi^T C \tau_b t_S \psi) + (\bar{\psi} i \gamma_5 \tau_b t_S \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C i \gamma_5 \tau_b t_S \psi) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi} \gamma_\alpha \tau_b t_S C \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C \gamma^\alpha \tau_b t_S \psi) - \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi} \Gamma_\alpha \gamma_5 \tau_b t_S C \bar{\psi}^T) (\psi^T C \Gamma^\alpha \gamma_5 \tau_b t_S \psi) \right].$$

$$\left. (C.42)$$

The color singlet scalar diquark part is written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{qq} = \frac{H_0}{2} G_c(\bar{\psi}i\gamma_5\tau_2 t_2 C\bar{\psi}^T)(\psi^T Ci\gamma_5\tau_2 t_2\psi), \qquad (C.43)$$

from which we can easily read

$$H_0 = \frac{3}{2}G_c.$$
 (C.44)

Appendix D

Thermal Field Theory

In this appendix, we review the formulation for thermal field theory following [113–115]. Especially, we formulate to construction of Bose and Fermi statistics. First, we discuss the construction of a partition function described by fields using path integral formalism. To introduce the temperature, we go to the Euclidean metric with minus sign instead of the Minkowski:

$$(t^2 - \vec{x}^2) \to -(\tau^2 + \vec{x}^2),$$
 (D.1)

taking $it \to \tau$, which is called the imaginary time formalism. Due to the periodicity or antiperiodicity of the thermal field, we introduce so-called the Matsubara frequencies in the momentum representation. We work out the partition function and the thermodynamical potential density for the complex scalar field and the Dirac field using the Matsubara formalism. Finally, we discuss a technique of the summation of the frequencies.

D.1 The Partition Function

We take a Schrödinger picture field $\hat{\phi}(\vec{x}, 0)$ and the conjugate momentum $\hat{\pi}(\vec{x}, 0)$ at t = 0. The field operator eigenstate $|\phi\rangle$ satisfy

$$\phi(\vec{x},0)|\phi\rangle = \phi(\vec{x})|\phi\rangle,$$
 (D.2)

where $\phi(\vec{x})$ is the eigenvalue. We have the usual completeness and orthogonality conditions

$$\int d\phi(\vec{x}) |\phi\rangle \langle \phi| = 1, \tag{D.3}$$

$$\langle \phi_a | \phi_b \rangle = \delta(\phi_a(\vec{x}) - \phi_b(\vec{x})).$$
 (D.4)

Similarly, the conjugate momentum operator eigenstate $|\pi\rangle$ satisfy

$$\hat{\pi}(\vec{x},0)|\pi\rangle = \pi(\vec{x})|\pi\rangle,\tag{D.5}$$

with the eigenvalue $\pi(\vec{x})$. The completeness and orthogonality conditions are

$$\int \frac{d\pi(\vec{x})}{2\pi} |\pi\rangle \langle \pi| = 1, \tag{D.6}$$

$$\langle \pi_a | \pi_b \rangle = \delta(\pi_a(\vec{x}) - \pi_b(\vec{x})).$$
 (D.7)

We take a eigenstate for this system $|\phi_a\rangle$ at t = 0, then the time evolution of the system is described $e^{-iHt}|\phi_a\rangle$ where H is Hamiltonian of the system. Taking the state $|\phi_b\rangle$ realized after the time development, the transition amplitude between these states is $\langle \phi_b | e^{-iHt} | \phi_a \rangle$. By the path integral method, the transition amplitude is expressed

$$\langle \phi_b | e^{-iHt} | \phi_a \rangle = \int \mathcal{D}\pi \int_{\phi(\vec{x},0)=\phi_a(\vec{x})}^{\phi(\vec{x},t)=\phi_b(\vec{x})} \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left[i\int_0^t dt' \int d^3x (\pi\dot{\phi} - \mathcal{H}(\phi,\pi))\right]$$
(D.8)

where \mathcal{H} is Hamiltonian density.

On the other hand, a partition function for statistical mechanics is assigned as

$$Z(\beta) = \sum_{n} e^{-\beta E_{n}} = \operatorname{tr} e^{-\beta \hat{H}} = \int d\phi_{a} \langle \phi_{a} | e^{-\beta \hat{H}} | \phi_{a} \rangle, \tag{D.9}$$

where β is the inverse of temperature and the Boltzmann constant is taken $k_B = 1$. The trace is evaluated by using a complete set of eigenvectors of H as

$$H|n\rangle = E_n|n\rangle. \tag{D.10}$$

From the last line in Eq. (D.9), the partition function could be interpreted as expression for time transition amplitude from 0 to β , if we adopt imaginary time formulation $\tau = it$. Thus, the partition function is expressed

$$Z(\beta) = \int \mathcal{D}\pi \int_{\text{periodic}} \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left[\int_0^\beta d\tau \int d^3x (\pi \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \tau} - \mathcal{H}(\phi, \pi))\right]$$
(D.11)

by applying the path integral method. Where "periodic" means periodicity of $\phi_a(\vec{x}) = \phi(\vec{x}, 0) = \phi(\vec{x}, \beta)$ and this notation is omitted afterward. If we suppose the system is described by Klein-Gordon Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi) - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2, \qquad (D.12)$$

the conjugate momentum is defined as $\pi = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_0 \phi)}$. The momentum is integrated out immediately and the numerical factor independent of β is suppressed. Then the partition function can be written as

$$Z(\beta) = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-S_E(\beta)\right), \qquad (D.13)$$

with the Euclidean action

$$S_E(\beta) = \int_0^\beta d\tau \int d^3x \frac{1}{2} \left((\partial_\tau \phi)^2 + (\nabla \phi)^2 + m^2 \phi^2 \right).$$
(D.14)

D.2 The Matsubara Propagator

We consider Klein-Gordon Lagrangian as an example and introduce the symbol

$$\int_{0}^{\beta} d^{4}x = \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \int d^{3}x,$$
 (D.15)

and $x = (\vec{x}, \tau)$. Klein-Gordon Lagrangian is a Gaussian type for the fields, hence the functional integral is evaluated as

$$Z(\beta) = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\int_0^\beta d^4x \phi(x)G^{-1}\phi(x)\right)$$
$$= (\det G)^{1/2} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\ln\det G\right) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\ln G\right), \qquad (D.16)$$

where

$$G^{-1} = -\partial_{\tau}^2 - \nabla^2 + m^2$$
 (D.17)

is the inverse of the Green function.

In the field theory, a generation functional $Z(\beta; j)$ with $Z(\beta) = Z(\beta; j = 0)$ is given as

$$Z(\beta; j) = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left[-S_E(\beta) + \int_0^\beta d^4x j(\vec{x}, \tau)\phi(\vec{x}, \tau)\right]$$
$$= Z(\beta) \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}\int_0^\beta d^4x d^4x' j(x)G(x, x')j(x')\right], \tag{D.18}$$

with $x = (\vec{x}, \tau), x' = (\vec{x}', \tau')$. The Green function G(x, x') satisfies

$$(-\partial_{\tau}^2 - \nabla^2 + m^2)G(x, x') = \delta(x - x').$$
 (D.19)

The functional differentiation gives the propagator with imaginary time as

$$\frac{1}{Z(\beta)} \frac{\delta^2 Z(\beta;j)}{\delta j(\vec{x},\tau_1) \delta j(\vec{x},\tau_2)} \bigg|_{j=0} = \frac{1}{Z(\beta)} \int \mathcal{D}\phi \ \phi(\vec{x},\tau_1) \phi(\vec{x},\tau_2) \exp\left(-S_E(\beta)\right). \tag{D.20}$$

From the discussion of appendix E, we obtain the propagator as

$$\langle \phi | \phi(x')\phi(x) | \phi \rangle = G(x, x') = \Delta(x - x').$$
 (D.21)

The right hand side of Eq. (D.20) may be regarded as the thermal average of T-product of field operator. We omit the space index \vec{x} henceforth. We recall that the thermal average of an operator A is defined as

$$\langle A \rangle_{\beta} = \frac{1}{Z(\beta)} \operatorname{tr}(Ae^{-\beta H})$$
 (D.22)

and T-product is

$$T(\phi(-i\tau_1)\phi(-i\tau_2)) = \begin{cases} \phi(-i\tau_1)\phi(-i\tau_2) & \text{if } \tau_1 > \tau_2\\ \phi(-i\tau_2)\phi(-i\tau_1) & \text{if } \tau_2 > \tau_1 \end{cases}$$
(D.23)

Hence, the thermal average of T-product of field operator is described as

$$\langle T(\phi(-i\tau_1)\phi(-i\tau_2)) \rangle_{\beta} = \frac{1}{Z(\beta)} \operatorname{tr} \left[e^{-\beta H} T(\phi(-i\tau_1)\phi(-i\tau_2)) \right]$$

= $\frac{1}{Z(\beta)} \int d\phi \langle \phi | e^{-(\beta-\tau_1)H} \phi e^{-(\tau_1-\tau_2)H} \phi e^{-\tau_2 H} | \phi \rangle,$ (D.24)
where $\tau_1 > \tau_2$ have been assumed for simply. The field operator is defined as $\phi(-i\tau) = e^{H\tau}\phi e^{-H\tau}$ in Heisenberg picture have been used. Then one inserts a complete set of states of the field operator at 'times' τ_1 and τ_2 and repeats the procedure leading to the path integral formalism. It is also that $Z(\beta; j)$ can be written as

$$Z(\beta;j) = \operatorname{tr}\left[e^{-\beta H}T\left(e^{\int_0^\beta d^4x j(\vec{x},\tau)\phi(-i\tau)}\right)\right].$$
 (D.25)

From the periodicity of the paths in path integral formalism, the thermal average has a property

$$\langle T(\phi(-i\beta)\phi(-i\tau))\rangle_{\beta} = \langle T(\phi(0)\phi(-i\tau))\rangle_{\beta}.$$
 (D.26)

Because of periodicity of the trace, the imaginary time propagator $\Delta(\tau)$ has a property

$$\Delta(\tau) = \langle T(\phi(-i\tau)\phi(0)) \rangle_{\beta} = \Delta(\tau - \beta)$$
(D.27)

in any time interval $[0, \beta]$. The Fourier transform of this propagator is given as

$$\Delta(i\omega_n) = \int_0^\beta d\tau e^{i\omega_n \tau} \Delta(\tau), \qquad (D.28)$$

and its inverse is

$$\Delta(\tau) = T \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\omega_n \tau} \Delta(i\omega_n).$$
 (D.29)

Since $\Delta(\tau)$ is periodic, the Fourier transform is taken over a finite interval $[0, \beta]$, so that frequencies ω_n is taken discrete values as

$$\omega_n = 2\pi nT,\tag{D.30}$$

which are called Matsubara frequencies. Form above discussion, the way of treating field theory as statistical mechanics is

$$it \to \tau$$

$$\int d^4x \to \int_0^\beta d\tau \int d^3x \qquad (D.31)$$

$$i \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \to -T \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3}$$

(D.32)

are replaced, then

$$p_0 \to i\omega_n = i2\pi nT \tag{D.33}$$

is used. Thus, Eq. (D.16) is now represented as

$$Z(\beta) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\int d^{3}x \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \sum_{n} \ln(\omega_{n}^{2} + \omega^{2})\right),$$
 (D.34)

where we have used the definition of the Klein-Gordon propagator in the momentum space (with Minkowski metric) as

$$G = \int \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p_0^2 - \omega^2},$$
 (D.35)

with $\omega^2 = \vec{p}^2 + m^2$.

The discussion up to here is obtained supposing that a symmetry for particle exchange is that of boson. We have another quantum statistics, namely fermion. The fermion has anti-symmetric property for particle exchange as

$$\langle \psi | \psi(x')\psi(x) | \psi \rangle = -\langle \psi | \psi(x)\psi(x') | \psi \rangle.$$
 (D.36)

This means that

$$\psi(\vec{x},0) = -\psi(\vec{x},\beta),\tag{D.37}$$

hence,

$$\Delta(0) = -\Delta(\beta). \tag{D.38}$$

Therefore, The Matsubara frequencies for fermion is assigned as

$$\omega_n = \frac{(2n-1)\pi}{\beta} \quad \text{or} \quad \omega_n = \frac{(2n+1)\pi}{\beta}.$$
 (D.39)

The remaining problem is how to take the summation over the Matsubara frequencies, which will be discussed later.

Before closing this section, we discuss a grand canonical ensemble. The grand canonical partition function is defined as

$$Z(\beta,\mu) = \operatorname{tr} e^{-\beta(H-\mu\cdot N)} = \int \mathcal{D}\pi \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left[\int_0^\beta d^4x \left(\pi \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\tau} - \mathcal{H} + \mu \mathcal{N}\right)\right], \quad (D.40)$$

where $\mu \cdot N = \sum_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha} N_{\alpha}$, N_{α} is a particle number operator and μ_{α} is the chemical potential corresponding the particle. \mathcal{N} is the conserved particle number density which is the 0-th component of the conserved current. Namely, it is the quantity relating density ρ :

$$N = Q = \int d^3x \rho = \int d^3x J^0 = \int d^3x \mathcal{N}.$$
 (D.41)

The conserved particle number \mathcal{N} in case of fermion corresponds the baryon number and/or the lepton number, which depends on the field, while the conjugate momentum does not. Hence, the partition function would be described as the form of (D.13). In boson case, however, it also depends on momentum so we have to go through the Hamiltonian form of (D.40).

D.3 The Complex Scalar Field

We discuss several example in this and next section. First, we consider the complex scalar field. The complex scalar field Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \partial_{\mu} \Phi^* \partial^{\mu} \Phi - m^2 \Phi^* \Phi. \tag{D.42}$$

The conserved particle number is obtained from the Noether current as

$$\mathcal{N} = i(\Phi^*\partial_0\Phi - \Phi\partial_0\Phi^*) = i(\Phi^*\Pi - \Phi\Pi^*), \tag{D.43}$$

where $\Pi = \partial_0 \Phi$ is the canonical conjugate momentum. The complex field is decomposed into real and imaginary part as

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\phi_1 + i\phi_2) \tag{D.44}$$

$$\Phi^* = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\phi_1 - i\phi_2). \tag{D.45}$$

By using these real scalar field, Hamiltonian and particle number are written as

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} [(\pi_1)^2 + (\pi_2)^2 + (\nabla\phi_1)^2 + (\nabla\phi_2)^2 + m^2(\phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2)]$$
(D.46)

$$\mathcal{N} = \phi_2 \pi_1 - \phi_1 \pi_2. \tag{D.47}$$

Thus, the partition function of scalar field is given as

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\pi_{1}\mathcal{D}\pi_{2}\mathcal{D}\phi_{1}\mathcal{D}\phi_{2} \exp\left[\int_{0}^{\beta} d^{4}x \left(i\pi_{1}\dot{\phi}_{1} + i\pi_{2}\dot{\phi}_{2}\right)\right] + \left[(\pi_{1})^{2} + (\pi_{2})^{2} + (\nabla\phi_{1})^{2} + (\nabla\phi_{2})^{2} + m^{2}(\phi_{1}^{2} + \phi_{2}^{2})\right] + \mu[\phi_{2}\pi_{1} - \phi_{1}\pi_{2}]\right]$$
$$= \int \mathcal{D}\phi_{1}\mathcal{D}\phi_{2} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{\beta} d^{4}x \left(\left(\frac{\partial\phi_{1}}{\partial\tau}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial\phi_{2}}{\partial\tau}\right)^{2} + (\nabla\phi_{1})^{2} + (\nabla\phi_{2})^{2} + m^{2}\phi_{1}^{2} + m^{2}\phi_{2}^{2} + 2i\mu \left(\phi_{1}\frac{\partial\phi_{2}}{\partial\tau} - \phi_{2}\frac{\partial\phi_{1}}{\partial\tau}\right) - \mu^{2}\phi_{1}^{2} - \mu^{2}\phi_{2}^{2}\right]\right]$$
(D.48)

from Eq. (D.40). The second line means performing completing square with conjugate momentum, it is integrated out, then the numerical constant is dropped. The derivative terms of the fields ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are performed by partial integration. Its Fourier transformation is replaced by (D.31) and (D.33). The Euclidean action is described in the matrix form:

$$S_E = \int d^3x \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \omega_n^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2 & -2\mu\omega_n \\ 2\mu\omega_n & \omega_n^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (D.49)$$

where $\omega^2 = \vec{p}^2 + m^2$. The functional integration is done by Eq. (E.13) and described as

$$Z = \exp\left(-\int d^3x \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_n \frac{1}{2} \ln[(\omega_n^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2)^2 + 4\mu^2 \omega_n^2]\right).$$
 (D.50)

We compute further

$$\ln[(\omega_n^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2)^2 + 4\mu^2 \omega_n^2] = \ln[(\omega_n^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2 + 2i\mu\omega_n)(\omega_n^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2 - 2i\mu\omega_n)]$$

= $\ln[((\omega_n + i\mu)^2 + \omega^2)((\omega_n - i\mu)^2 + \omega^2)]$
= $\ln[(\omega_n + i(\omega + \mu))(\omega_n - i(\omega - \mu))(\omega_n + i(\omega - \mu))(\omega_n - i(\omega + \mu))]$
= $\ln[(\omega_n^2 + (\omega + \mu)^2)(\omega_n^2 + (\omega - \mu)^2)]$
= $\ln(\omega_n^2 + (\omega + \mu)^2) + \ln(\omega_n^2 + (\omega - \mu)^2).$ (D.51)

We consider the summation over ω_n . First of all, we take derivative of \ln term with $\alpha = \omega \pm \mu$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha} \sum_{n} \ln(\omega_n^2 + \alpha^2) = \sum_{n} \frac{2\alpha}{\omega_n^2 + \alpha^2} = \sum_{n} \frac{2\alpha/(2\pi T)^2}{n^2 + \alpha^2/(2\pi T)^2} = \frac{1}{T} \coth\left(\frac{\alpha}{2T}\right), \quad (D.52)$$

the sum formula:

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{x^2 + n^2} = \frac{\pi}{x} \coth(\pi x),$$
 (D.53)

has been used. Then, we integrate the result with α :

$$\int d\alpha \coth\left(\frac{\alpha}{2T}\right) = 2T \ln|\sinh(\alpha/2T)| = 2T \left[\frac{\alpha}{2T} + \ln(1 - e^{-\alpha/T}) + \ln\frac{1}{2}\right]. \quad (D.54)$$

Ignoring the constant term $\ln(1/2)$ independent of T and ω , which does not affect the thermodynamics, the sum of the frequency of logarithmic function for bosons is described as

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{2} \ln(\omega_n^2 + \alpha^2) = \frac{\alpha}{2T} + \ln(1 - e^{-\alpha/T}).$$
 (D.55)

Thus, the partition function for bosons is given as

$$Z = \exp\left(-\int d^3x \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} [\beta\omega + \ln(1 - e^{-\beta(\omega+\mu)}) + \ln(1 - e^{-\beta(\omega-\mu)})]\right).$$
(D.56)

Thermodynamical potential (density) is obtained from this partition function:

$$\Omega = \frac{F}{V} = -\frac{1}{V}T\ln Z$$

= $\int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \left(\omega + T\ln(1 - e^{-(\omega+\mu)/T}) + T\ln(1 - e^{-(\omega-\mu)/T})\right).$ (D.57)

D.4 The Dirac Field

Lagrangian of Dirac field is

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\partial - m)\psi, \tag{D.58}$$

and the conserved particle number is

$$\mathcal{N} = \bar{\psi}\gamma_0\psi, \tag{D.59}$$

which does not depend on the conjugate momentum. Thus, the exponential part of the partition function (D.40) can be described only field by taking Legendre transformation. Then, momentum integral is performed soon and the numerical constant is dropped. The partition function for fermions is written as

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\psi \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi} \exp\left(-\int_0^\beta d^4x \bar{\psi}(i(\partial_\tau + \mu)\gamma_4 + i\nabla \cdot \vec{\gamma} + m)\psi\right), \tag{D.60}$$

with the Euclidean Dirac matrices discussed in Appendix B.4 as $t \to -i\tau$, $\gamma_0 \to -i\gamma_4$ and $p_0 \to -ip_4 = i\omega_n$ with the frequency for fermion. The fields $\psi, \bar{\psi}$ are integrated out as Grassmann variable and the partition function in momentum representation is

$$Z = \exp\left(\ln \det\left[(\omega_n + i\mu)\gamma_4 - \vec{p} \cdot \vec{\gamma} + m\right]\right),\tag{D.61}$$

where determinant is taken over (Euclidean) Dirac matrices, coordinate space, momentum space and the Matsubara frequencies. We use the identity

$$\ln \det A = \operatorname{tr} \ln A, \tag{D.62}$$

except the Dirac matrices. We consider the determinant of Dirac matrices in the chiral representation (see Appendix B.4) as

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} mI & i(\omega_n + i\mu)I - \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{p} \\ i(\omega_n + i\mu)I + \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{p} & mI \end{pmatrix} = \left((\omega_n + i\mu)^2 + \omega^2 \right)^2, \quad (D.63)$$

with $\omega^2 = \vec{p}^2 + m^2$ and I being 2×2 unit matrix. Since the summation is taken over both positive and negative frequencies, we can write

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \ln\left((\omega_n + i\mu)^2 + \omega^2\right)^2 = 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\ln((\omega_n + i\mu)^2 + \omega^2) + \ln((-\omega_n + i\mu)^2 + \omega^2)\right]$$
$$= 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ln[((\omega_n + i\mu)^2 + \omega^2)((\omega_n - i\mu)^2 + \omega^2)]$$
$$= 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\ln(\omega_n^2 + (\omega + \mu)^2) + \ln(\omega_n^2 + (\omega - \mu)^2)\right], \quad (D.64)$$

from Eq. (D.51). The partition function is now

$$Z = \exp\left(\int d^3x \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2\left[\ln(\omega_n^2 + (\omega + \mu)^2) + \ln(\omega_n^2 + (\omega - \mu)^2)\right]\right).$$
 (D.65)

The factor 2 corresponds to the degree of spin degeneracy and the summation is taken over only positive integer dealing with particle and anti-particle, which are the difference between the scalar field and the Dirac field.

The summation of frequencies for fermions $\omega_n = (2n-1)\pi T$ is performed as below. The derivative of \ln term is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ln(\omega_n^2 + \alpha^2) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\alpha}{\omega_n^2 + \alpha^2} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\alpha/(\pi T)^2}{(2n-1)^2 + \alpha^2/(\pi T)^2} = \frac{1}{2T} \tanh\left(\frac{\alpha}{2T}\right),$$
(D.66)

where the sum formula has been used following:

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{x^2 + (2n-1)^2} = \frac{\pi}{4x} \tanh\left(\frac{\pi x}{2}\right).$$
(D.67)

The integration over α is written as

$$\int d\alpha \tanh\left(\frac{\alpha}{2T}\right) = 2T\ln|\cosh(\alpha/2T)| = 2T\left[\frac{\alpha}{2T} + \ln(1 + e^{-\alpha/T}) + \ln\frac{1}{2}\right].$$
 (D.68)

Hence, the sum of frequency of logarithmic function for fermions is

$$\sum_{n} \ln(\omega_n^2 + \alpha^2) = \frac{\alpha}{2T} + \ln(1 + e^{-\alpha/T}).$$
 (D.69)

The partition function is given as

$$Z = \exp\left[2\int d^3x \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \left\{\frac{\omega}{T} + \ln(1 + e^{-(\omega-\mu)/T}) + \ln(1 + e^{-(\omega+\mu)/T})\right\}\right].$$
 (D.70)

The thermodynamical potential is

$$\Omega = -2 \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \left(\omega + T \ln(1 + e^{-(\omega - \mu)/T}) + T \ln(1 + e^{-(\omega + \mu)/T}) \right).$$
(D.71)

D.5 Frequency Sum

We discuss a technique of the summation of the frequencies. We take a summation of the Matsubara frequency as follows

$$S = \sum_{n} h(\omega_n), \tag{D.72}$$

where $h(\omega_n)$ is a single variable function and frequencies ω_n is $2n\pi T$ in boson case or $(2n + 1)\pi T$ in fermion case. The idea for taking the summation of frequencies is to replace summation to complex integration by introducing a virtual function of complex variable g(z) which has simple pole at $z = i\omega_n$. The product of function gh is integrated along a suitable path in the complex plane, and the whole summation S is treated as summation of residue. The typical choice of g are

$$g(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\beta}{\exp(\beta z) - 1} & \text{or} \quad g(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\beta}{2} \coth(\beta z/2) \\ \frac{\beta}{2} \tanh(\beta z/2). \end{cases}$$
(D.73)

The upper one is used for bosons and the lower one for fermion in both choices. We adopt the first one. Note that the first choices are similar to the Bose or Fermi distribution. The integration is manipulated along the imaginary axis as

$$-\frac{\zeta}{2\pi i} \oint dz g(z) h(-iz) = -\zeta \sum_{n} \operatorname{Res}(g(z)h(-iz))|_{z=i\omega_n} = \sum_{n} h(\omega_n) = S.$$
(D.74)



Figure D.1: The integration path is deformed from (a) to (b). The cross marks along the vertical axis are singularities for the function q and the isolate cross marks are for the function h.

For proof of the second equality, the residues of "the counting function" g are chosen as ζ and assuming integration path is closed at $z = \pm i\infty^1$. The integration path can be modified to satisfy the condition that the singularity for g and h(-iz) are avoided. In the case of the product gh is damped in the limit of $|z| \to \infty$. The original integration path can be modified to infinitely large circle as shown in Fig. D.1 (b). Then, the contribution for integration along outmost circle vanishes and the integration around singularities for h are calculated. If we assume that h(-iz) has some isolated singularity $\{z_k\}$, we obtain

$$S = -\frac{\zeta}{2\pi i} \oint h(-iz)g(z) = -\zeta \sum_{k} \operatorname{Res}h(-iz)g(z)|_{z=z_k}.$$
 (D.75)

Thus, the infinite summation S is simplified to a feasible operation to evaluate a finite number residue.

Examples

We calculate the frequency sum in some simple cases as examples. For simplicity, we consider fermion a case which is $\omega_n = (2n+1)\pi T$. Same discussion holds in boson case. In general, the function h needs the factor, which does not contribute thermodynamics, to vanish the contribution from the large outmost circle which appears in the modified integration path in the limit of $|z| \rightarrow \infty$. This non-essential factor is omitted usually, since the function h decays faster than z^{-1} in many physical case. We shall discuss the case where the introduction of such a factor is necessary.

Linear Fractional Function

We take a function $h(\omega_n)$ as

$$h(\omega_n) = -\frac{T}{i\omega_n e^{-i\omega_n\delta} - \xi},\tag{D.76}$$

¹The difference between the first and the second choices in Eq. (D.73) is the residue. The residue of the first functions are $\zeta = \pm 1, \pm 1$ for boson and ± 1 for fermion and that of the second functions is $\zeta = 1$ for both cases.

where $\xi = \omega - \mu$ and δ is a positive infinitesimal value which is taken $\delta \to 0$ finally. The integrand h(-iz)g(z) converges at $z \to -\infty$ by the factor $e^{z\delta}$ and $z \to \infty$ by the Fermi factor $(e^{\beta z} + 1)^{-1}$. We work it out as

$$S = \sum_{n} h(\omega_{n})$$

$$= -\sum_{n} \operatorname{Res} \frac{\beta}{e^{z\beta} + 1} \frac{-T}{ze^{z\delta} - \xi} \Big|_{z=i\omega_{n}}$$

$$= \lim_{z \to \xi} (z - \xi) \frac{1}{e^{z\beta} + 1} \frac{1}{z - \xi}$$

$$= \frac{1}{e^{\xi\beta} + 1} = f(\omega - \mu).$$
(D.77)

We get the well known formula

$$-T\sum_{n}\frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-(\omega-\mu)}=f(\omega-\mu),$$
(D.78)

where $f(\omega) = (\exp(\beta\omega) + 1)^{-1}$ is well-known Fermi distribution.

Second Order Fractional Function

We take a function as

$$h(\omega_n) = -\frac{T}{(i\omega_n - \xi)^2}.$$
(D.79)

We omit the convergence factor here and next. This function has pole of order two at $z = \xi$. The frequency sum is

$$S = \sum_{n} \operatorname{Res} \frac{1}{e^{z\beta} + 1} \frac{1}{(z - \xi)^{2}} \bigg|_{z = i\omega_{n}}$$

$$= \lim_{z \to \xi} \frac{d}{dz} \left[(z - \xi)^{2} \frac{1}{e^{z\beta} + 1} \frac{1}{(z - \xi)^{2}} \right]$$

$$= \lim_{z \to \xi} \left[2(z - \xi) \frac{1}{e^{z\beta} + 1} \frac{1}{(z - \xi)^{2}} - (z - \xi)^{2} \frac{\beta e^{z\beta}}{(e^{z\beta} + 1)^{2}} \frac{1}{(z - \xi)^{2}} - (z - \xi)^{2} \frac{1}{e^{z\beta} + 1} \frac{2}{(z - \xi)^{3}} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{\beta e^{\xi\beta}}{(e^{\xi\beta} + 1)^{2}} = \frac{d}{d\xi} f(\xi).$$
(D.80)

Logarithmic Function

We take

$$h(\omega_n) = -T\ln(\beta(-i\omega_n + \xi)). \tag{D.81}$$

In generally, ξ is a function such as $\omega(\vec{p}) - \mu$, we fix it a certain value ξ_a firstly. The function h(z) has branch cut along the real axis $z \in (-\infty, \xi_a]$. We choose the integration path as Fig.



Figure D.2: Choice of the integration path for the logarithmic function Eq. (D.81).

D.2. The path around the branch cut on the real axis is enclosed by $\epsilon^{\pm} = \epsilon \pm i\eta$ with positive infinitesimal value η . Since the contribution of the integration is only around ϵ^{\pm} , the complex integration is manipulated as

$$S = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} T \ln(\beta(z - \xi_a)) \frac{\beta}{e^{\beta z} + 1}$$

=
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\epsilon}{2\pi i} \left[\ln(\epsilon^+ - \xi_a) - \ln(\epsilon^- - \xi_a) \right] \frac{\beta}{e^{\epsilon\beta} + 1},$$
 (D.82)

where we have used $(e^{\epsilon^{\pm}} + 1)^{-1} \sim (e^{\epsilon} + 1)^{-1}$ and the path have been expanded as $(-\infty, \infty)$. We have

$$g(\epsilon) = \frac{\beta}{e^{\epsilon\beta} + 1} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial\epsilon} \ln(1 + e^{-\epsilon\beta}), \qquad (D.83)$$

and the integrated function goes zero at the limit of $\epsilon \to \pm \infty$, then we compute the partial integration and obtain

$$S = \frac{T}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^+ - \xi_a} - \frac{1}{\epsilon^- - \xi_a} \right) \ln(1 + e^{\epsilon\beta})$$
$$= -T \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon \delta(\epsilon - \xi_a) \ln(1 + e^{-\epsilon\beta})$$
$$= -T \ln(1 + e^{-\xi_a\beta}) = -T \ln(1 + e^{-\xi\beta}).$$
(D.84)

In the second line, we have used the identity

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \frac{1}{x + i\eta} = -i\pi\delta(x) + \mathcal{P}\left(\frac{1}{x}\right),\tag{D.85}$$

where \mathcal{P} means the principal value and in the last equal means the fixed value ξ_a is replaced by a function ξ .

The convergence factor

We see a case where the summation over the Matsubara frequencies diverges. This situation appears for example in the work of Diener et. al. [77]. Taking the function

$$h(\omega_n) = -T \frac{i\omega_n + \xi}{(i\omega_n)^2 - E^2},$$
(D.86)

where $\xi = \sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m^2}$ and $E = \sqrt{\xi^2 + |\Delta_0|^2}$ with BCS gap Δ_0 following [77]. The Matsubara sum is formally divergent and we explicitly write the convergence factor

$$h(\omega_n) = -T \frac{i\omega_n + \xi}{(i\omega_n)^2 - E^2} e^{i\omega_n \delta},$$
(D.87)

with a positive infinitesimal value δ which is taken $\delta \rightarrow 0$ finally. Hence,

$$S = -\oint_{c} \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \frac{z+\xi}{z^{2}-E^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta z}+1} e^{z\delta}$$

=
$$\oint_{c'} \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \frac{z+\xi}{(z-E)(z+E)} \frac{1}{e^{\beta z}+1} e^{z\delta}$$

=
$$\lim_{z \to -E} (z+E) \frac{z+\xi}{(z-E)(z+E)} \frac{1}{e^{\beta z}+1} e^{z\delta}$$

=
$$\frac{E-\xi}{2E} \frac{1}{e^{\beta z}+1}.$$
 (D.88)

The integral path c and c' is shown in Fig. D.3.



Figure D.3: The integration path is deformed from (a) to (b). The path c' is counterclockwise for the path c.

Appendix E

The Gaussian Integral

We write several Gaussian integral formulas ($\alpha > 0$)

$$\int dx e^{-\alpha x^2} = \left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2},\tag{E.1}$$

$$\int dx e^{-\alpha x^2 + \beta x + \gamma} = \exp\left(\frac{\beta^2}{4\alpha} + \gamma\right) \left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2},\tag{E.2}$$

$$\int dx x^n e^{-\alpha x^2} = \begin{cases} \frac{(n-1)!!}{(2\alpha)^{n/2}} \left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2} & \text{for } n \text{ even} \\ 0 & \text{for } n \text{ odd,} \end{cases}$$
(E.3)

$$\int dx x e^{-\alpha (x-F)^2} = \int dx' (x'+F) e^{-\alpha x'^2} = F\left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2},$$
(E.4)

$$\int dx x^2 e^{-\alpha (x-F)^2} = \int dx (x+F)^2 e^{-\alpha x^2} = \left(\frac{1}{2\alpha} + F^2\right) \left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2},$$
(E.5)

$$\int dx x^4 e^{-\alpha(x-F)^2} = \int dx (x^4 + 6F^2 x^2 + F^4) e^{-\alpha x^2} = \left(\frac{3}{4\alpha^2} + \frac{3}{\alpha}F^2 + F^4\right) \left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (E.6)

We take the product of n Gaussian integrals with $a_i > 0$ following [107],

$$\int dx_1 \dots dx_n \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\sum_n a_n x_n^2\right) = \frac{(2\pi)^{n/2}}{\prod_{i=1}^n a_i^{1/2}}.$$
(E.7)

Let A be a diagonal matrix with elements a_1, \ldots, a_n and x be an n-vector (x_1, \ldots, x_n) , the integral becomes

$$\int d^n x e^{-(x,Ax)/2} = (2\pi)^{n/2} (\det A)^{-1/2}, \tag{E.8}$$

with the inner product

$$\sum_{n} a_n x_n^2 = (x, Ax). \tag{E.9}$$

Since this holds for any diagonal matrix, it also holds for any real symmetric, positive, nonsingular matrix. Defining the measure $(dx) = d^n x (2\pi)^{-n/2}$, we obtain

$$\int (dx)e^{-(x,Ax)/2} = (\det A)^{-1/2}.$$
(E.10)

In the same way, we obtain for Hermitian matrix A and the measure $(dz) = d^n z (2\pi i)^{-n/2}$,

$$\int (dz^*)(dz)e^{-(z^*,Az)} = (\det A)^{-1}.$$
 (E.11)

We now assume that we can generalise the above formulas to an infinite-dimensional function space without mathematical proof. The inner product for a function $\phi(x)$ is

$$(\phi, \phi) = \int dx [\phi(x)]^2. \tag{E.12}$$

The Gaussian integral is generalized in the functional form as

$$\int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\int dx\phi(x)A\phi(x)\right) = (\det A)^{-1/2}.$$
(E.13)

If ϕ is a complex field, we obtain

$$\int \mathcal{D}\phi^* \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\int dx \phi^*(x) A\phi(x)\right) = (\det A)^{-1}.$$
 (E.14)

Finally, we write the Gaussian integral with the Grassmann number $\eta, \bar{\eta}$,

$$\int d\bar{\eta} d\eta e^{-\bar{\eta}A\eta} = \det A. \tag{E.15}$$

In the functional form it is

$$\int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi \exp\left(-\int dx\bar{\psi}(x)A\psi(x)\right) = \det A.$$
(E.16)

Suppose the Gaussian functional [83,90]

$$\psi[\phi] = N \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int dx dy [\phi(x) - f(x)] G(x, y) [\phi(y) - f(y)]\right),$$
(E.17)

with the weight function G(x, y) and the fluctuation function f(x). The scalar product

$$\langle \psi | \psi \rangle = N^2 \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\int dx dy [\phi(x) - f(x)]G(x,y)[\phi(y) - f(y)]\right)$$
(E.18)

is defined as 1 by the normalization constant N which is obviously $(\det G^{-1})^{1/4}$. We want to calculate $\langle \psi | \phi(x) | \psi \rangle$, $\langle \psi | \phi(x) \phi(y) | \psi \rangle$ and $\langle \psi | (\phi(x) \phi(y))^2 \rangle | \psi \rangle$. To calculate these values, we introduce a source term in the Gaussian functional as

$$\psi_J[\phi] = N \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int dx dy [\phi(x) - f(x)] G(x, y) [\phi(y) - f(y)] + \int dx \phi(x) J(x)\right).$$
(E.19)

With a new variable $\phi' = \phi - f$, the scalar product is

$$\langle \psi_{J} | \psi_{J} \rangle = N^{2} \int \mathcal{D}\phi' \exp\left(-\int dx dy \phi'(x) G(x, y) \phi'(y) + \int dx [\phi'(x) + f(x)] J(x)\right)$$

$$= N^{2} \int \mathcal{D}\phi' \exp\left(-\int dx dy [\phi'(x) - \frac{1}{2} \int dx_{1} J(x_{1}) G^{-1}(x, x_{1})] G(x, y) \right)$$

$$\times [\phi'(y) - \frac{1}{2} \int dx_{2} J(x_{2}) G^{-1}(x_{2}, y)] + \int dx J(x) f(x) + \frac{1}{4} \int dx dy J(x) G^{-1}(x, y) J(y)$$

$$= \exp\left(\int dx J(x) f(x) + \frac{1}{4} \int dx dy J(x) G^{-1}(x, y) J(y)\right),$$
(E.20)

where we have used the relation

$$\int dz G(x,z) G^{-1}(z,y) = \delta(x-y). \tag{E.21}$$

Then we calculate

$$\langle \psi | \phi(x) | \psi \rangle = \frac{\delta}{\delta J(x)} \langle \psi_J | \psi_J \rangle |_{J=0}$$

$$= \left(f(x) + \frac{1}{2} \int dx_1 J(x_1) G^{-1}(x, x_1) \right) \exp\left(\dots\right) \Big|_{J=0}$$

$$= f(x),$$

$$\langle \psi | \phi(x) \phi(y) | \psi \rangle = \frac{\delta^2}{\delta J(x) \delta J(y)} \langle \psi_J | \psi_J \rangle |_{J=0}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} G^{-1}(x, y) + f(x) f(y).$$
(E.23)

Further,

$$\begin{split} \langle \psi | (\phi(x)\phi(y))^2 | \psi \rangle &= \langle \psi' | (\phi'(x) + f(x))^2 (\phi'(y) + f(y))^2 | \psi' \rangle \\ &= \frac{3}{4} G^{-1}(x,y) G^{-1}(x,y) + \frac{1}{2} f^2(x) G^{-1}(x,x) \\ &+ 2f(x)f(y) G^{-1}(x,y) + \frac{1}{2} f^2(y) G^{-1}(y,y) + (f(x)f(y))^2, \end{split}$$
(E.24)

with

$$\psi' = N' \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int dx dy \phi'(x) G(x, y) \phi'(y)\right), \tag{E.25}$$

and defining normalization $\langle \psi' | \psi' \rangle = 1$. If we take x = y,

$$\langle \psi | \phi^4(x) | \psi \rangle = \frac{3}{4} G^{-1}(x, x) G^{-1}(x, x) + 3f^2(x) G^{-1}(x, x) + f^4(x).$$
 (E.26)

Hence, the Gaussian integrals in functional form (E.22), (E.23), (E.26) correspond usual integrals (E.4), (E.5), (E.6).

Appendix F

Mott Transition

The NJL model or PNJL model lack of the confinement at zero temperature. The hadrons (mesons and diquark-baryons) can decay to the two quark state $\bar{q}q$ and qq at finite momentum \vec{q} . This can happen at the point where the meson or diquark energy becomes larger than the two-particle continuum $\omega_{\bar{q}q}$ or ω_{qq} for the decay process at zero momentum. This transition is called Mott transition [116]. This property in two color NJL model is discussed in Ref. [67]. According to Ref. [67] the two-particle continuu $\omega_{\bar{q}q}$ and ω_{qq} are different at the BEC and the BCS sides as

$$\omega_{\bar{q}q} = \begin{cases} \sqrt{(m-\mu)^2 + |\Delta|^2} + \sqrt{(m+\mu)^2 + |\Delta|^2} & \mu_B < \mu_0 \\ |\Delta| + \sqrt{(m+\mu)^2 + |\Delta|^2} & \mu_B > \mu_0 \end{cases},$$
(F.1)

$$\omega_{qq} = \begin{cases} 2\sqrt{(m-\mu)^2 + |\Delta|^2} & \mu_B < \mu_0\\ 2|\Delta| & \mu_B > \mu_0 \end{cases},$$
(F.2)

where the baryon chemical potential is defined as $\mu_B = 2\mu$ with the quark chemical potential μ and the BEC-BCS crossover point is $\mu_0 \sim 120$ [MeV]. We refer the left upper figure in Fig.9 in Ref. [67] as shown in Fig. F.1. According to the figure, the effective range of the baryon chemical potential is less than five times of the pion mass $\mu_B/m_{\pi} < 5$. All of our calculations should be restricted in this range.



Figure F.1: The two-particle continua in units of m as functions of the baryon chemical potential μ_B in units of m_{π} [67]. Note that the author uses different parameter set from ours.

Appendix G

The Loop Expansion of the Effective Action and the Effective Potential

We discuss the derivation of the effective action following the text book [107]. We consider the real scalar field

$$S[\phi] = \int dx \mathcal{L}(\phi(x))$$
$$\mathcal{L}(\phi(x)) = \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi(x))^2 - V(\phi),$$
$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2(x) - \lambda \phi^4(x),$$
(G.1)

where dx stands for d^4x for simply. The Lagrangian is invariant under $\phi \to -\phi$, but this symmetry is not shared by the solution

$$\left. \frac{dV}{d\phi} \right|_{\phi=\phi_0} = 0 \tag{G.2}$$

where $\phi_0 \neq 0$. The symmetry has been spontaneously broken. These statements are classical. Quantum consideration enter with loops. The generating functional is written as

$$Z[J] = \int \phi \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}S[\phi] + i\hbar \int dx J(x)\phi(x)\right), \tag{G.3}$$

which is assumed normalized. We explicitly write the Plank constant. The connected Green's function is

$$W[J] = -i \ln Z[J], \tag{G.4}$$

or

$$e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}W[J]} = Z[J]. \tag{G.5}$$

Since the generation functional is related to the vacuume expectation value with the source J

$$Z[J] \propto \langle 0, \infty | 0, -\infty \rangle = \langle 0^+ | 0^- \rangle_J, \tag{G.6}$$

the connected generation functional can be written as

$$e^{iW[J]} = \langle 0^+ | 0^- \rangle_J.$$
 (G.7)

The classical field $\phi_c(x)$ is defined by

$$\phi_c(x) = \frac{\delta W[J]}{\delta J(x)} = \frac{\delta Z[J]}{\delta J(x)} \frac{\delta W[J]}{\delta Z} = \frac{\langle 0^+ |\phi| 0^- \rangle_J}{\langle 0^+ |0^- \rangle_J},$$
(G.8)

and is seen to depend on the source. The vacuum expectation value is defined as

$$\phi_0(x) = \lim_{J \to 0} \phi_c(x). \tag{G.9}$$

The effective action is defined by the Legendre transformation on W[J] as

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = W[J] - \int dx J(x)\phi(x), \qquad (G.10)$$

and obeys

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma[\phi_c]}{\delta\phi_c(x)} = -\hbar J(x). \tag{G.11}$$

Hence, we obtain the gap equation in the limit of J to zero as

$$\frac{d\Gamma[\phi_c]}{d\phi_c}\Big|_{\phi_c=\phi_0} = 0.$$
 (G.12)

We would like to calculate W[J] by the saddle-point method of the path integral. Taking an itegral

$$I = \int dx e^{-f(x)} \tag{G.13}$$

and f(x) is stationary at some point x_0 and then f(x) is expande about x_0

$$f(x) = f(x_0) + \frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{d^2 f(x)}{dx^2} \right|_{x=x_0} (x - x_0)^2 + \cdots,$$
 (G.14)

thus the integral is seen to be

$$I \sim e^{-f(x_0)} \int dx e^{-\frac{1}{2}f''(x_0)(x-x_0)^2}.$$
 (G.15)

The integral becomes a Gaussian. We expand the action around ϕ_0

$$S[\phi, J] = S[\phi] + \hbar \int dx J(x)\phi(x)$$

= $S[\phi_0, J] + \int dx \left. \frac{\delta S[\phi, J]}{\delta \phi(x)} \right|_{\phi_0} [\phi(x) - \phi_0]$
+ $\frac{1}{2} \int dx_1 dx_2 [\phi(x_1) - \phi_0] \left. \frac{\delta^2 S[\phi, J]}{\delta \phi(x_1) \delta \phi(x_2)} \right|_{\phi_0} [\phi(x_2) - \phi_0] + \cdots$
= $S[\phi_0, J] + \hbar \int dx J(x) [\phi(x) - \phi_0]$
+ $\frac{1}{2} \int dx_1 dx_2 [\phi(x_1) - \phi_0] \left(- \left[\partial^2 + \frac{d^2 V(\phi)}{d\phi^2} \right]_{\phi_0} \delta(x_1 - x_2) \right) [\phi(x_2) - \phi_0] + \cdots$
= $S[\phi_0, J] + \hbar \int dx J(x) \phi'(x) + \frac{1}{2} \int dx \phi'(x) \left(- \left[\partial^2 + V''(\phi_0) \right] \right) \phi'(x) + \cdots,$
(G.16)

where we have put $\phi' = \phi - \phi_0$ in the last line. Substituting this into Eq. (G.5) and applying to saddle-point integration Eq. (G.15) gives (relabelling ϕ' as ϕ)

$$\exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}W[J]\right) = \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}S[\phi_0, J]\right) \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}\frac{1}{2}\int dx\phi[\partial^2 + V''(\phi_0)]\phi\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}S[\phi_0, J]\right) \left(\det(\partial^2 + V''(\phi_0))\right)^{-1/2}, \tag{G.17}$$

where we have rescaled the field ϕ into $\hbar^{1/2}\phi$ and gone to Euclidean space to eliminate the imaginary unit *i*. Hence, we obtain

$$W[J] = S[\phi_0] + \hbar \int dx \phi_0(x) J(x) + i \frac{\hbar}{2} \operatorname{tr} \ln[\partial^2 + V''(\phi_0)], \qquad (G.18)$$

which is the loop expansion of W[J] ignoring the higer order of \hbar .

To find the loop expansion of $\Gamma[\phi_c]$ we need $S[\phi_c]$. Putting $\phi_0 = \phi_c - \phi(\phi' = \phi_c)$

$$S[\phi_0] = S[\phi_c - \phi] = S[\phi_c] - \int dx \left. \frac{\delta S}{\delta \phi(x)} \right|_{\phi_0} \phi_0(x) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$$
$$= S[\phi_c] - \hbar \int dx J(x) \phi_0(x) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2). \tag{G.19}$$

Then

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = S[\phi_c] + i\frac{\hbar}{2} \operatorname{tr} \ln[\partial^2 + V''(\phi_0)].$$
(G.20)

The trace tr is taken over the coordinate space. We define the *n*-point vertex function as

$$\Gamma^{(n)}(x_1,\cdots,x_n) = \frac{\delta^n \Gamma[\phi]}{\delta \phi(x_1) \dots \delta \phi(x_n)}$$
(G.21)

in the coodinatespace, and in the momentum space

$$\Gamma^{(n)}(p_1,\cdots,p_n) = \frac{\delta^n \Gamma[\phi]}{\delta\tilde{\phi}(p_1)\dots\delta\tilde{\phi}(p_n)},$$
(G.22)

where $\tilde{\phi}$ is the Fourier transformed field.

We next expand the effective action $\Gamma[\phi_c]$ in powers of ϕ_c as

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int dx_1 \cdots dx_n \Gamma^{(n)}(x_1, \cdots, x_n) \phi_c(x_1) \cdots \phi_c(x_n), \qquad (G.23)$$

and in the momentum representation as

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int dp_1 \cdots dp_n \delta(p_1 + \dots + p_n) \Gamma^{(n)}(p_1, \dots, p_n) \tilde{\phi}_c(x_1) \cdots \tilde{\phi}_c(x_n).$$
(G.24)

We further have another expansion which is in terms of ϕ_c and its derivatives as

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = \int dx \left[-U(\phi_c(x)) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi_c(x))^2 + \dots \right].$$
 (G.25)

The function $U(\phi_c)$ is called the effective potential. In the case of $\phi_c = \langle \phi \rangle = a$, a constant, all derivative term in the above expansion vanish:

$$\Gamma[a] = -\Omega U(a), \tag{G.26}$$

where Ω is the total volume of space-time. Comparing the expansion of $\Gamma[\phi]$ in momentum space and the above one, we have

$$U(a) = -\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \Gamma^{(n)} a^n (p_i = 0).$$
 (G.27)

Renormalisation conditions are stated in terms of U as

$$\Gamma^{(2)}(p_i = 0) = \frac{d^2 U(\phi_c)}{d\phi_c^2} \Big|_{\langle \phi \rangle} = m^2,$$

$$\Gamma^{(4)}(p_i = 0) = \frac{d^4 U(\phi_c)}{d\phi_c^4} \Big|_{\langle \phi \rangle} = \lambda.$$
(G.28)

In addition, the vacuum expectation value can be written as

$$\left. \frac{dU(\phi_c)}{d\phi_c} \right|_{\langle \phi \rangle} = 0. \tag{G.29}$$

Bibliography

- [1] Y. Nambu & G. Jona-Lasinio, "Dynamical Model of Elementary Particles Based on an Analogy with Superconductivity. I", Phys. Rev. 122, 345 (1961).
- [2] Y. Nambu & G. Jona-Lasinio, "Dynamical Model of Elementary Particles Based on an Analogy with Superconductivity. II", Phys. Rev. **124**, 246 (1961).
- [3] A.M. Polyakov, "Thermal Properties of Gauge Fields and Quark Liberation", Phys. Lett. **B72**, 477 (1978).
- [4] L.D. McLerran & B. Svetitsky, "Quark Liberation at High Temperature: A Monte Carlo Study of SU(2) Gauge Theory", Phys.Rev. D24, 450 (1981).
- [5] L.D. McLerran & B. Svetitsky, "A Monte Carlo Study of SU(2) Yang-Mills Theory at Finite Temperature", Phys.Lett. **B98**, 195 (1981).
- [6] U. Vogl & W. Weise, "*The Nambu and Jona Lasinio model: Its implications for hadrons and nuclei*", Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. **27**, 195 (1991).
- [7] T. Hatsuda & T. Kunihiro, "QCD phenomenology based on a chiral effective Lagrangian", Phys. Rept. 247, 221 (1994), hep-ph/9401310.
- [8] S.P. Klevansky, "*The Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model of quantum chromodynamics*", Rev. Mod. Phys. **64**, 649 (1992).
- [9] D. Blaschke, D. Ebert, K.G. Klimenko, M.K. Volkov & V.L. Yudichev, "Abnormal number of Nambu-Goldstone bosons in the color-asymmetric dense color superconducting phase of a Nambu–Jona-Lasinio–type model", Phys. Rev. D **70**, 014006 (2004).
- [10] D. Blaschke, M.K. Volkov & V.L. Yudichev, "Coexistence of color superconductivity and chiral symmetry breaking within the NJL model", Eur. Phys. J. A17, 103 (2003), hep-ph/0301065.
- [11] S. Klimt, M.F. Lutz, U. Vogl & W. Weise, "GENERALIZED SU(3) NAMBU-JONA-LASINIO MODEL. Part. 1. MESONIC MODES", Nucl. Phys. A516, 429 (1990).
- [12] R. Nebauer & J. Aichelin, "Thermodynamics of the three flavor NJL model: Chiral symmetry breaking and color superconductivity", Phys.Rev. C65, 045204 (2002), hep-ph/0101289.
- [13] T. Shigetani, K. Suzuki & H. Toki, "Pion structure function in the Nambu and Jona-Lasinio model", Phys.Lett. B308, 383 (1993), hep-ph/9402286.
- K. Suzuki, T. Shigetani & H. Toki, "Diquark correlations in the nucleon structure function", Nucl.Phys. A573, 541 (1994), hep-ph/9310266.

- [15] U. Vogl, M.F. Lutz, S. Klimt & W. Weise, "GENERALIZED SU(3) NAMBU-JONA-LASINIO MODEL. PART 2. FROM CURRENT TO CONSTITUENT QUARKS", Nucl.Phys. A516, 469 (1990).
- [16] V. Bernard & U.G. Meissner, "Meson properties at finite density from SU(3) f quark dynamics", Phys. Rev. D 38, 1551 (1988).
- [17] M. Sadzikowski, "Superconducting phase transition in the Nambu Jona- Lasinio model", Mod. Phys. Lett. A16, 1129 (2001), hep-ph/0306114.
- [18] M. Asakawa & K. Yazaki, "CHIRAL RESTORATION AT FINITE DENSITY AND TEM-PERATURE", Nucl.Phys. A504, 668 (1989).
- [19] T. Brauner, "BCS-BEC crossover in dense relativistic matter: Collective excitations", Phys.Rev. D77, 096006 (2008), arXiv:0803.2422.
- [20] P. Zhuang, J. Hufner & S. Klevansky, "Thermodynamics of a quark meson plasma in the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model", Nucl. Phys. A576, 525 (1994).
- [21] K. Fukushima, "*Relation between the Polyakov loop and the chiral order parameter at strong coupling*", Phys. Rev. D 68, 045004 (2003).
- [22] K. Fukushima, "Chiral effective model with the Polyakov loop", Phys. Lett. B591, 277 (2004), hep-ph/0310121.
- [23] C. Ratti, M.A. Thaler & W. Weise, "Phases of QCD: Lattice thermodynamics and a field theoretical model", Phys.Rev. D73, 014019 (2006), hep-ph/0506234.
- [24] H. Hansen et al., "Mesonic correlation functions at finite temperature and density in the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model with a Polyakov loop", Phys. Rev. D75, 065004 (2007), hep-ph/0609116.
- [25] S. Roessner, T. Hell, C. Ratti & W. Weise, "The chiral and deconfinement crossover transitions: PNJL model beyond mean field", Nucl. Phys. A814, 118 (2008), arXiv:0712.3152.
- [26] S. Roessner, C. Ratti & W. Weise, "Polyakov loop, diquarks and the two-flavour phase diagram", Phys. Rev. D75, 034007 (2007), hep-ph/0609281.
- [27] K. Fukushima, "*Phase diagrams in the three-flavor Nambu–Jona-Lasinio model with the Polyakov loop*", Phys. Rev. **D77**, 114028 (2008), arXiv:0803.3318.
- [28] E. Megias, E. Ruiz Arriola & L.L. Salcedo, "Polyakov loop in chiral quark models at finite temperature", Phys. Rev. D74, 065005 (2006), hep-ph/0412308.
- [29] H. Abuki, R. Anglani, R. Gatto, G. Nardulli & M. Ruggieri, "Chiral crossover, deconfinement and quarkyonic matter within a Nambu-Jona Lasinio model with the Polyakov loop", Phys. Rev. D78, 034034 (2008), arXiv:0805.1509.
- [30] H. Abuki, R. Anglani, R. Gatto, M. Pellicoro & M. Ruggieri, "The fate of pion condensation in quark matter: from the chiral to the real world", Phys. Rev. D79, 034032 (2009), arXiv:0809.2658.
- [31] D. Blaschke, M. Buballa, A. Radzhabov & M. Volkov, "Effects of mesonic correlations in the QCD phase transition", Yad.Fiz. 71, 2012 (2008), arXiv:0705.0384.
- [32] K. Kashiwa, H. Kouno, M. Matsuzaki & M. Yahiro, "*Critical endpoint in the Polyakov-loop extended NJL model*", Physics Letters B **662**, 26 (2008).

- [33] O. Lourenco, M. Dutra, T. Frederico, A. Delfino & M. Malheiro, "Vector interaction strength in Polyakov-Nambu-Jona-Lasinio models from hadron-quark phase diagrams", Phys.Rev. D85, 097504 (2012), arXiv:1204.6357.
- [34] E. Megias, E. Ruiz Arriola & L. Salcedo, "The Quantum and local Polyakov loop in chiral quark models at finite temperature", AIP Conf.Proc. 892, 444 (2007), hep-ph/0610095.
- [35] C. Sasaki, B. Friman & K. Redlich, "Susceptibilities and the phase structure of a chiral model with Polyakov loops", Phys. Rev. D75, 074013 (2007), hep-ph/0611147.
- [36] N.M. Bratovic, T. Hatsuda & W. Weise, "Role of Vector Interaction and Axial Anomaly in the PNJL Modeling of the QCD Phase Diagram", arXiv:1204.3788.
- [37] O. Lourenco, M. Dutra, A. Delfino & M. Malheiro, "Hadron-quark phase transition in a hadronic and Polyakov-Nambu-Jona-Lasinio models perspective", Phys.Rev. D84, 125034 (2011), arXiv:1201.1239.
- [38] C. Ratti, S. Roessner, M.A. Thaler & W. Weise, "*Thermodynamics of the PNJL model*", Eur. Phys. J. C49, 213 (2007), hep-ph/0609218.
- [39] C. Ratti, M.A. Thaler & W. Weise, "Phase diagram and thermodynamics of the PNJL model", nucl-th/0604025.
- [40] Y. Sakai, H. Kouno, T. Sasaki & M. Yahiro, "The quarkynic phase and the Z_{Nc} symmetry", arXiv:1204.0228.
- [41] M. Cristoforetti, T. Hell, B. Klein & W. Weise, "Thermodynamics and quark susceptibilities: a Monte-Carlo approach to the PNJL model", Phys.Rev. D81, 114017 (2010), arXiv:1002.2336.
- [42] T. Eguchi, "A New Approach to Collective Phenomena in Superconductivity Models", Phys.Rev. **D14**, 2755 (1976).
- [43] K. Kikkawa, "Quantum corrections in superconductor models", Progr. Theoret. Phys 56, 947 (1976).
- [44] T. Eguchi & H. Sugawara, "Extended Model of Elementary Particles Based on an Analogy with Superconductivity", Phys.Rev. D10, 4257 (1974).
- [45] R. Alkofer & H. Reinhardt, "*The chiral soliton of the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model with rho meson*", Phys. Lett. **B244**, 461 (1990).
- [46] M. Wakamatsu & W. Weise, "THE NAMBU-JONA-LASINIO MODEL AND LOW-ENERGY EFFECTIVE MESON LAGRANGIANS", Z.Phys. A331, 173 (1988).
- [47] M. Wakamatsu, *"THE NAMBU-JONA-LASINIO MODEL AND THE CHIRAL ANOMALY"*, Phys.Lett. **B211**, 161 (1988).
- [48] S. Hands, I. Montvay, S. Morrison, M. Oevers, L. Scorzato et al., "Numerical study of dense adjoint matter in two color QCD", Eur.Phys.J. C17, 285 (2000), hep-lat/0006018.
- [49] S. Hands, I. Montvay, L. Scorzato & J. Skullerud, "Diquark condensation in dense adjoint matter", Eur. Phys. J. C22, 451 (2001), hep-lat/0109029.
- [50] S. Hands, P. Sitch & J.I. Skullerud, "Hadron Spectrum in a Two-Colour Baryon-Rich Medium", Phys. Lett. B662, 405 (2008), arXiv:0710.1966.

- [51] J.B. Kogut, D.K. Sinclair, S.J. Hands & S.E. Morrison, "Two-color QCD at nonzero quark-number density", Phys. Rev. D 64, 094505 (2001).
- [52] J.I. Skullerud, S. Ejiri, S. Hands & L. Scorzato, "Lattice simulations of two color QCD with Wilson fermions", Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 153, 60 (2004), hep-lat/0312002.
- [53] T.T. Takahashi & Y. Kanada-En'yo, "Hadron-hadron interaction from SU(2) lattice QCD", Phys.Rev. D82, 094506 (2010), arXiv:0912.0691.
- [54] J. Kogut, M.A. Stephanov & D. Toublan, "On two color QCD with baryon chemical potential", Phys.Lett. B464, 183 (1999), hep-ph/9906346.
- [55] J. Kogut, M.A. Stephanov, D. Toublan, J. Verbaarschot & A. Zhitnitsky, "QCD like theories at finite baryon density", Nucl.Phys. B582, 477 (2000), hep-ph/0001171.
- [56] J. Lenaghan, F. Sannino & K. Splittorff, "The Superfluid and conformal phase transitions of two color QCD", Phys.Rev. D65, 054002 (2002), hep-ph/0107099.
- [57] K. Splittorff, D. Son & M.A. Stephanov, "QCD like theories at finite baryon and isospin density", Phys.Rev. D64, 016003 (2001), hep-ph/0012274.
- [58] K. Splittorff, D. Toublan & J. Verbaarschot, "Thermodynamics of chiral symmetry at low densities", Nucl.Phys. B639, 524 (2002), hep-ph/0204076.
- [59] M. Harada, C. Nonaka & T. Yamaoka, "Masses of vector bosons in two-color dense QCD based on the hidden local symmetry", Physical Review D 81, 96003 (2010).
- [60] J.O. Andersen & T. Brauner, "*Phase diagram of two-color quark matter at nonzero baryon and isospin density*", Phys.Rev. **D81**, 096004 (2010), arXiv:1001.5168.
- [61] T. Kanazawa, T. Wettig & N. Yamamoto, "Chiral Lagrangian and spectral sum rules for dense two-color QCD", JHEP 0908, 003 (2009), arXiv:0906.3579.
- [62] Y. Nishida, K. Fukushima & T. Hatsuda, "Thermodynamics of strong coupling 2color QCD with chiral and diquark condensates", Phys. Rept. 398, 281 (2004), hep-ph/0306066.
- [63] N. Strodthoff, B.J. Schaefer & L. von Smekal, "Quark-meson-diquark model for twocolor QCD", Phys.Rev. D85, 074007 (2012), arXiv:1112.5401.
- [64] C. Ratti & W. Weise, "Thermodynamics of two-color QCD and the Nambu Jona-Lasinio model", Phys. Rev. D 70, 054013 (2004).
- [65] T. Brauner, K. Fukushima & Y. Hidaka, "Two-color quark matter: U(1)A restoration, superfluidity, and quarkyonic phase", Phys. Rev. D80, 074035 (2009), arXiv:0907.4905.
- [66] T. Zhang, T. Brauner & D.H. Rischke, "*QCD-like theories at nonzero temperature and density*", JHEP **1006**, 064 (2010), arXiv:1005.2928.
- [67] L. He, "Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model description of weakly interacting Bose condensate and BEC-BCS crossover in dense QCD-like theories", Phys.Rev. D82, 096003 (2010), arXiv:1007.1920.
- [68] G.f. Sun, L. He & P. Zhuang, "BEC-BCS crossover in the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model of QCD", Phys.Rev. D75, 096004 (2007), hep-ph/0703159.

- [69] D. Ebert, N. Gubina, K. Klimenko, S. Kurbanov & V.C. Zhukovsky, "Chiral density waves in the NJL₂ model with quark number and isospin chemical potentials", Phys.Rev. D84, 025004 (2011), arXiv:1102.4079.
- [70] D. Kahana & U. Vogl, "Diquark bosonization of the Nambu model", Phys. Lett. **B244**, 10 (1990).
- [71] K. Splittorff, D. Toublan & J. Verbaarschot, "Diquark condensate in QCD with two colors at next-to-leading order", Nucl.Phys. B620, 290 (2002), hep-ph/0108040.
- [72] D. Ebert, L. Kaschluhn & G. Kastelewicz, "*Effective meson-diquark Lagrangian and mass formulas from the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model*", Phys. Lett. **B264**, 420 (1991).
- [73] D. Ebert & T. Jurke, "Effective chiral meson baryon Lagrangian from path integral hadronization of a quark diquark model", Phys. Rev. D58, 034001 (1998), hep-ph/9710390.
- [74] J. Hubbard, "Calculation of Partition Functions", Phys. Rev. Lett. 3, 77 (1959).
- [75] M. Huang, "Color superconductivity at moderate baryon density", Int.J.Mod.Phys. E14, 675 (2005), hep-ph/0409167.
- [76] M. Huang, P. Zhuang & W. Chao, "Massive quark propagator and competition between chiral and diquark condensate", Phys. Rev. D 65, 076012 (2002).
- [77] R.B. Diener, R. Sensarma & M. Randeria, "Quantum fluctuations in the superfluid state of the BCS-BEC crossover", Phys. Rev. A 77, 023626 (2008).
- [78] M. Buballa, "NJL model analysis of quark matter at large density", Phys.Rept. 407, 205 (2005), hep-ph/0402234.
- [79] B. Lucini, M. Teper & U. Wenger, "The High temperature phase transition in SU(N) gauge theories", JHEP 0401, 061 (2004), hep-lat/0307017.
- [80] J.R. Engelbrecht, M. Randeria & C.A.R. Sáde Melo, "BCS to Bose crossover: Brokensymmetry state", Phys. Rev. B 55, 15153 (1997).
- [81] J.O. Andersen, "Theory of the weakly interacting Bose gas", Rev.Mod.Phys. 76, 599 (2004), cond-mat/0305138.
- [82] J.M. Cornwall, R. Jackiw & E. Tomboulis, "*Effective Action for Composite Operators*", Phys.Rev. **D10**, 2428 (1974).
- [83] T. Barnes & G. Ghandour, "*Renormalization of trial wave functionals using the effective potential*", Phys.Rev. **D22**, 924 (1980).
- [84] P.M. Stevenson, "The Gaussian Effective Potential. 2. Lambda phi**4 Field Theory", Phys.Rev. D32, 1389 (1985).
- [85] P.M. Stevenson, B. Alles & R. Tarrach, "O(n) Symmetric Lambda phi**4 Theory: The Gaussian Effective Potential Approach", Phys.Rev. D35, 2407 (1987).
- [86] V. Dmitrasinovic, J. Shepard & J. McNeil, "Goldstone theorem in the Gaussian functional approximation to the scalar phi**4 theory", Z.Phys. C69, 359 (1996), hep-th/9406151.
- [87] A. Okopinska, "NONSTANDARD EXPANSION TECHNIQUES FOR THE EFFECTIVE POTENTIAL IN LAMBDA PHI**4 QUANTUM FIELD THEORY", Phys.Rev. D35, 1835 (1987).

- [88] A. Okopinska, "Goldstone bosons in the Gaussian approximation", Phys.Lett. B375, 213 (1996), hep-th/9508087.
- [89] I. Nakamura & V. Dmitrasinovic, "Linear sigma model in the Gaussian functional approximation", Prog. Theor. Phys. 106, 1195 (2001), hep-th/0201064.
- [90] M. Consoli & A. Ciancitto, "INDICATIONS OF THE OCCURRENCE OF SPONTA-NEOUS SYMMETRY BREAKING IN LAMBDA PHI**4", Nucl. Phys. B254, 653 (1985).
- [91] Y. Brihaye & M. Consoli, "SPONTANEOUS SYMMETRY BREAKING IN AN O(2) IN-VARIANT SCALAR THEORY", Phys.Lett. B157, 48 (1985).
- [92] A. Okopinska, "Optimized expansion for the effective action and multiparticle states in the scalar quantum field theory", Annals Phys. 228, 19 (1993).
- [93] I. Nakamura & V. Dmitrasinovic, "Linear sigma model in the Gaussian wave functional approximation 2: Analyticity of the S matrix and the effective potential / action", Nucl.Phys. A713, 133 (2003), hep-th/0210082.
- [94] T. Hell, S. Rößner, M. Cristoforetti & W. Weise, "Dynamics and thermodynamics of a nonlocal Polyakov–Nambu–Jona-Lasinio model with running coupling", Phys. Rev. D 79, 014022 (2009).
- [95] T. Hell, S. Rossner, M. Cristoforetti & W. Weise, "Thermodynamics of a threeflavor nonlocal Polyakov-Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model", Phys.Rev. D81, 074034 (2010), arXiv:0911.3510.
- [96] K. Kondo, T. Murakami & T. Shinohara, "Yang-Mills theory constructed from Cho-Faddeev-Niemi decomposition", Arxiv preprint hep-th/0504107 D81, T. Shinohara (2005).
- [97] K.I. Kondo, "Toward a first-principle derivation of confinement and chiralsymmetry-breaking crossover transitions in QCD", Phys. Rev. **D82**, 065024 (2010), arXiv:1005.0314.
- [98] R. Cahill, J. Praschifka & C. Burden, "DIQUARKS AND THE BOSONIZATION OF QCD", Austral.J.Phys. 42, 161 (1989).
- [99] H. Reinhardt, "HADRONIZATION OF QUARK FLAVOR DYNAMICS", Phys. Lett. **B244**, 316 (1990).
- [100] P. Rehberg, S. Klevansky & J. Hufner, "Hadronization in the SU(3) Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model", Phys.Rev. C53, 410 (1996), hep-ph/9506436.
- [101] L.J. Abu-Raddad, A. Hosaka, D. Ebert & H. Toki, "*Path-integral hadronization for the nucleon and its interactions*", Phys. Rev. C66, 025206 (2002), nucl-th/0206002.
- [102] K. Nagata & A. Hosaka, "Structure of the nuclear force in a chiral quark diquark model", Prog. Theor. Phys. 111, 857 (2004), hep-ph/0312161.
- [103] N. Kawamoto, K. Miura, A. Ohnishi & T. Ohnuma, "Phase diagram at finite temperature and quark density in the strong coupling limit of lattice QCD for color SU(3)", Phys. Rev. D75, 014502 (2007), hep-lat/0512023.
- [104] J.D. Bjorken & S.D. Drell, "Relativistic Quantum Mechanics (Pure & Applied Physics)", Mcgraw-Hill College (1965).

- [105] C. Itzykson, J.B. Zuber & Physics, "Quantum Field Theory (Dover Books on Physics)", dover ed edition, Dover Publications (2006).
- [106] M.E. Peskin & D.V. Schroeder, "An Introduction To Quantum Field Theory (Frontiers in *Physics*)", Westview Press (1995).
- [107] L.H. Ryder, "Quantum Field Theory", 2 edition, Cambridge University Press (1996).
- [108] M. Fierz, "*Zur Fermischen Theorie des* β -*Zerfalls*", Zeitschrift für Physik A Hadrons and Nu **104**, 553 (1937).
- [109] J.F. Nieves & P.B. Pal, "Generalized Fierz identities", Am.J.Phys. 72, 1100 (2004), hep-ph/0306087.
- [110] C. Nishi, "Simple derivation of general Fierz-like identities", Am.J.Phys. 73, 1160 (2005), hep-ph/0412245.
- [111] Y. Takahashi, "*The Fierz identities A passage between spinors and tensors*", Journal of Mathematical Physics **24**, 1783 (1983).
- [112] T. Brauner, "General theory of Fierz transformations with explicit expressions for the Fierz coefficients of the Lorentz algebra in both the particle-antiparticle and particleparticle channels (including Lorentz-violating, rotationally-covariant fermion bilinears)", http://gemma.ujf.cas.cz/~brauner/.
- [113] M.L. Bellac, "Thermal Field Theory", Cambridge University Press (2000).
- [114] J.I. Kapusta, "Finite-Temperature Field Theory (Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics)", Cambridge University Press (1994).
- [115] A. Altland & B.D. Simons, "Condensed Matter Field Theory", 1 edition, Cambridge University Press (2006).
- [116] D. Blaschke, F. Reinholz, G. Ropke & D. Kremp, "MOTT MECHANISM AND THE HADRONIC TO QUARK MATTER PHASE TRANSITION", Phys.Lett. B151, 439 (1985).